

UNIVERSITAT DE BARCELONA

Myotonic Dystrophy Type 1: the heterogeneity of a complex disease in a global research approach

Alfonsina Ballester López



Aquesta tesi doctoral està subjecta a la llicència <u>Reconeixement- NoComercial</u> – <u>SenseObraDerivada 4.0. Espanya de Creative Commons</u>.

Esta tesis doctoral está sujeta a la licencia <u>*Reconocimiento - NoComercial – SinObraDerivada*</u> <u>4.0. España de Creative Commons.</u>

This doctoral thesis is licensed under the <u>Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs 4.0. Spain License.</u>

Myotonic Dystrophy Type 1: the heterogeneity of a complex disease in a global research approach

Alfonsina Ballester López

PhD Thesis

Myotonic Dystrophy Type 1: the heterogeneity of a complex disease in a global research approach

Alfonsina Ballester López

Institut d'Investigació Germans Trias i Pujol (IGTP) Neuromuscular and Neuropediatric Research Group

PhD in Biomedicine by the Universitat de Barcelona

Dr. Gisela Nogales Gadea (Supervisor)

Gisele Nogales



Alfonsina Ballester López

Dr. Josep Saura Martí (Tutor)

UNIVERSITAT DE BARCELONA

Cover and illustrations made by Antoni Jesús Ballester Forteza

A ells, es meus dos pilars, Papá i Mamá

Acknowledgments

Primer de tot, vull agrair-te **Gisela**, haver-me donat aquesta oportunitat. Gràcies per haver fet que fos "jo". Moltíssimes gràcies per tots aquests anys, per tot lo que m'has ensenyat, per creure en mi, per totes les oportunitats de créixer, per lo forta que m'ha fas fet, per deixar-me aprendre, i per contribuir a fer-me la persona que soc avui, Gràcies.

Jaume, **Guillem**, gràcies per confiar en mi des del primer moment, sé que soc aquí gràcies a vosaltres. Us trobo a faltar. Gràcies per ensenyar-me, i mostrar-me la part més clínica de tot això. **Ali**, **Alba**, **Míriam**, **Giuseppe**, som un equip, i ho hem demostrat! M'ha encantat que fóssiu vosaltres i no cap altres. Gràcies per tot el vostre suport!

Josep, gràcies per ser-hi. Gràcies per fer-ho sempre tan fàcil. **Mònica**, gràcies a tu també, sa teva presència se nota, i suma, suma molt. Gràcies per ajudar-me i pel teu suport. **Maria**, gràcies per reservar-me tantes vegades s'aparell de revelar membranes jajaja, que pesada vaig ser amb els mails, quins records, quan havia de baixar fins allà, els meus primers southerns! :)

Alejandro, gracias por tu enorme ayuda! Gracias por esos audios a cualquier hora, gracias por tu apoyo y por estar dispuesto a ayudarme siempre. He aprendido mucho de ti.

Darren and **Sarah**, thank you so much for welcoming me into your lab in Glasgow! It was such a great experience, to learn from you and meet all the beautiful people that works with you.

Shelly, Marta, Adrián, Jorge, Jaume, Aida, Soheil....d'alguna manera o una altra m'heu ensenyat coses i he après de vosaltres, ha estat un plaer compartir part de la meva tesi amb vosaltres, gràcies!

Jamal, guapot, aquesta tesi no hagués estat possible sense tu. Tu me vares obrir aquesta porta i no te podria estar més agraïda. Moltes gràcies per ses teves locures i per es moments que hem compartit! Sempre seré aquí per tu, sa distància o es temps no és un problema per sa nostra amistat, i ho hem més que demostrat. Per moltes més coses junts!!

Daniëlle, the girl from the north that came to revolutionize our little group. I can remember perfectly the day I saw you for the first time, five years ago. Jiji, I will always remember. It was so much fun spending with you all those crazy months, in and outside the lab. I know I have a friend up there, and you know you have a friend down here. Love you crazy girl!

Buuuuuumba! Owww, what could I say about you? I love you, my little family! At first, I started in the IGTP alone, just me and Gisela, and don't get me wrong, we were a great team, but never imagined that someday three tiny people would arrive and would make their presence so necessary in this team. I know I'm "taking" with me a big part of you, never imagined this, but if I would have to describe what a perfect group is it would say "you", or even better, "Buumbaa!". We crossed lab frontiers and had some crazy parties and great times together (Jiji). I know anything I could write here is going to reflect what we have lived together. I love you soooo much, guys! You have been a great support, always trying to help, our conversations, our protocols, and crazy moments!!

Emma, my little looksolderthanme girl jiji, I Love you, girl. Love our conversations, our "therapeutic" moments, all the experiences we have shared around the world!! Yes, yes, I've been such a lucky person to have a "colleague" like you to be traveling with.... Bilbao, Bordeaux, Sweden, and Glasgow!! All these places wouldn't have been the same without you at my side. Me, with my "spanglish", I would have never imagined that a different language would be so insignificant for connecting with somebody at the level we did. Thank you for your support and for everything else, I will always be here for you, and hope to have you in my life foreeever. Ian pequeñitooo, que hubiera sido de mi investigación en el lab sin ti?? Jiji, mi técnico favorito. Mil gracias por tu apoyo, por tus risas, por tus southerns (jeje), por tu paciencia infinita, por no decir nunca no, y por todos esos ratos maravillosos, dentro y fuera del lab! Te quiero un montón, gracias por preocuparte por mi cuando he estado un poco "choffy", gracias por cuidarme tanto y tantísimo. Mi compi de vuelo en Suecia, que me vino tan bien y me lo hizo tan fácil, y que vivan nuestros burritos suecos, que estaban deliciosos! Te quiero! Judit, Judit judiiiit. Crec que no hi podria haver ningú altre que amb tan poques paraules demostrés tant. Sísísísí, tu sempre allà, a sa teva manera però sempre allà, discreta i no discreta a la vegada. Tarragona, Bordeus, Suècia i Oporto!! Aiii jajaja a quina paciència que tens amb jo jiji. Ets oficialment sa meva compi de camita! T'estim pequeña i sé que tu a noltros també!! A vegades no fan falta paraules per comunicar-se.

Gracis **Mamá**, gracis **Papá**, gracis pes vostro suport, sa vostra manera de ser ja es tot lo que necessit. Gracies per ser així, per estimar-me tant. Som qui som i on som gracis a voltros. Gracis a nen **Nofre**, es millor germà que se pot tenir. Gracis **Peps**, per ser volstros, gracis **Toni**, es millor padrí jove que me podria haver tocat. Gràcies a sa **primi**, sa germaneta postissa que m'estima tant, i a **sa mare** :). Gracis a sa **Family** en general, que no puc tenir més sort de tenir-los, gracis per creure en jo i pes vostro suport. VOS ESTIM.

Bruna, sa meva pacheca, mapachita! Gracis per fer-me tanta companyia i costat, i que tots es moment siguin més agradables. Jo escrivint, ella devora, sempre. Dormint, meulant , tirant tot enterra. Segur que hi ha alguna lletra que ha escrit ella. De fet, ella també hsa vjmkjlgut fer sa seva vcontribució.

Oriol, per fer que es dies més difícils d'aquest any fossin tan fàcils, per fer que escriure sa tesi no fos una cosa tan complicada, per acompanyar-me durant tants dies, per ser-hi en es moments més durs i per fer-los una mica menys durs. Gràcies per regalar-me tant, per compartir, per creure en jo i per estar a nes meu costat, per deixar-me créixer devora tu i fer-me gran. T'estim.

Marina, sa meva pirruxi, sa meva pedreta clau a s'IGTP. No hi ha paraules. Un tesorito que me'n duc, que ha estat present i m'ha acompanyat de principi a final a n'aquesta aventura. Gracis per formar part de sa meva vida. Gracis per totes ses risis que mos hem fet, i ses lágrimas!! Gràcies per tot lo que m'has regalat i per tot es suport que representes per jo. Saps que te consider una persona súper important, amb una força increïble i una superació enorme. Una referència i una amiga per tota sa vida. T'estim xux!

Raquel, bonita. Muchas gracias por todo! Me has ayudado más de lo que te crees, y me has regalado un montón de momentos super divertidos y llenos de risas. Y of course, también compañeras de dramas y lágrimas, anda que no! Jeje, pero somos así, fuertes y maravillosas. Por mucho más baby!

Sa Family Rutiski, com enyoraré aquests eventitos! Los ratos de Bitchvolley que tanto me han hecho reír. Rebolcar-me de neu i d'arena!! Que bé que m'ho he passat amb tots vosaltres, mai m'ho hauria imaginat. Gràcies per fer que tota aquesta experiència hagi estat més intensa i divertida, no hauria estat lo mateix sense vosaltres! Ses Sarannas bonitas, que visquin es sopars, es paint&wines, ses excursions i es menjars a ca na Marta jajaja. **Ana**, eres lo maaas, enserio tía. Jajaja, me encantas chica, ojalá haberte tenido más tiempo cerquita! Gracias por tu apoyo. Tenemos mucho yoga y cositas pendientes, lo sé! Miriam, pocas palabras pero siempre allí dándolo todo, m'ha encantat compartir coses amb tu. Bea, que penita no haberte tenido más cerquita durante más tiempo, porque tu presencia se hace notar i me encanta! Marta, tia, ets sa punyetera canya, ets una tia súper forta i súper de tot, se veu de lejos. Estic encantada de que formis part de sa meva vida, gràcies per tot, ets un trosset de pa rebossat de neu congelada. Jajaja, pues això, que moltes gracis i esper que hi hagi molt i molt més amb tu. Laura guapa, m'encantes, m'encanta lo serena que ets, i m'ho he passat súper bé compartint moments amb tu, a s'esquiada, a nes volley, d'excursió...! Ets una champion i ara mos toca pitjar i defensar a tope! Sarah, mi pequeña guapa, mi "catapulte", esta niña es amor puro, es apoyo, es alegría fresca y locura. Gracias por todo, por tu apoyo y por tus ratos de loca! Me encantas y te quiero un huevo. Melissa, eres un encanto y se veu d'enfora, basta veure sa teva filleta lo mona que és. Sergio, mi instagramer preferido! Eres un currante tio, lo sé. Encara que encara esper provar algun des teus pastissos...ijiji Anna, loquiis, m'encanta sa teva burreria i ses teves coses clares, moles un huevo i mig i punto. Enyor fer sopars i tonteries amb tu. Francisco, sa gamba revolcadora i rebossada d'arena! Jajaja gràcies, en serio, gràcies per tot es teu suport, per haver-me fet costat a nes moments durs i per ses super voltetes en moto! Moltes gracis per tot valencianito!! Marc, estàs ben loco però ets molt guay, gràcies nin, calçotada pendent! Oriol, Pol, los de arriba, a su bola, pero mola, jejeje, gràcies per haver estat part de tot això!

Marc, el pequeño valenciano que marchó para volver y dejar huella. M'encantes amorsito, ets un peixito lliure que riu i que fa goig. M'ho he passat super bé amb tu. No vull que mos deixem de veure ehh. **Noe**, me encantas, lo auténtica que eres, tu cachondeo, tu fuerza, lo campeona que eres! **Eva**, gràcies per ses rissis, per es teus consells i suport infinit. **Sara**, gracias por ser parte de esto y ser como eres, buena no, lo siguiente. **Laura** y **Anna** gràcies per ser-hi. **Anna**, preciosa, què bé quan vas entrar a nes japonès! M'ho he passat tan bé amb tu, enyor ses nostres converses, ses risis i ses estones de sol. T'enyor a tu. Ai, no sé noies, no sé si es por el coronavirus o qué, pero tengo la sensación de que todo esto se me ha hecho corto, que todavía tengo mucho que compartir i que aprender de vosotras. Que vivan las comidas y los temas de conversación comidil!! Jo sincerament no entenc com el món està així amb lo molt que l'hem arreglat. Os quiero bonitas!

Nachito, A vegades encara enyor tenir-te a nes meu costat, literal! Es meu principito ratot. Te miss you. La **UTE** team, pequeño mundo aparte, **Lili**, **Paula**, **Albert**, compi de beca y de algunes luchas, també heu estat allà i heu format part de tot això!

Eudald, **Vicenç**, **Vero**, **Arce**, **Ana**, **Kerrie**, **Laura**, no m'oblid de voltros, són moltes ses experiències i es moments que hem viscut junts, que me dibuixen mil somriures i que m'han convertit en qui som ara, gràcies, gràcies i gràcies, per tot lo que hem compartit i m'heu regalat! **Sara**, tu presencia ya lo dice todo, eres un chute energético, eres fuerte y valiente. Me lo he pasado bomba contigo y vales un montón. Gracias por ser parte de esto. **Cris**, ets un trosset de pa, m'hagués agradat tenir-te més a prop perquè es veure't i desprens una pau enorme, de color negre, però enorme! Jejeje. Núria, sempre simpàtica, amb una rialla a sa boca, gràcies per ser-hi i formar part d'això. Bon fitxatge heu fet amb en **Marc**, que m'ha encantat conèixer-te i coincidir amb tu. **Marc, Dani, Xavi**, los que estan pero sin hacer mucho ruido, un hola, una mirada, 4 paraules que de vegades són tan agraïdes. Gràcies per ser-hi nois!

Marta, Oscar, Glòria, gràcies per solucionar-me sa papereta tan ràpid i tan fàcilment quan vos ha tocat fer-ho. Pilar, gràcies per es teu suport, sempre has estada disposada a ajudar i a posar-me ses coses fàcils. Marco, Gerard, gràcies, per ser allà quan vos he necessitat. Eugeni, gràcies per tots es reactius i botelletes jiji. Jose, no me olvido de ti y de tu alegría! Jordi, gràcies per dur-mos tantes mostretes! Jejeje. Maribel, Emi, què hauria estat d'aquests anys sense voltros? Heu estat un suport enorme, unes còmplices perfectes. Gràcies per fer-ho tot tan fàcil i per ajudar-me tant!! David, Quim, Natalia, Roser, gràcies per la vostre burreria, l'IGTP no seria el mateix sense vosaltres, no deixeu de fer festes molonguis!

Sé que em deixo a gent, tinc al cap a moltes persones que el seus noms no surten aquí, i que també han format part de tots aquests anys. Gràcies, gràcies a tots. I gràcies a TU, tot i que el teu nom no hi sigui, gràcies per llegir-me i, d'una manera o una altra, formar part de tot això.

En fin, cinco maravillosos años, llenos de aprendizajes, personales y profesionales, experiencias y gente bonita.

This is just the beginning,

I'm ready to fly

Table of contents

Abbreviations	
List of synonyms	
General Introduction	
1. A brief story about Myotonic Dystrophy Type 124	
2. Clinical characteristics of DM1 patients24	
Congenital DM124	
Infantile form25	
Juvenile form25	
Classical adult form25	
Late-onset form	
3. Genetics in Myotonic Dystrophy Type 126	
3.1. Anticipation27	
3.2. Somatic instability28	
3.3. Interruptions	
4. Technical methods to size the CTG expansion29	
4.1. Long PCR-southern blot (LPCR-SB)	
4.2. Small pool-PCR (SP-PCR)	
4.3. Heat pulse extension-PCR (HPE-PCR)	
4.4. Tripled-repeat primed PCR (TP-PCR)	
4.5. Other techniques	
5. The link between the CTG expansion and the severity of the disease	
6. Molecular mechanisms of Myotonic Dystrophy Type 1	
6.1. From the CTG expansion in the DNA to the RNA foci aggregates	
6.1.1. Deregulation of RNA binding factors	
6.1.1.1. Splicing alterations	
6.2. DMPK protein	

7. Models of Myotonic Dystrophy Type 1
8. Therapies for Myotonic Dystrophy type 141
8.1. Antisense oligonucleotides42
8.1.1. Antisense oligonucleotides as a therapeutic approach for Myotonic
Dystrophy Type 144
8.1.1.1. Bridged nucleic acids46
Overview
Contextualization and Justification52
Objectives
Chapters
Letter from the supervisor62
Chapter I64
Chapter II78
Chapter III
Chapter IV110
Chapter V130
Global Summary of the Results150
Report of the supervisor151
Global Summary of the Discussion159
Conclusions167
Bibliography173

Abbreviations

- 2'-cEt Constrained Ethyl Nucleotide
- 3D Three-Dimensional
- AMPK Adenosine Monophosphate activated Protein Kinase
- ASO Antisense Oligonucleotide
- ATP2A1 Sarcoplasmic/Endoplasmic Reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase 1
- BNA Bridged Nucleic Acid
- CAG Cytosine-Adenine-Guanine
- CCG Cytosine-Cytosine-Guanine
- CGG Cytosine-Guanine-Guanine
- CIC-1 Muscle Chloride Channel
- CTC Cytosine-Thymine-Cytosine
- CTG Cytosine-Thymine-Guanine
- cTNT Cardiac Troponin T
- CUG Cytosine-Uracil-Guanine
- CUGBP1 CUG-Binding Protein 1
- DM1 Myotonic Dystrophy Type 1
- DM300 Mouse model carrying from 300 to 600 CTG repeats
- DMPK Dystrophia Myotonica-Protein Kinase
- DMSXL Mouse model carrying from 1000 to 1800 CTG repeats
- DMWD Dystrophia Myotonica WD repeat-containing
- GC Guanine-Cytosine
- GGC Guanine-Guanine-Cytosine
- GSK3B Glycogen Synthase Kinase 3 Beta
- HPE-PCR Heat Pulse Extension-PCR
- HSALR Human Skeletal Actin Long Repeat length



- IR Insulin Receptor
- LNA Locked Nucleic Acid
- LPCR-SB Long PCR-Southern Blot
- MBNL Muscleblind-Like
- MIRS Muscular Impairment Rating Scale
- MOE 2'-O-Methoxyethyl
- MRC Medical Research Council
- mRNA Messenger Ribonucleic Acid
- mRS Modified Rankin Scale
- mTOR Mammalian Target of Rapamycin
- OMe 2'-O-Methyl
- PBMCs Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells
- PCR Polymerase Chain Reaction
- PKC Protein Kinase C
- PMO Phosphorodiamidate Morpholino
- PNA Peptide Nucleic Acid
- PS Phosphorothioate
- SIX5 Six Homebox 5
- SP-PCR Small Pool-PCR
- TP-PCR Tripled-repeat primed PCR
- UTR Untranslated Region

List of synonyms

CTG expansion; CTG repeats; CTG repeat track; CTG repeat expansion; CTG triplets; CTG track; CTG fragment.

CTGs; CTG expansion size; CTG size; CTG length track; CTG repeat length; CTG expansion length; CTG repeat number; CTG number; CTG repeat size.

Interruptions; variant repeats.



General Introduction

9

20 0

11

-

1. A brief story about Myotonic Dystrophy Type 1

Myotonic Dystrophy Type 1 [DM1 (MIM: 160900)] is a neuromuscular disorder that was first described by Hans Steinert in 1909 with his work titled "About the clinical and anatomical appearance of muscular atrophy in patients with myotonia", which he called "Dystrophien Myotoniker" [1]. However, the genetic defect responsible for DM1 was not discovered until 1992, and it was found to be an autosomal dominant disorder caused by a trinucleotide expansion in the *dystrophia myotonica*-protein kinase (*DMPK*) gene (DMPK; MIM 605377) [2]. Nowadays, DM1 is the most common muscle dystrophy in adults, with an overall estimated worldwide prevalence of 1 in 2500 individuals [3,4]. Although it is characterized by skeletal muscle distal weakness and myotonia, DM1 is not purely a muscle disease, but a multisystemic disorder instead, showing a high variability of symptoms in between patients such as heart conduction defects, respiratory problems, cataracts, and gastrointestinal disorders [4]. The severity in the patients also varies widely, ranging from asymptomatic or only mildly affected adults in old age, to severely affected neonates. Thus, the age of disease onset in DM1 also varies, from birth to old age.

Overall, DM1 is a challenging disease, with a wide clinical spectrum, highly complex genetics, and many pathological molecular mechanisms.

2. Clinical characteristics of DM1 patients

The phenotype complexity in DM1 is divided into five main clinical categories: congenital, infantile, juvenile, adult-onset and late-onset forms [5]. The clinical heterogeneity in DM1 creates no clear distinctions for some specific clinical features [6]; however, in each of these five forms, there is a distinction from each other based on the prevalence of the main symptoms and the onset profile [7-9].

Congenital DM1

Congenital DM1 comprises DM1 patients with fetal-onset until one month of life [9], and are the most severely affected by the disease. Before birth, congenital DM1 is often presented as polyhydramnios and reduced fetal movements [10]. After delivery, the main general features are severe weakness (which makes suckling and swallowing difficult), cognitive impairment, hypotonia and early respiratory insufficiency [4,9,11]. In the congenital DM1, respiratory failure is highly present and may require mechanical ventilation. However, children ventilated for longer than three months have a 30% of mortality in the first year of life [12]. Congenital patients who reach adulthood rarely live beyond the age of 40 [13].

Infantile form

The clinical onset of infantile DM1 patients ranges from one month to 10 years old [9]. Children with DM1 are able to walk [10] and can have a progressive myopathy and milder myotonia; although those are muscle features that are highly seen in the classical form of DM1 [14]. However, these patients have severe cognitive impairment (compromising the learning capacities) [15], facial weakness, gastrointestinal problems [8] and cardiac conduction defects [16]. Patients with childhood DM1 survive into adulthood, however the determination of the natural history is related to the advances in supportive care [17].

Juvenile form

The disease onset of juvenile DM1 form ranges between 10 and 20 years [9]. Although infantile and juvenile DM1 forms share and overlap some features, juvenile patients express less marked cognitive impairment than the infantile form of DM1 and have earlier endocrine disorders [9,18]. The juvenile form has a higher prevalence of myotonia over the other forms [9]. In addition, these patients have earlier gastrointestinal problems, cardiac issues, respiratory insufficiency and muscle defects compared to the classical adult DM1 form [9].

Classical adult form

Around 75% of patients develop the classical adult form, which has an onset between 20 and 40 years [9]. The predominant symptoms in the classical form are distal muscle weakness and myotonia [4]. Weakness is also present in the muscles of the face, and together with the wasting of the facial and masticatory muscles, leads to a typical facial expression characterized by ptosis and flaccid dysarthria [19]. The weakness and myotonia of these patients cause swallowing difficulties and lead to aspiration pneumonia [20,21]. Other gastrointestinal problems derived from myotonia and smooth muscle loss are slow gastric emptying and constipation [22]. Classical DM1 patients also have respiratory failure and cardiac conduction defects, which contribute significantly to the disease mortality with a high percentage of sudden death [23-25]. The intellectual deficits in the adult forms are not as major as they are in congenital and infantile forms [11,26]. However, an avoidant, obsessivecompulsive and passive-aggressive personality features have been reported [27], as well as anxiety and depression, which are common among these patients [28]. An excess of daytime sleepiness is also extremely common [29]. Endocrine abnormalities are also present in classical adult-onset, including disturbances in the pancreas, thyroid, hypothalamus and gonads, affecting the fertility of the patients [30], as well as insulin insensitivity [31]. These patients can also develop skin alterations such as pilomatrixoma and epitheliomas as well as early frontal balding, which is more common in males than in females [32,33]. DM1 patients usually develop cataracts [34] as well. Moreover, epidemiologic studies have shown that DM1 is associated with a higher risk of cancer, especially involving the thyroid gland, ovary, colon, endometrium, brain and eye [35-38].

Late-onset form

The late-onset form has an onset after 40 years [9]. Although some of these patients can be asymptomatic, clinical features such as cataracts, mild myotonia, diabetes and overweight/obesity, are more often in later forms of the disease [10].

3. Genetics in Myotonic Dystrophy Type 1

DM1 is an autosomal dominant inherited disorder, the genetic basis is a cytosine-thymine-guanine (CTG) expansion repeat in the 3'-untranslated region (UTR) of the *DMPK* gene located on the chromosome 19q13.3 [2,39,40]. In the general population, the CTG expansion ranges from 5 to ~35 repeats. Individuals who carry from 36 to 50 CTG repeats show a "pre-mutational" phenotype that is not usually associated with clinical manifestations [10], but may potentially have children affected by the DM1 disease. Symptomatic DM1 patients usually have more than 50 CTGs, and sometimes up to several thousand repeats [41].

The CTG expansion sequence leads to the formation of secondary hairpin-like structures between the guanine-cytosine (GC) groups of the expansion track. These structures are highly slippery and thus, can result into an expansion or a contraction of the repeat during DNA processing events such as DNA replication, recombination, repair and transcription [42,43]. This gives rise to the fact that once the CTG expansion size is more than 36 repeats, it becomes highly unstable [44-47]. However, although contractions can occasionally occur indeed, the CTG repeat track is biased towards expansion [48].

3.1.Anticipation

The instability of the CTG expansion track is highly present in the germline, and tends to expand from one generation to the next [49]. That means that a child of a parent with DM1 may inherit repeat lengths considerably longer than those present in the transmitting parent. This fact results in what is called anticipation, which consists in an increase in symptom severity and a decrease in age of disease onset over successive generations [50]. Thus, in general lines, the CTG expansion increases by more than 200 repeats on average when transmitted from one generation to the next, and the presence of a larger repeat expansion in further generations leads to an earlier onset and a more severe disease [51,52]. The inheritance of the CTG expansion from one generation to another could vary depending on the size of the repeat, the sex [53], and the age of the parent from which the expanded repeat is inherited [54]. The anticipation leading to a congenital DM1 is mostly caused by the inheritance of the expanded mutant DMPK allele from the mother [50]. Paternal inheritance of congenital DM1 has been described as well, although is very rare [55,56]. Large expansions may be toxic or negatively selected in sperm compared to oocytes, which could be related to the male infertility that occasionally occurs in DM1 [4]. However, when small CTG expansions are inherited from the father, especially below 100 CTG repeats, the offspring generally shows greater expansions than when the expansion with a similar size is inherited from the mother [45,57,58]. Intergenerational expansions are also affected by the age of the parents, especially when the expanded allele is inherited from the father, meaning that the inherited expansion is higher as higher is the age of the parents [54]. Contractions of the CTG expansion in between generations have also been reported, with a higher estimated prevalence in paternal transmission compared with maternal transmissions (19.5% vs 6.7%)[59].

General Introduction

3.2. Somatic instability

In addition to germinal instability, the CTG expansion is also highly unstable in the soma, at different rates in different cells. This means that the CTG expansion presents size variations within the tissues of an affected individual [60]. Furthermore, the rate of expansion is highly variable among tissues as well [61-65], contributing to the tissue-specific symptoms and the clinical heterogeneity in between patients. In this regard, one study showed that the CTG expansion varied from tissue to tissue after analyzing 22 types of tissue obtained at autopsy from an adult DM1 patient [65]. The study showed that most of the tissues carried longer CTG expansions compared to leukocytes, and only cerebellar tissue carried shorter expansions than those present in leukocytes. Furthermore, different studies have shown that the CTG expansion is larger in skeletal muscle [61,62,66], heart [67], and fibroblasts [63] than in leukocytes. Intracerebellar instability has been reported as well [64], with the smallest expansions present in frontal cortex and thalamus [67].

In addition to reasons of somatic instability such as slippery structures formed through the CTG expansion, DNA processing events and repair and presence of variant repeats, it has been considered that other factors may further affect the somatic instability. However, the mechanisms are still not fully understood. Some studies have shown that somatic instability persists through the lifetime of the patient and is age and size-dependent [68], contributing to the progressive nature of the symptoms [69,70]. Whether the sex could be another modifier, was considered, although a recent study did not found sex-bias in the somatic instability [71].

Altogether, the somatic instability is highly variable within a DM1 patient itself. The CTG size varies in a tissue, between patients' tissues, and depending on the patient age at which the tissues are studied. All these variables affect the establishment of genotype-phenotype relationships.

3.3. Interruptions

Although most DM1 patients carry a pure CTG expansion in the *DMPK* locus, in the last years it has been discovered that around 3-5% of these patients contain interruptions (also known as variant repeats) in the expanded *DMPK* allele [42,72]. The most common variant repeat is cytosine-cytosine-guanine (CCG), although cytosinethymine-cytosine (CTC), guanine-guanine-cytosine (GGC), cytosine-guanine-guanine (CGG), and cytosine-adenine-guanine (CAG) have been described as well [42,72-74]. The presence of these variant repeats can be inherited or appear as a de novo mutation [75]. Interruptions have been detected in both 5' and 3' ends of the CTG expansion, although the 3' is the most common side where these variants are present [42,72,74,76-78]. CTG variant repeats are known to reduce both germline and somatic instability [72,74,75,79], suggesting a stabilizing effect of the expansion on germline transmission [74,76,77] and also reporting a tendency to contraction of the repeat between generations [42,75]. Variations also appear to be associated to a delayed age of disease onset [42,76,77,79,80]. On the other hand, how the variant repeats affect the phenotype of DM1 patients is still poorly understood, only a few families and some isolated cases have been described in the literature. The phenotypic consequences of these variant repeats vary considerably between studies. Some studies showed that variant repeats are associated with unusual symptoms such as a complex neurological phenotype [72], calf hypertrophy (suggestive of myotonic dystrophy type 2 phenotype) [77], or with a milder severity affectation [75] without muscular dystrophy [42] or without cognitive involvement [78].

4. Technical methods to size the CTG expansion

Determining the length of the CTG expansion in DM1 patients can give us useful information since the number of the CTG repeats is related to the age of disease onset and the severity of the disease [9,70,80]. Furthermore, genetic information can be important for clinical trials.

Although the importance of an accurate length measurement, sizing the CTG expansion is very challenging, not only because of the somatic instability and the immense length of expanded alleles present in a sample but also because of the long CTG tracks and the hairpin secondary structures that are created inside the repetitive GC-rich sequence. The expanded alleles are not always measurable by conventional polymerase chain reaction (PCR), and the presence of these slippery structures hinders the DNA polymerase amplification. Different strategies have been described [47,81,82] and some of them are currently and widely used to assess the CTG

expansion size in patients with DM1, such as long PCR-southern blot and small pool-PCR.

4.1. Long PCR-southern blot (LPCR-SB)

Long PCR-southern blot (LPCR-SB) consists in pre-amplifying the CTG expansion and further southern blotting the amplified genomic DNA. Several long PCR are used, with different primer pairs located in the flanking regions of the CTG expansion and different amplification programs [2,42,47,83]. In the southern blot, a labelled (CAG)n probe binds to the expanded repeats. These approaches typically show expanded alleles as a smear on the blot, due to somatic instability [84], corresponding to different CTG length tracks of different cells. Selecting the sizing point of the diffuse smear on the blot is not easy and very important, since the selected size would be attributed to the patient and sometimes used in genotype-phenotype correlations [85].

4.2. Small pool-PCR (SP-PCR)

The small pool-PCR (SP-PCR), unlike the conventional LPCR-SB, consists in using small amounts of input DNA (180-600 pg) [47]. Thus, few genomic equivalents are separately PCR-amplified and individually detected by southern blot. By using few replicates of PCR reactions per sample, this method provides a detailed quantitative measure of the expansion length variation [70,86], detecting not only a single CTG expansion averaged from thousands of cells, but the distribution of the CTG expansion instability. That means that through this technique the lower boundary can be estimated for the CTG size progenitor allele (the CTG repeat length inherited from the parental generation) [87], the mode allele, corresponding to the most frequent boundary in the blot, and the largest allele, the higher boundary in the blot.

4.3. Heat pulse extension-PCR (HPE-PCR)

Orpana *et al.*, developed, in 2013, a modified PCR amplification method to size the CTG expansion in DM1 patients. This method, called heat pulse extension-PCR (HPE-PCR), tries to improve the polymerase extension through long CTG expansions by multiple heat pulses during the expansion step of the PCR. This strategy temporarily destabilizes secondary structures in the template and causes the newly synthesized strands to dissociate and reanneal continuously. Thus, preventing the strands from losing their position and minimizing the differences in amplification efficiency between short and long alleles [81].

4.4. Tripled-repeat primed PCR (TP-PCR)

The tripled-repeat primed PCR (TP-PCR) technique is not an adequate method to size the CTG expansion, but it is a robust and fast method to identify the expanded allele. Thus, TP-PCR has come into routine as a DM1 diagnostic procedure [88]. It was described by Warner *et al.*, introducing a cheaper and faster approach to genetically diagnose DM1 patients compared to southern blot [89]. More recently, Radvansky *et al.*, developed an improved bidirectionally labeled TP-PCR in which both forward and reverse directions with two individual fluorescently-labeled flanking primers are used [88]. The technique consists in the use of three primers instead of two. One of the main primers is fluorescently labeled, and the other main primer binds to the CTG repeat and has an extra tail complementary to the third primer. Subsequently, the amplification pattern is visible as a continuous ladder with a 3-base-pair periodicity, due to the CTG triplets. With this method, it can easily be seen if there is an expansion or not. Furthermore, this technique is also useful for the detection of variant repeats, located at the 3' or 5' end. When there is a variant repeat in the CTG expansion, the peak signal drops, showing a gap in between the ladder pattern.

4.5. Other techniques

In recent years, other techniques have been described to assess the CTG expansion in DM1. Lian *et al.* validated a technical approach by combining TP-PCR with melting curve analysis. With this method, DM1 samples can be clearly distinguished from non-DM1 samples by showing higher melting peak temperatures, and CTG expansions up to 180 repeats can be rapidly screened [90,91]. Dandelot *et al.* described a method called flash-small-pool PCR in which they perform the classical SP-PCR using one of the primers labeled with near infrared dye, and denaturing alkaline gel electrophoresis [92]. This strategy reduces experimental steps compared to the classical SP-PCR, and allows to detect up to 1200 CTG repeats in mice. Malbec *et al.*, presented a fast method in which after PCR amplification, the size of the expansion can be determined within 5 minutes [93]. The method is based on advanced microfluidic technologies of DNA concentration, separation and detection

in a single module of a microchip. Leferink *et al.*, described FastDM1 [™] *DMPK* sizing kit, based on a TP-PCR which is able to size up to 180 CTG repeats [94]. All these techniques are quite recent and some of them are still pending to be further tested and validated. In the next years, we will see how they develop and whether some of them are widely implemented in the DM1 field.

5. The link between the CTG expansion and the severity of the disease

The general consensus is that the CTG expansion length is related to the severity of the disease, in a way that longer CTG repeat expansions are related to an earlier age of disease onset and a more severe disease [95]. In this regard, and referring back to the subtype classification of DM1, the congenital DM1 patients usually carry larger expansions than the adult DM1 patients (*i.e.*, CTG repeat size \leq 150 CTGs, \leq 1,000 CTGs and >1000 CTGs is common to late-onset, classical adult form and congenital DM1, respectively) [96]. However, there is certain CTG size overlapping between the different DM1 subtypes (**Figure 1**)[5], *i.e.*, congenital cases have been found carrying less than 1000 CTG repeats [40], and adult-onset cases carrying a CTG expansion above 1000 repeats [97], suggesting that other factors should be involved in the determination of the disease severity. Among these factors, over the last years it has been shown that methylation can play a role in DM1 severity, especially in congenital cases, and independently of the CTG expansion length [98]. Moreover, a recent study showed that *DMPK* methylation levels in blood were related to some muscular and respiratory profiles of adult DM1 patients [99].

In the last years, different studies have tried to further analyze the link between the CTG expansion size and the severity in DM1 by not only studying the CTG expansion size distribution among the different DM1 subtypes, but also the relation genotype-phenotype in specific clinical parameters. It is important to identify objective phenotypes with a casual genetic relationship for predicting the progression of the disease and for being applied as an outcome measure in clinical trials. However, the most significant correlation has been reported between the CTG expansion in blood and the age of disease onset, specifically when the CTG expansion is small (<250 CTGs) [82,100]. Whereas the correlations between specific DM1 symptoms such as neuromuscular involvement [6,101], cardiac involvement [102,103], respiratory affectation [95,104] or cognitive impairment [105] are often poor or



Figure 1. Distribution of the CTG repeat number over the five clinical subtypes of DM1. The distribution of the CTG expansion size differs among the five clinical subtypes. However, there is, in part, an overlap in CTG sizes between the clinical subgroups. Data source from Antonio *et al.* [5]. CTG = Cytosine-Thymine-Guanine; N = number of patients.

absent, providing little conclusive data regarding the CTG repeat number and specific symptoms in DM1.

The analysis of the somatic instability by studying the specific distribution of the CTG expansion size through techniques such as SP-PCR, has been shown to be more accurate and successful in finding genotype-phenotype correlations. Regarding the age of disease onset, studies using SP-PCR technique with a large cohort of DM1 patients showed that the progenitor allele was the major modifier of the age of disease onset, including patients carrying more than 250 CTGs [70]. Likewise, other recent studies have shown that the progenitor allele is one of the major determinants of the somatic instability [80], and it is strongly correlated with progressive skeletal muscle power and respiratory function [106].

Most of the studies analyzing the relationship between the genotype and the phenotype of patients with DM1, have been focused only on the CTG expansion size that is present in blood. And although it is the most accessible tissue in which the CTG expansion can be easily studied, this fact could be less representative of the status of the other tissues, and be a limitation in finding some correlations especially between tissue-specific symptoms. Moreover, the somatic instability across tissues, within a tissue itself, and the technical difficulties to accurately measure the CTG expansion, are factors that hinder the finding of genotype-phenotype correlations.

6. Molecular mechanisms of Myotonic Dystrophy Type 1

The pathological mechanisms underlying DM1 are very complex. The net that is extended under the CTG expansion repeat is intricate and still not fully understood. The main pathological mechanism of DM1 is based on RNA gain-of-function [107]. Therefore, the toxicity of the repetitive RNA leads to the pathology when the CTG expansion in the DNA is transcribed to cytosine-uracil-guanine (CUG) in the RNA [108,109]. However, although it is well accepted that DM1 is a toxic RNA-triggered disease, some studies have suggested that other mechanisms may simultaneously contribute to the pathological mechanism of the disease, generating consequently the wide spectrum of symptoms and multisystemic manifestations observed in DM1. For instance, it has been shown that the mutant allele of DM1 can be associated to abnormal hypermethylation which is related to congenital DM1 cases and to the maternal transmission, independently of the CTG expansion size [98,99,110,111]. Additionally, it has been seen that the expression of some flanking DMPK genes such as six homebox 5 (SIX5) or dystrophia myotonica WD repeat-containing (DMWD) can be affected as well [112-116]. This highlights the importance of the DM1 locus and the effects that can trigger on its vicinity, as a regulatory element that can become dysfunctional and induce transcriptional silencing due to epigenetic changes linked to the enlarged CTG expansion [117] and therefore, contribute to the pathomechanism of DM1 as well. The hypermethylation and reduced expression of SIX5 in the pathogenesis of DM1, seems to be related with cataracts [118,119], and it
has been hypothesized to be related to male reproductive defects as well [120]. In the case of *DMWD*, a recent study reported that adult *Dmwd*^{+/-} mice shows myofibers reduction [121], suggesting that *DMWD* gene alterations in DM1 patients may affect myofibers.

The molecular mechanisms of DM1 are wide and not all the puzzle pieces are together, yet. Regardless, this thesis is focused on the main molecular mechanism of RNA-gain of function (**Figure 2**) which will be further explained below.



Figure 2. RNA-gain of function mechanism in DM1. In DM1 the presence of the CTG expansion in the 3'-UTR region of the *DMPK* gene, which is flanked by *DMWD* and *SIX5* genes and located in the chromosome 19, causes the nuclear accumulation of toxic RNA aggregates called RNA foci. RNA foci interact with nuclear proteins (turquoise triangle, blue circle and pink square) that can further alter the levels and the activity of proteins such as CUGBP1. RNA foci also sequester nuclear proteins such as MBNL1, which is an important transcription factor involved in the alternative splicing regulation in muscle. The deregulation of both MBNL1 and CUGBP1 causes a disruption of several splicing events affecting CIC-1, IR, cTNT, ATP2A1 or MBNL1 that are related to different clinical manifestations of DM1 patients. DMWD = *Dystrophia Myotonica* WD repeat-containing; DMPK = *Dystrophia Myotonica*-Protein Kinase; SIX5 = Six Homebox 5; CTG = Cytosine-Thymine-Guanine; CUGBP1 = CUG-Binding Protein 1; MBNL1 = Muscleblind-like 1; CLC-1 = Muscle Chloride Channel; IR = Insuline Receptor; cTNT = Cardiac Troponin T; ATP2A1 = Sarcoplasmic/endoplasmic Reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase 1.

6.1. From the CTG expansion in the DNA to the RNA foci aggregates

The CTG expansion in the DNA is transcribed to a CUG sequence in the RNA. The mutant transcripts containing the triplet repeats form RNA hairpins are accumulated in the nucleus of the cells as toxic aggregates known as RNA foci (**Figure 2**) [2,39,122]. The relation between the RNA foci number and the CTG repeat size has been poorly explored. One study described that RNA foci differ in number between patients who carry less than 500 CTG repeats and patients who carry more than 1000 CTGs, with an average of 1.18 foci per nucleus (ranging from 0 to 5) and 2.92 foci per nucleus (ranging from 0 to 18), respectively, in muscle tissue [123]. The RNA foci number varies in the different studied samples, in skeletal muscle are found fewer RNA foci are present in fibroblasts and myoblasts compared to myotubes [125,127,128]. RNA foci are known to be dynamic, with liquid-like properties and being able to fuse and divide randomly [129,130]. The location of RNA foci is mainly described in the nucleus of the cells [123-125,130,131]. However, some studies have shown that RNA foci can be detected in cell cytoplasm as well [132,133].

6.1.1. Deregulation of RNA binding factors

The imperfect double-stranded structure of the mutant RNAs causes the deregulation of several RNA binding factors and splicing regulators, including the CUG-binding protein 1 (CUGBP1) and the muscleblind-like (MBNLs) proteins (**Figure 2**) [134–140].

CUGBP1 is one of the first binding proteins that was identified. This protein does not colocalize with the RNA foci, but it has been shown that its expression levels are increased in DM1 due to an inappropriate activation through phosphorus creatine kinase-mediated hyperphosphorylation that is not completely understood yet, and subsequent protein stabilization [141-143]. Functional studies indicate that the increased expression of CUGBP1 is involved in the aberrant regulation of some messenger ribonucleic acids (mRNAs) by binding to U/G-rich motifs in introns adjacent to the regulated splice sites [144-146].

The MBNL protein family (MBNL1, MBNL2 and MBNL3) have been shown to bind to the CUG repeats of the mutant RNA, and colocalize with the nuclear foci [125,126,136,147]. MBNL protein family belongs to a class of tissue-specific, developmentally programmed regulators of gene expression [148]. They control many aspects of the RNA metabolism, such as alternative splicing and alternative polyadenylation, mRNA localization, translation and stability, and microRNA processing [149]. In this sense, MBNL1 appears to play a predominant role in the DM1 pathogenesis, since it is the most abundant MBNL protein in the adult skeletal muscle, and plays the major role in the alternative splicing regulation of both skeletal and cardiac muscle [150]. Contrary, MBNL2 is relatively abundant in the brain, and it is shown to be involved in many central nervous system features of DM1 [151]. MBNL3 is mainly expressed during the embryonic period and it is generally low in all adult tissues, except for the liver and placenta [152]. The MBNL3 function *in vivo* and its relation to DM1 is not clear yet, but it is suggested to be a contributing factor to progressive skeletal muscle weakness [153,154].

6.1.1.1. Splicing alterations

As a result of the deregulation of several splicing regulators due to the toxic RNA aggregates containing the CUG repeats, more than 400 different proteins suffer alterations in their splicing, changing to a fetal pattern of RNA splicing and playing an important role in the development of DM1 symptoms and pathological DM1 features [109,140,155]. Some of these splicing events include the deregulation of the muscle chloride channel (CIC-1), insulin receptor (IR), cardiac troponin T (cTNT), sarcoplasmic/endoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase 1 (ATP2A1) and MBNL1 itself (Figure 2). The abnormal splicing of CIC-1 increasing the inclusion of exons containing premature stop codons results in down-regulation of CIC-1 mRNA and protein, which leads to reduced chloride conductance in muscle fibers and causes the myotonia sign observed in many DM1 patients [156,157]. Another splicing alteration seen in DM1 is the increased skipping of the IR exon 11 [31,158]. The resulting spliced isoform lacking exon 11 has lower signaling capacity and less insulin sensitivity [159], leading to insulin resistance in DM1 patients. The disruption of the alternative splicing of cTNT is probably related to some cardiac conduction defects of DM1 patients, and it is due to an increased inclusion of cTNT exon 5 [135]. An alternative splicing variant excluding the exon 22 of ATP2A1 is found in skeletal muscle of DM1 patients [160], affecting the muscle development and maturation [161]. MBNL1 has an autoregulatory feedback loop responding to the MBNL content with some spliced exons [153]. In this sense, it is shown that the inclusion of exon 7 is significantly higher in DM1 [162] and is implicated in increasing MBNL1 affinity to the RNA binding [163,164].

Many studies have shown the direct relation existing between some of these splicing alterations and the deregulation of both MBNL1 and CUGBP1. For instance, it is shown that delivery of MBNL1 restores normal CIC-1 splicing and reverses myotonia [165], and MBNL1 knockdown in cultured cells causes disrupted splicing of both IR and cTNT [138]. On the other hand, other studies showed that CUGBP1 hyperphosphorylation induces aberrant splicing of CIC-1, IR and cTNT [31,135,156]. This fact highlights the idea that many of the splicing alterations may be a result of the combination of the dysregulation of many binding proteins. Furthermore, although some splicing alterations are directly linked to the clinical manifestations such as those affecting CLC-1, IR and cTNT, there is no direct evidence of a cause-effect relationship between some of the DM1 symptoms and the other splicing alterations, meaning that the spliceopathy may not fully explain the multisystemic DM1 spectrum. Additionally, some of these splicing alterations present in DM1, are also seen in other myopathies such as tibial muscular dystrophy [166], whereby the CTG expansion is not present, contributing therefore to the hypothesis that other factors could be involved in the pathological mechanism of DM1.

6.2. DMPK protein

The DMPK protein is a serine/threonine protein kinase which is necessary for the maintenance of skeletal muscle structure and function [167-170]. Its function is widely extended, and still under study. It is known that DMPK modulates muscle ion homeostasis, having a role in muscle contraction and relaxation. DMPK is critical for the modulation of cardiac contractility and the maintenance of proper cardiac conduction activity, probably through the regulation of cellular calcium homeostasis [171,172]. DMPK may also regulate myosin phosphorylation and sarcoplasmic reticulum calcium uptake in myocytes [173], and play a role in myocyte differentiation and survival by regulating the integrity of the nuclear envelope and the expression of muscle-specific genes [174,175].

The DMPK gene has 15 exons, and it is described that human DMPK produces six major alternatively spliced mRNAs [176]. DMPK isoforms are cell-type, location and

properties specific [170,176]. It is known that most of the isoforms are expressed in many tissues. *In situ* hybridization analysis showed that DMPK mRNA is expressed in a wide range of adult mouse tissues including skeletal muscle, heart, smooth muscle, bone, testis, pituitary, brain, eye, skin, thymus, lung, intestinal epithelium, cartilage and liver, whereas DMPK mRNA is not detected in the ovary, pancreas or kidney [177]. However, DMPK protein is mainly expressed in skeletal and cardiac muscles in humans [178]. Furthermore, there is one isoform that is only found in the human brain, and another isoform of approximately 80-KDalton that is only found in the heart, skeletal muscle and, to a lesser extent, in smooth muscle of humans [179].

The DMPK protein may represent another factor that could contribute to the development of the clinical manifestations in DM1. Several studies have shown that depletion of *DMPK* in mice models results in mild myopathy and cardiac conduction abnormalities similar to the ones observed in DM1 patients [180-182]. Although recently, one study showed that *DMPK* gene depletion did not compromise cardiac or skeletal muscle function in mice [183]. Moreover, mice *DMPK* knockout models did not develop a multisystemic phenotype mimicking DM1, not appearing to be sufficient to manifest the whole clinical picture of DM1.

In DM1, the transcripts from the mutant *DMPK* allele are theoretically retained in the nucleus and therefore they are not efficiently translated [131], thus a partial reduction of DMPK protein should be expected. Regarding DMPK mRNA levels in tissues from patients, although one study reported normal levels of DMPK mRNA in skeletal muscle of adult DM1 patients [184], most of these studies found that the DM1 mutation resulted in a decrease in total DMPK mRNA [185-187]. In accordance with mRNA data, it was found that DM1 subjects presented a low abundance of DMPK protein in heart and skeletal muscle [188]. In skeletal muscles from DM1 patients, DMPK concentration was found to be decreased to about 50% and the protein decrease did not seem to correlate with the CTG repeat length [189].

7. Models of Myotonic Dystrophy Type 1

Since the first description of DM1, considerable knowledge about the disease has been gathered. However, the development of novel relevant disease models remains of high importance to investigate pathophysiologic mechanisms and to assess new therapeutic approaches. Both animal models and *in vitro* models provide a unique resource for both fundamental and translational research.

Several animal models, including mouse, fly, zebrafish, and worm, have been developed over the past 20 years to investigate DM1 pathological mechanisms, of which the mouse models are the most extensively studied. For example, one of the most relevant mouse models developed in the DM1 field is the DMPK knockout mice, that have been generated to test the effect of the reduction of DMPK transcripts on the disease mechanism [180,182]. The toxicity of the expanded transcript has been studied as well with the generation of different models, such as human skeletal actin long repeat length (HSA^{LR}), a transgenic mouse overexpressing untranslated CUG repeats in the skeletal muscle, based on the HSA gene, that includes approximately 250 untranslated repeats [190]. Another mouse model carrying larger CTG expansions (300-600 CTGs), called the DM300 mouse, was generated as well [191]. The intergenerational instability in this mouse model has led to the formation of DMSXL mice, carrying between 1000 to 1800 CTG repeats. The DMSXL mouse model exhibits a more severe phenotype and can represent a congenital DM1 model [192]. Furthermore, different mice models have been generated as well to characterize the molecular and physiological effects of MBNL proteins and CUGBP1 [139,146,150,193,194].

Although animal models largely contribute to the knowledge of DM1, any model completely reproduces or recapitulates all aspects of the multisystemic DM1 phenotype. Because DM1 is a multisystemic disease, affecting many tissues and cell types, different cell models are also required to decipher all molecular mechanisms associated with DM1.

In vitro cell models that express exogenous CTG repeats have been used to confirm the direct role of the repeats in the pathologic mechanisms of DM1, for small molecules screenings, therapeutic approaches, or other instigations [135,195,196]. These repeats usually inserted in the 3'UTR of a truncated *DMPK* gene commonly under the control of a cytomegalovirus promoter, are transiently or stably expressed in well-characterized human or murine cell lines, such as HeLa cells, human embryonic kidney cells, or mouse C2 cells [135,138,197]. However, overexpression of large pure repeats in these models is more challenging due to their instability and technical

40

issues associated with the cloning of long tracts of CTG repeats, restricting substantially their length [198]. Moreover, these models may encounter some limitations associated with the level of CTG overexpression that is not under the control of its own endogenous *DMPK* promoter and the absence of the complete *DMPK* genomic context that could limit their use in specific tissues or molecular mechanism studies.

DM1 patients' derived cell models are of great utility as well, since they can reproduce some of the molecular hallmarks of the disease, such as RNA foci formation, MBNL sequestration, alteration of metabolic pathways and in some cases, alternative splicing dysregulation [136,199-205]. Moreover, they express the whole range of CTG repeats observed in affected individuals within their natural genomic context. In this sense, human primary cells, immortalized human fibroblasts and myoblast, and human pluripotent stem cells have been extensively used [195,201,203,204,206,207]. However, working with DM1 patients' derived cells have also some constraints. The accessibility and availability of the biopsies from patients can be a limitation, as well as the increasing number of divisions or the culture conditions can affect the variability of the results.

8. Therapies for Myotonic Dystrophy type 1

Currently, there is no curative or disease-modifying treatment for DM1. Due to the complex genetic pattern and multifaceted pathophysiology, DM1 patients exhibit extensive variability in the symptomatology. Therefore, an effective, multidisciplinary management monitoring and preventing complications, together with symptomatic treatment (e.g., pain, myotonia, hypersomnolence, etc.) is currently critical to help reduce significantly morbidity and mortality in patients with DM1.

Different approaches including gene therapy, genome editing, delivery of exogenously expressed mRNAs, small molecules, and synthetic antisense oligonucleotides (ASOs) are investigated in order to cure DM1 through different interventions. However, RNA toxicity is responsive to the main research therapeutic intervention, and can be approached at several different levels:

- (I) Transcriptional silencing. Regarding transcriptional silencing, the reduction of the RNA toxicity has been investigated through the inhibition of RNA polymerase co-factors and through small molecules that bind to CG-rich repeats. Among these molecules, pentamidine, other related antibiotics, and also actinomycin D (a DNA intercalator), can reduce the expression of expanded CUG RNA [208,209].
- Post-transcriptional silencing. Various technologies have been used to obtain post-transcriptional silencing of toxic RNA. In fact, it is the main therapeutic strategy in which most of the studies have been focused on. Both using ASOs or small RNAs targeting the CUG repeats [210-212].
- (III) Inhibiting interactions between MBNL and toxic RNA. Other studies have focused on inhibiting the interactions between MBNL and toxic RNA, through small molecules or peptides. Common across some of these molecules are aromatic groups that are predicted to intercalate between the U-U (uracil) mismatches or occupy the grooves of CUGrepeat hairpins, displacing MBNL and rescuing partial splicing alterations [213,214].
- (IV) Other therapeutic strategies targeting pathways downstream of the RNA toxicity, such as protein kinase C (PKC), glycogen synthase kinase 3 beta (GSK3B), and adenosine monophosphate activated protein kinase (AMPK)/mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR), have been investigated as well [143,215,216].

8.1. Antisense oligonucleotides

ASOs are small single or double-stranded pieces of chemically modified nucleotides (10-30 nucleotides) that can target RNA or proteins in a specific manner for therapeutic approaches [217]. There are many modifications available for these compounds that will play a role on defining their properties depending on the therapeutic approach such as specificity to the target binding, stability and pharmacokinetics [218] (**Figure 3**). Natural nucleotides are not suitable for therapeutic application because of their sensitivity to cellular nucleases. Various chemical modifications then, such as phosphorothioate (PS), constrained ethyl nucleotide (2'-

cEt), 2'-O-methoxyethyl (MOE), 2'-O-methyl (OMe), peptide nucleic acid (PNA), phosphorodiamidate morpholino (PMO), and locked nucleic acid (LNA), have been designed progressively over the last years in order to improve the drug properties of ASOs [219,220]. ASOs for therapeutic purposes gained increased importance over the last years, and nowadays there are more than 102 clinical trials listed on ClinicalTrials.gov, eight approved antisense drugs, and several others under consideration and leading many therapeutic research lines/projects [221,222].



Figure 3. Chemical modifications of ASOs. Unmodified nucleic acids are not suitable for therapeutic approaches since they can be rapidly degraded by nucleases. The chemical modifications help to improve the drug-like properties of ASOs. The phosphate backbone modifications improve the stability, whereas sugar ring modification improve the binding affinity to the target. Figure from Southwell *et al.* [219].

ASOs function via two general mechanisms: steric blocking or targeting enzymatic cleavage by RNase H. Steric blocking ASOs are typically uniformly modified (MOE, OMe, LNA, or PMO) ASOs that bind to the RNA and prevent the binding of factors (proteins or RNAs) without inducing RNA degradation [223]. For example, ASOs specifically designed to block splice sites have been used to redirect the splicing of dystrophin in Duchenne muscular dystrophy and survival of motor neuron 2 in spinal muscular atrophy [224-227]. In contrast, ASOs competent for RNase H mediated degradation are typically designed as "gapmers" containing 6-10 central nucleotides with RNase H-competent modifications (PS) and flanked by 3 or 4 nucleotides at the 5' and 3' ends that contain modifications that further stabilize the ASOs but are not RNase H competent [223]. On binding to the target RNA, the "gap" in the gapmer-RNA duplex allows RNase H-mediated cleavage, enzyme that removes the RNA primer for DNA synthesis on Okazaki fragments during DNA replication. Thus, resulting in specific degradation of the RNA moiety in a gapmer-RNA duplex. As an example, Mipomersen is a gapmer approved as a drug to reduce the level of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol in patients with familial hypercholesterolemia [228].

The main concerns about ASOs and their therapeutic potentiality, are both delivery and toxicity. ASOs are small molecules and the cellular uptake is primarily an adsorptive endocytosis process, indeed [229]. Some chemical modifications plus the conjugation of peptides or lipid carriers can help on promoting cellular uptake and delivery into cells and *in vivo* models [229-233]. However, despite these advances, to be delivered to the site of action and to produce expected efficacy *in vivo* is still a challenge for ASOs, especially after systemic delivery. Another concern is the toxicity associated to the ASOs, which is mainly related to their backbone chemistry in the attempt to improve stability and pharmacokinetics, but also promoting immune stimulation and non-specific bindings to plasma proteins [234]. Thus, an equilibrium between efficacy, delivery success, and toxicity is important when working with ASOs.

8.1.1. Antisense oligonucleotides as a therapeutic approach for Myotonic Dystrophy Type 1

Among the development of therapeutic approaches in DM1, the antisense therapy has achieved special great success, both *in vitro* and in animal models, to the point to the translation to a human trial. Both steric blocking ASOs and gapmers have been tested in DM1 patient cells and mouse models to target the CUG expanded RNA with high specificity and efficacy, demonstrating great potential for future DM1 treatment [210,235-237] (see **Figure 4** for steric blocking and RNase H activation mechanisms comparison). However, the most attractive approach to eliminate RNA toxicity and the strategy that is further used in clinical development employs RNase H1 activity to directly degrade the toxic DMPK transcript. To note, among all chemical modifications, only the PS backbone modification is compatible with endogenous RNase H activity [238].

Several studies have demonstrated the high efficacy and the potency of using RNase H-active ASOs in targeting the CUG expanded RNA in both DM1 cell culture and mouse models [196,210,237]. Wheeler *et al.*, showed that in the DM1 mouse model HSA^{LR} a MOE gapmer ASO caused marked reduction of CUG expanded RNA in skeletal muscle, accompanied by the release of MBNL protein from foci, correction

of splicing errors, elimination of myotonia, and improvement of muscle architecture [210]. These findings spurred efforts to develop an optimized *DMPK*-targeting ASO and later on, they shown a reduction of DMPK RNA in the muscle of mice and nonhuman primates (Cynomolgus Monkey) [237]. Furthermore, a dose-finding safety trial was conducted in adult DM1 patients by ISIS pharmaceuticals using a gapmer with both 2'MOE and 2'cEt modifications (IONIS-DMPK_{Rx}) (NTC02312011). However, although the drug was safe and well tolerated, and some of the splicing biomarkers went in the right direction, the overall concentration of the ASO achieved in muscle was considered not high enough to likely have a clinical impact. Thus, the trial was halted. ISIS pharmaceuticals is currently working on modifying the oligonucleotide to improve delivery efficiency.



Figure 4. Steric blocking and RNase H activation ASOs mechanisms. Steric blocking and RNAse-H activation are the two ASOs mechanisms used in DM1. With the steric blocking mechanism, the ASOs (in blue) block the access to nuclear proteins such as MBNL1 and prevent the deregulation of missplicing events. With the RNase H activation mechanism, the most commonly studied, ASOs (in red) recruit the enzyme RNase H which degrades the toxic RNA. CTG = Cytosine-Thymine-Guanine; MBNL1 = Muscleblind-like 1; CUGBP1 = CUG-Binding Protein 1.

8.1.1.1. Bridged nucleic acids

The rapid progress in nucleic acid research and the attempt to improve the properties of ASOs, led to the progressive design of compounds that included more drastic modifications and structural changes. One example of the last generations of ASOs is LNA. LNA compounds were first introduced in the late 1990s, and are bicyclic nucleotide analogs in which the furanose ring is modified by the introduction of a methylene group linking the 2'-oxygen and the 4'-carbon (2'-O,4'-methylene- β -dribofuranosyl nucleotides) [239-242] (Figure 5). They are characterized by reduced flexibility and a locked N-type conformation which favors the formation of stable duplexes with DNA or RNA [239]. Comparison of LNA and MOE gapmers (which is the AOs that was under DM1 clinical trial) indicates that LNA gapmers are 5-10 fold more potent, eliciting initial interest as a more potent alternative to MOE gapmers [243,244]. However, while the increased binding capacity is advantageous, the high affinity of LNA-containing oligonucleotides can also result in toxic effects due to unspecific offtarget binding. Although recent studies showed that LNA-containing oligomers were innocuous in primates [245] and relatively safe in humans [246-248], other studies showed hepatoxicity in both mice and cell models [244,249,250]. Altogether, this fact stimulated the search for similar LNA compounds, improving their properties. In this sense, 2',4'- bridged nucleic acid (BNA^{NC}) [251-253] has been recently introduced. These LNA analogs can include different substitutions at the N atom, of which a methyl group is the most commonly used to date (Figure 5).



Figure 5. LNA and 2',4' - BNA^{NC} oligonucleotide modifications. LNA and BNA compounds have a bridging structure (marked in blue) by which the degree of freedom in conformation is restricted to increase the binding affinity to target the toxic RNA. LNA = locked nucleic acid; 2',4' - BNA^{NC} = 2',4'- bridged nucleic acid.

BNA^{NC} are more stable than LNA ASOs and have been shown to be well tolerated in mice [252,254]. Furthermore, a study showed the potential of BNA^{NC} gapmers (2'4'-BNA^{NC}[NMe]) as a promising alternative chemistry for therapeutic development in DM1. In the mentioned study, the authors show that BNA^{NC} gapmers have comparable potency to LNA gapmers, display a potentially lower propensity to induce caspase activity, and functionally rescue characteristic DM1 defects in transfected COSM6 cell line including ~300 CUG repeats [255]. Thus, BNA^{NC} gapmers warrant further study as a promising RNA targeting therapy in DM1.





General overview of the thesis content. DM1 is a complex disease with a wide variability in the clinical phenotype that can be divided into five main subtypes: congenital DM1, infantile form, juvenile form, classical adult form and late-onset form. The genetics of DM1 is also challenging, and embraces different concepts: anticipation, somatic instability and interruptions (or variant repeats). Moreover, no gold standard exists to size the CTG expansion, and different approaches are currently used in DM1 laboratories, including HPE-PCR, LPCR-SB and SP-PCR. The main pathomechanism in DM1 is the RNA gain-of-function, where the presence of RNA foci and the subsequent MBNL1 sequestration leads to missplicing. However, the *DMPK* expression depletion may contribute to the DM1 clinical manifestations as well. Moreover, over the last few years, it has become clear that the DM1 pathogenicity is far more complex and various additional molecular pathomechanisms such as abnormal methylation are under investigation. Finally, DM1 has no cure yet, but many research studies have tested small molecules, RNAs and ASOs as a possible treatment for DM1. However, ASOs with RNase H cleavage is the further studied approach to systematically treat patients with DM1. Although the delivery and the toxicity of these compounds pose challenges, new improvements in their chemical properties open the possibilities to new promising molecules such as BNA^{NC} compounds.

Contextualization and Justification

20 0

T

2

1 2

Five years ago, in 2015, Dr. Gisela Nogales Gadea started a new research group together with the Neuromuscular Pathology Unit of the Hospital Universitari Gemans Trias i Pujol. The research laboratory group was settled in the Mar building of the Health Research Institute Germans Trias i Pujol of the Campus Can Ruti, in Badalona, Barcelona. Although the group was fully equipped with clinical experts, Gisela was alone in the laboratory. Thus, she looked for somebody to join the group and help her to start a research project on DM1. This person turned out to be Alfonsina Ballester López, the author of this thesis, who was very lucky to end up in that newborn but promising research group. Over the following months, the translational research group composed of both clinical and basic researchers was named the Neuromuscular and Neuropediatric research group. The group began to grow, attending to conferences, reporting the first results, making collaborations and most importantly, incorporating new members to the team who made it possible to make huge advances in the field. Five years later, we have investigated the complexity of DM1 from different aspects, concluding into a global research approach that is reflected in the thesis that is in your hands today.

We divided the present thesis into five chapters, corresponding to different unknowns related to DM1, going from the technical challenge of sizing the CTG expansion of the patients, to the analysis of a potential treatment for the disease. Our studies include patients with juvenile, adult and late-onset DM1.

The first problem we faced from the very beginning was the challenge of sizing the CTG expansion in patients with DM1. On one hand, the somatic instability and on the other hand, the long CTG tracks hinder the amplification and the accuracy of the repeat measurement. This has led to the use of a number of different strategies to size the CTG expansion in these patients. However, it remains to be determined whether the different methodologies yield similar results when sizing the CTG expansion. (**Chapter I**)

The study of the CTG expansion size differences between and within tissues has been studied so far using techniques with limited sensitivity. However, the analysis of the CTG expansion between tissues using the SP-PCR technique, which allows the study of the allele distribution, would provide a better characterization of the somatic instability not only between tissues but also within tissues, and thus, a better understanding of genetic associations with the clinical manifestations in DM1 patients. (**Chapter II**)

The presence of variant repeats (interruptions) in the CTG expansion is known to affect the expansion's inheritance dynamics and also the phenotype traits of DM1 patients. However, only few families and some isolated cases have been described, and the phenotypic consequences of variant repeats remain poorly understood and vary between studies. There is a need to determine the phenotypes associated with the subset of DM1 patients presenting variant repeats. This information is required for patient management, genetic counseling and future clinical trials. (**Chapter III**)

Regarding the complexity in the molecular mechanisms that underlie DM1, the RNA-gain of function is considered one of the most relevant, and it has been widely studied. However, there is incomplete information. Most studies have relied on two-dimensional imaging at a single cell level. Yet, this 'classic' approach does not allow a full overview of the cell and its molecular components, hindering the recognition of the full cascade of molecular events and the relationship between them, affecting the association to the phenotype manifestation of DM1 as well. (**Chapter IV**)

DM1 is a multisystemic disease without a cure. ASOs are potential molecules to cure DM1. However, due to the multisystemic nature of the disease, it is uncertain how the different tissues are going to be affected by the therapy. Therefore, it is important to study different cell lines derived from DM1 patients to analyze both the efficacy and toxicity of the potential treatment. (**Chapter V**)

Objectives

e

h

re

1.1

.

Chapter I

 Determine whether three different techniques used to size the CTG expansion (HPE-PCR, LPCR-SB and SP-PCR) yield similar results when sizing the CTG expansion in blood samples of 15 DM1 patients.

Chapter II

- Analyze the CTG expansion size through SP-PCR in three different tissues (blood, muscle and skin) obtained simultaneously from eight DM1 patients, to understand the tissue's somatic instability and determine associations with DM1 patients' phenotype.

Chapter III

- Identify variant repeats in a cohort of 49 Spanish DM1 patients and analyze if there are special traits in their phenotype, which differentiate them form DM1 patients who carry a pure CTG expansion.

Chapter IV

- Study the CTG repeat size, the RNA foci, the MBNL1 sequestration, the *DMPK* gene expression levels and the splicing alteration in DM1 myoblast derived from six DM1 patients, by means of three-dimensional (3D) imaging and study the relationship between these molecular findings and the associations with the patients' phenotype.

Chapter V

- Evaluate BNA^{NC} treatment toxicity and efficacy in three different patient derived cells (fibroblast, lymphoblasts and myoblasts) of eight DM1 patients.

Chapters

- in

2

ee

11

.



22 de Octubre de 2020

A quien corresponda,

En la presente tesis de Alfonsina Ballester López están incluidos tres artículos publicados, y un cuarto en revisión, que esperamos que en las próximas semanas sea aceptado para su publicación.

Entre los tres artículos aceptados se encuentran:

- 1. A DM1 family with interruptions associated with atypical symptoms and late onset but not with a milder phenotype. Se publicó en 2019, en la revista internacional Human Mutation, que tiene un factor de impacto de 4,370. En este trabajo Alfonsina Ballester es primera autora firmante. Ha hecho la mayoría de los experimentos, ha analizado sus resultados, y ha participado en la escritura y revisado el contenido final del manuscrito.
- The Need for Establishing a Universal CTG Sizing Method in Myotonic Dystrophy Type

 Que se publicó en la revista internacional Genes y tiene un factor de impacto en 2019
 de 3.331. En este trabajo Alfonsina Ballester es primera autora firmante. Ha hecho la
 mayoría de los experimentos, ha analizado sus resultados, y ha escrito el manuscrito y
 revisado el contenido final del manuscrito.
- 3. Three-dimensional imaging in myotonic dystrophy type 1: Linking molecular alterations with disease phenotype. Que se publicó en la revista internacional Neurology Genetics y tiene un factor de impacto en 2019 de 3.65. En este trabajo Alfonsina Ballester es primera autora firmante. Ha hecho la mayoría de los experimentos, ha analizado sus resultados, y ha escrito el manuscrito y revisado el contenido final del manuscrito.

Todos los trabajos anteriormente citados no han sido utilizados para la realización de ninguna otra tesis anteriormente

Atentamente,

Gisele Nogales

Gisela Nogales Gadea (Directora de tesis)

Josep Saura Martí (Tutor de tesis)



Chapter I

The Need for Establishing a Universal CTG Sizing Method in Myotonic Dystrophy Type 1

Alfonsina Ballester-Lopez^{1, 2}, Ian Linares-Pardo¹, Emma Koehorst¹, Judit Núñez-Manchón¹, Guillem Pintos-Morell^{1,2,3}, Jaume Coll-Cantí^{1,2,4}, Miriam Almendrote^{1,4}, Giuseppe Lucente^{1,4}, Andrea Arbex^{1,4,5},

Jonathan J. Magaña⁶, Nadia M. Murillo-Melo⁶, Alejandro Lucia⁷, Darren G Monckton⁸, Sarah A

Cumming⁸, Alba Ramos Fransi^{1,4}, Alicia Martínez-Piñeiro^{1,4}, Gisela Nogales-Gadea^{1,2}

¹ Neuromuscular and Neuropediatric Research Group, Institut d'Investigació en Ciències de la Salut Germans Trias i Pujol, Campus Can Ruti, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, 08916 Badalona, Barcelona, Spain. ² Centre for Biomedical Network Research on Rare Diseases (CIBERER), Instituto de Salud Carlos III, 28029 Madrid, Spain. ³ Division of Rare Diseases, Vall d'Hebron University Hospital, 08035 Barcelona, Spain. ⁴ Neuromuscular disorders Unit. Neurology Service. Neuroscience department, Hospital Universitari Germans Trias i Pujol, 08916 Badalona, Barcelona, Spain. ⁵ Hospital Municipal de Badalona, 08911 Badalona, Barcelona, Spain. ⁶ Laboratory of Genomic Medicine, Department of Genetics, National Rehabilitation Institute (INR-LGII), 14389 Mexico City, Mexico. ⁷ Faculty of Sport Sciences, Madrid, Spain, & Instituto de Investigación Hospital 12 de Octubre (i+12), Universidad Europea, 28041 Madrid, Spain. ⁸ Institute of Molecular, Cell and Systems Biology, College of Medical, Veterinary and Life Sciences, University of Glasgow, Glasgow G128QQ, UK

> Genes (Basel). 2020 Jul 7 [cited 2020 Jul 8];11(7):757. Available from: https://www.mdpi.com/2073-4425/11/7/757







Brief Report The Need for Establishing a Universal CTG Sizing Method in Myotonic Dystrophy Type 1

Alfonsina Ballester-Lopez ^{1,2}, Ian Linares-Pardo ¹, Emma Koehorst ¹, Judit Núñez-Manchón ¹, Guillem Pintos-Morell ^{1,2,3}, Jaume Coll-Cantí ^{1,2,4}, Miriam Almendrote ^{1,4}, Giuseppe Lucente ^{1,4}, Andrea Arbex ^{1,4,5}, Jonathan J. Magaña ⁶, Nadia M. Murillo-Melo ⁶, Alejandro Lucia ⁷, Darren G. Monckton ⁸, Sarah A. Cumming ⁸, Alba Ramos-Fransi ^{1,4}, Alicia Martínez-Piñeiro ^{1,4,†} and Gisela Nogales-Gadea ^{1,2,*,†}

- ¹ Neuromuscular and Neuropediatric Research Group, Institut d'Investigació en Ciències de la Salut Germans Trias i Pujol, Campus Can Ruti, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, 08916 Badalona, Barcelona, Spain; aballester@igtp.cat (A.B.-L.); ilinares@igtp.cat (I.L.-P.); ekoehorst@igtp.cat (E.K.); judith3194@gmail.com (J.N.-M.); guillempintos@gmail.com (G.P.-M.); jcollc2@gmail.com (J.C.-C.); miriam.almendrote@gmail.com (M.A.); glucente@igtp.cat (G.L.); andreaarbex@gmail.com (A.A.); aramosfransi@gmail.com (A.R.-F.); aliwonpi@gmail.com (A.M.-P.)
- ² Centre for Biomedical Network Research on Rare Diseases (CIBERER), Instituto de Salud Carlos III, 28029 Madrid, Spain
- ³ Division of Rare Diseases, Vall d'Hebron University Hospital, 08035 Barcelona, Spain
- ⁴ Neuromuscular disorders Unit. Neurology Service. Neuroscience department, Hospital Universitari Germans Trias i Pujol, 08916 Badalona, Barcelona, Spain
- ⁵ Hospital Municipal de Badalona, 08911 Badalona, Barcelona, Spain
- ⁶ Laboratory of Genomic Medicine, Department of Genetics, National Rehabilitation Institute (INR-LGII), 14389 Mexico City, Mexico; maganasm@hotmail.com (J.J.M.); phoenicopterix_ruber@hotmail.com (N.M.M.-M.)
- ⁷ Faculty of Sport Sciences, Madrid, Spain, & Instituto de Investigación Hospital 12 de Octubre (imas12), Universidad Europea, 28041 Madrid, Spain; alejandro.lucia@universidadeuropea.es
- ⁸ Institute of Molecular, Cell and Systems Biology, College of Medical, Veterinary and Life Sciences, University of Glasgow, Glasgow G128QQ, UK; Darren.Monckton@glasgow.ac.uk (D.G.M.); sarah.cumming@glasgow.ac.uk (S.A.C.)
- Correspondence: gnogalga7@gmail.com
- † These authors contributed equally to this work.

Received: 27 May 2020; Accepted: 3 July 2020; Published: 7 July 2020



Abstract: The number of cytosine-thymine-guanine (CTG) repeats ('CTG expansion size') in the 3'untranslated region (UTR) region of the *dystrophia myotonica*-protein kinase (*DMPK*) gene is a hallmark of myotonic dystrophy type 1 (DM1), which has been related to age of disease onset and clinical severity. However, accurate determination of CTG expansion size is challenging due to its characteristic instability. We compared five different approaches (heat pulse extension polymerase chain reaction [PCR], long PCR-Southern blot [with three different primers sets—1, 2 and 3] and small pool [SP]-PCR) to estimate CTG expansion size in the progenitor allele as well as the most abundant CTG expansion size, in 15 patients with DM1. Our results indicated variability between the methods (although we found no overall differences between long PCR 1 and 2 and SP-PCR, respectively). While keeping in mind the limited sample size of our patient cohort, SP-PCR appeared as the most suitable technique, with an inverse significant correlation found between CTG expansion size of the progenitor allele, as determined by this method, and age of disease onset ($\mathbf{r} = -0.734$, p = 0.016). Yet, in light of the variability of the results obtained with the different methods, we propose that an international agreement is needed to determine which is the most suitable method for assessing CTG expansion size in DM1.

Genes 2020, 11, 757

Keywords: CTG expansion size; myotonic dystrophy type 1; long PCR; small pool-PCR; age of disease onset

1. Introduction

Myotonic dystrophy type 1 (DM1) is a multisystemic disorder with an autosomal dominant inheritance pattern. DM1 is caused by unstable expansion of CTG repeats in the 3' untranslated (UTR) region of the *dystrophia myotonica*-protein kinase (*DMPK*) gene [1]. Non-affected individuals usually have 5 to 35 CTG repeats, with carriage of 35 to 49 repeats, leading to a "pre-mutational" phenotype that is not usually associated with clinical manifestations. In turn, patients with DM1 typically have more than 50 CTG repeats in the blood, and sometimes up to several thousands [2]. Furthermore, because CTG expansion is highly unstable and prone to increase in these patients, an eventual decrease (or 'contraction') in the number of CTG repeats is typically biased toward further expansion in the context of DNA replication, recombination, transcription and/or repair [3–7]. Consequently, CTG expansion shows a characteristic somatic mosaicism [8].

Determination of the actual number of CTG repeats is complicated by the immense length of the expanded alleles as well as by the highly stable secondary structures that are created inside the repetitive guanine-cytocine (GC)-rich sequence. In addition, it is possible to underestimate rare mutant molecules in both germline and somatic cells. Accurate assessment of CTG expansion size is important in patients with DM1. Indeed, the number of CTG repeats can be inversely and directly related with age of disease onset and clinical severity, respectively [9,10]. Although different approaches have been described to assess CTG expansion size in patients with DM1 [5,11–15], some methodological issues remain to be solved, mainly related to the inherent repeat instability and technical difficulties when amplifying long CTG fragments.

It was therefore the purpose of this study to compare the number of CTG repeats ('expansion size') of the progenitor allele and the mode allele between five different assays using three different methods: (i) heat pulse extension (HPE)-polymerase chain reaction (PCR); (ii) long PCR (LPCR)1-Southern blot (SB); (iii) LPCR2-SB; (iv) LPCR 3-SB; and (v) small pool (SP)-PCR. The rationale behind this work was to determine whether the different methodologies that are currently available yield comparable results, so that it is necessary—or not—to come to a consensus as to which methodology should be used.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. DNA Extraction and Subjects

This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the University Hospital Germans Trias i Pujol (Badalona, Spain) and was performed in agreement with the Declaration of Helsinki for Human Research in 1975. All subjects signed a written informed consent to participate in the study. Total genomic DNA was obtained from peripheral blood in 15 patients with DM1 and 10 controls, as previously described [16]. Diagnosis of DM1 was confirmed by triplet primed-PCR, as reported elsewhere [17]. In controls, CTG number in both *DMPK* alleles was assessed by Sanger sequencing.

2.2. Heat Pulse Extension-PCR

First, we amplified the genomic DNA from patients and controls using HPE-PCR, as described elsewhere [13]. Unlike conventional PCR, in which the extension step is performed at a constant temperature, HPE-PCR includes multiple heat pulses in the extension step. Heat pulses temporarily destabilize the secondary structures formed in the long GC-rich repetitive sequence, thereby improving the extension efficiency and the amplification of the long expansions. The technique was carried out using the same PCR conditions, reagents, the equivalent taq polymerase (Phusion High-Fidelity DNA Polymerase, Thermo Fisher Scientific; Waltham, MA, USA) and the same thermocycler (GeneAmp 9700

Genes 2020, 11, 757

thermal cycler, Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA) as the Orpana et al. study [13]. The sizing of the CTG expansion was performed in a 1% agarose gel using the molecular ladder NZYDNA Ladder III (NZYTech, Lisboa, Portugal).

2.3. Long PCR-Southern Blot

The DNA samples (100 ng per reaction) were amplified with three different primer sets in a LPCR: (i) DM102 and DM101 (LPCR1); (ii) MDY1D and SOMY4R (LPCR2); (iii) MDY1D and DM1rev (LPCR3). We used the LongAmp® Taq PCR Kit (New England BioLabs, Ipswich, MA, USA) and the GeneAmp 9700 thermal cycler (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA). The set conditions for each of the three LPCR methods were as follows: initial denaturation at 94 °C for 4 min, followed by 35 cycles of denaturation at 94 °C for 30 s, and annealing–extension at 65 °C for 7 min. Final extension was performed at 65 °C for 10 min. Subsequently, LPCR products were analyzed using SB. In brief, all LPCR products were electrophoresed in a 0.8% agarose gel at 80V for 90 min, and transferred to a nylon membrane (Roche; Basel, Switzerland) after gel washing with an acid solution (250 mM HCl) for 15 min, a basic solution (0.5M NaOH) for 30 min, and a neutralizing solution (0.5 M Tris-HCl, pH = 7.5, 1.5 M NaCl) for 30 min. DNA was fixed to the membrane by incubation for 1 h 15 min at 65 °C. We used a concentration of 10 pmol/mL DIG-labeled LNA probe (5′-gcAgCagCAgCagCagCagCAgca-3′, where capital letters indicate LNA nucleotides) to hybridize the membrane for 3 h at 70 °C. Expansion size was determined by chemiluminescence yielded by the binding of alkaline phosphatase-conjugated to anti-DIG antibody and CDP-Star substrate, according to the manufacturer's instructions (Roche).

2.4. Small Pool-PCR

As opposed to the conventional PCR-Southern Blot, the SP-PCR technique uses small amounts of input DNA, allowing the study of single genomic equivalents, which are represented as single bands in the gel. SP-PCR was carried out using 300 pg of DNA in four replicates per sample, in order to study a representative repeat length distribution of the sample. We used the flanking primers DM-C and DM-DR as previously described [5,18], using a custom PCR Master Mix (Thermo Fisher Scientific; Waltham, MA, USA) supplemented with 69 mM 2-mercaptoethanol, and Taq polymerase Thermus aquaticus (Sigma-Aldrich; Gillingham, UK) at 1 unit per 10 μ L. All reactions were supplemented with 5% DMSO and the annealing temperature was 63.5 °C. DNA fragments were resolved by electrophoresis on a 1% agarose gel, SB was hybridized using GE Healthcare Nylon Hybond N Membrane (Thermo Fisher Scientific; Waltham, MA, USA) as described [5,18], and autoradiographic images were scanned.

For LPCR-SB and SP-PCR, the CTG size of the progenitor allele and the mode allele (i.e., yielding the most intense band signal) of each patient were estimated by comparison against the molecular weight ladder, using GelAnalyzer 19.1 software. The length of the flanking CTG region of each PCR was subtracted for all the estimated CTG lengths.

2.5. Statistical Analysis

After checking that the data followed a normal distribution with the Kolmogorov–Smirnov test, we used a repeated-measures one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) test for performing within-subject comparisons of the mean values of CTG expansion size of the progenitor allele and of the mode allele, respectively, obtained with the different methods. We also calculated the Pearson correlation between (i) the results yielded with the different methods, and (ii) the results obtained with each method and the age of disease onset, the Muscular Impairment Rating scale (MIRS), and the modified Rankin Scale (mRS), respectively, in the 15 DM1 patients. All statistical analyses were conducted using a statistical software package (SPSS 23), setting the significance level at $\alpha = 0.05$.

3. Results

A total of five primer sets were used (Figure 1), corresponding to the five different methods to measure CTG expansion size in our patients. All the primers were located outside the CTG repeat expansion.
The name of each primer and its sequence are shown in Table 1. The length of each PCR product varied from 106 to 324 base pairs, depending on the primer set used (plus the number of CTG repeats for each patient) (Table 1). Thus, the differences in PCR amplification among the techniques were small.



Figure 1. DMPK gene and location of the primer sets. Primers sets are indicated by the name of the technique and identified with a different background color. All of them were located outside the CTG expansion. LPCR2 and LPCR3 share the same forward primer. The distance (bp) between primers is also indicated. Abbreviations: F—forward; HPE-PCR—heat pulse extension-polymerase chain reaction; LPCR—long polymerase chain reaction; R—reverse; SP-PCR—small pool polymerase chain reaction.

Some technical difficulties were found with the HPE-PCR method. Although the technique worked in our hands, the results we obtained were inconsistent (Figure S1A) and thus, not comparable to previously published results [13]. Eight controls amplified smears that were similar to the ones found in patients—the status of control in our analysis is guaranteed, since prior to this analysis, we measured CTG alleles by sequencing. Thus, the cause of these unexpected smears is not apparent because they were unrelated to the CTG expansion in the study controls. As such, these data were excluded from statistical analyses. The results for all the methods, but HPE-PCR, are shown in Figure 2.



Figure 2. CTG expansion size of the progenitor allele (**A**) and the mode allele (**B**) for each technique. The progenitor allele was estimated by the lowest signal yielded after WT range for LPCR-SB, and by the most frequent lower band present in the samples for SP-PCR. Mode allele was estimated by the more intense signal yielded by LPCR and the most abundant band for SP-PCR. Data for heat pulse extension-polymerase chain reaction are not shown owing to the inconsistency of the results. All valid individual data within the detection limit (2000 CTGs) are shown(different color per patient). Normality was analyzed with the Kolmogorov–Smirnov test and we used a repeated-measures one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) test for performing within-subject comparisons between methods. No significant group (or 'method') effect was found for the progenitor allele (p = 0.112) or the mode allele (p = 0.653). Mean and SD values are shown only for those methods included in the within-subject analyses (i.e., LPCR1, LPCR2 and SP-PCR). A significant Pearson correlation was found between the progenitor allele of LPCR1 and LPCR (indicated by an *symbol in the Figure, r = 0.983 [95% confidence interval (CI) 0.940 to 0.996], p < 0.0001). Y-axis scale is segmented from 500 CTGs to 2000 CTGs, representing 25% of the total length axis. Abbreviations: LPCR—long polymerase chain reaction; SP-PCR—small pool polymerase chain reaction.

		Table 1. Techni	ques and primer	sets used in this study.	
Technique	bp of the Amplified Fragment (without CTG Expansion)	Primer Pair	Name	Sequence 5'3'	Reference
HPF_PCR	408	ц	DMKf	GCCAGTTCACAACCGCTCCGAGCGTGGGTC	Orpana et al. [13]
	H 7 0	R	DMKr	ACGCTCCCCAGAGCAGGGGCGTCATGC	Orpana et al. [13]
I PCR1_SR	211	ц	DM102	GAACGGGGCTCGAAGGGTCCTTGT	Brook et al. [1]
	211	R	DM101	CTTCCCAGGCCTGCAGTTTGCCCATCCA	Brook et al. [1]
I PCR2_SR	144	Ц	MDY1D	GCTCGAAGGGTCCTTGTAGCCG	Siciliano et al. [15]
	****	R	DM1REV	GTGCGTGGAGGATGGAAC	Radvansky et al. [17]
I PCR2_SR	267	ц	MDY1D	GCTCGAAGGGTCCTTGTAGCCG	Siciliano et al. [15]
	101	R	SOMY4R	CGGGTTTGGCAAAGCAAATTTCCCCGA	Musova et al. [19]
SP-PCR	106	й	DM-C	AACGGGGCTCGAAGGGTCCT	Monckton et al. [5]; Gomes-Pereira et al. [18]
		R	DM-DR	CAGGCCTGCAGTTTGCCCCATC	Monckton et al. [5]; Gomes-Pereira et al. [18]
Abbreviations	s: bp—base pairs; F—forward; HPE-PCR	-heat pulse extension	n-polymerase chair	1 reaction; LPCR—long polymerase chain reaction; R—rev	erse; SP-PCRsmall pool

polymerase chain reaction.

5 of 9

Genes 2020, 11, 757

We also found problems with the LPCR-SB technique, which did not allow amplification of the CTG expansion in some patients (2 for LPCR1-SB and LPCR2-SB, respectively, and 11 for LPCR3-SB). Thus, based on the small amount of individual data points obtained with LPCR3-SB, we also excluded these data from statistical analyses. In LPCR, the amplified product in patients appeared sometimes as a high smear (Figure S1B), probably due to a mobility impairment in long amplifications of highly concentrated DNA (i.e., 100 ng in the final PCR reaction). Attending to the juvenile-classical phenotype of our patients, we established a detection limit of 2000 CTGs. In this context, three CTG sizes of the mode allele in LPCR1-SB were excluded from the study. None of the progenitor expansions surpassed the 2000 CTG-limit. SP-PCR amplified the CTG expansion of all the patients at the first attempt except for two of them—in whom, we had to repeat the amplification in order to correctly detect and quantify CTG expansion. Representative results of SP-PCR can be seen in Figure S1C.

LPCRs yielded shorter progenitor alleles and higher mode alleles compared to SP-PCR (Figure 2). No significant group effect was found with the one-way repeated-measures ANOVA between the three techniques with analyzable data (i.e., LPCR1, LPCR2 and SP-PCR) for the within-subject comparison of CTG expansion size of the progenitor (p = 0.112) or mode allele (p = 0.653). A significant, strong correlation was found between LPCR1-SB and LPCR2-SB for CTG expansion size of the progenitor allele (r = 0.983 [95% confidence interval (CI) 0.940 to 0.996], p < 0.0001). However, no other significant correlation was found for the results obtained with LPCR1-SB, LPCR2 or SP-PCR, respectively (all p > 0.05). We further studied possible correlations with age of disease onset, MIRS and mRS scale. We found an inverse, significant correlation between CTG expansion size of the progenitor allele as determined by SP-PCR, and age of disease onset (Figure 3).



SP-PCR Progenitor allele (CTGs)

Figure 3. Correlation between the age of disease onset (years) and the CTG expansion size of the progenitor allele obtained through SP-PCR. The 95% confidence interval for the Pearson correlation coefficient was -0.933 to -0.1940 (r = -0.734, p = 0.016).

4. Discussion

Although no significant group effect was found with the one-way repeated-measures ANOVA between LPCR1/2 and SP-PCR, our results indicate that there is variability in the number of CTG repeats for a given patient depending on the CTG sizing method. HPE-PCR showed results that were difficult to interpret. Additionally, LPCR3 did not allow amplification of most of the DNAs in the patients. However, the fact that LPCR1 and LPCR-2 did yield some valid results suggests that LPCR-SB might be more sensitive to parameters such as the quality of the input DNA, which is not the case for the SP-PCR technique. SP-PCR was the only technique that enabled amplification of all DNAs

from the patients and in fact, was the only one yielding a result that was correlated with an important phenotype trait of DM1—age of disease onset.

While a strong correlation was found between LPCR1-SB and LPCR2-SB for CTG expansion size of the progenitor allele, no other significant correlation was found. LPCR1/2-PCR vielded lower progenitor sizes and higher mode sizes than SP-PCR. LPCR-SB approaches usually show the expanded alleles as diffuse smears rather than discrete bands, due to the high input of DNA plus the somatic instability of the mutation [20]. This fact hinders differentiation of the progenitor allele size from possible contractions of the repeat. The number of PCR cycles may also affect the results—35 cycles are used in LPCR vs. 28 for SP-PCR—since a high number of cycles facilitates the amplification of shorter products, whereas longer products may be not favored. Moreover, the number of PCR cycles increases PCR slippage, tending to shorten the products. These phenomena could explain that these techniques yielded lower progenitor sizes than SP-PCR. By contrast, SP-PCR—which amplifies only small pools of input DNA—shows discrete bands that allow for a detailed analysis of the mutational spectrum and allele size distribution [18]. As such, this technique enables a better detection and estimation of the progenitor allele from post-contractions of the repeat. In three of the 15 patients, LPCR1-SB yielded some intense signals running high in the gel which, when measured, showed sizes above 2000 CTG repeats. Because the amount of input DNA is high (100 ng) in the different LPCR methods, the DNA mobility in the gel can be impaired, spreading out and yielding a signal that is higher than the actual CTG expansion size. Therefore, when using these LPCR-SB techniques, it would be necessary to set up a threshold for measuring CTG size in the detected smears.

It would be interesting to determine how novel, recently described technologies for CTG sizing [11,12] compare to the methods we assessed here. The sizing kit used by Leferink et al., was based on tripled repeat primed PCR, which is a robust and accurate technique to determine the presence of a CTG expanded allele [11]. However, the sizing of the repeat was limited in their study, set at 180 CTG repeats. In this regard, the most frequent DM1 form, the classical adult form, is usually associated with CTG repeats ranging from fifty to thousands. In fact, more than 70% of the samples in our study had more than 180 CTG repeats. Thus, although the kit reported in the Leferink et al. study would seem very useful for accurate DM1 diagnosis, it would not be suitable to size CTG expansion. In the study by Malbec et al., repeat sizing was performed with a lab-on-chip system that concentrates, separates, and detects DNA fragments in a very short time (actually, less than 5 min) from femtomolar concentrations of PCR-amplified DNAs [12]. Although this system appears as a good alternative to the sizing methods that we assessed, its accuracy would depend on the design of the primers used and the PCR amplification cycle. Furthermore, it would be also necessary to test some PCR designs in order to determine to what extent they are similar. Furthermore, since the chip presented in the Malbec et al. study can detect expansions up to 4Kb, it would have limitations to size samples from patients with congenital DM1. In fact, although their results were promising, only two DM1 blood samples were tested with the new technology, and as such, the interference of somatic mosaicism in CTG sizing remains to be analyzed.

Some studies have described that CTG repeat number can be a good indicator of disease onset [14]. In this regard, we further explored whether the different sizing results were related to the age of disease onset, finding a significant correlation for the SP-PCR method only. These results are overall in accordance with previous studies reporting a correlation between progenitor allele length measured by SP-PCR and both age of disease onset and clinical severity [10,21], although we found no correlation with MIRS or mRS. Progenitor allele length is the major modifier of age of disease onset, and as such, it is very important to use an accurate method for its determination. Concerning the lack of correlation with MIRS and mRS scales, CTG sizes in blood may be poor representatives of muscle status. Thus, future research in this field might study CTG in muscle cells.

5. Conclusions

Our study suggests that, besides the somatic mosaicism caused by CTG repeat instability and the inherent technical difficulties in assessing CTG expansion, there is overall heterogeneity among the different methods that are currently available, which makes it difficult to rely on them as valid predictors of disease phenotype. International agreement is needed to determine which is the most suitable methodology to characterize CTG expansion size in patients with DM1.

Supplementary Materials: The following are available online at http://www.mdpi.com/2073-4425/11/7/757/s1. Figure S1: Representative results of the three different methods: HP-PCR, LPCR-SB and SP-PCR. (A) HP-PCR gel. Three patients and three controls are shown as representative results of HP-PCR. Controls showed similar signals to the ones found in patients. As such, these data were excluded from statistical analysis. (B) LPCR-SB gel showing the amplification results of the three primer sets: (1) DM102 and DM101 (LPCR1); (2) MDY1D and SOMY4R (LPCR2); and (3) MDY1D and DM1rev (LPCR3). Three patients and one control are shown. With this technique, we could not amplify the CTG expansion in some patients (two for LPCR1-SB and LPCR2-SB, respectively, and 11 for LPCR3-SB). The amplified product in patients appears as high smears, probably due to highly concentrated DNA (100 ng). (C). SP-PCR gel. Two patients and one control are shown, with four replicates per sample. Using small amounts of input DNA (300 pg), the technique allows us to study single genomic equivalents, which are amplified individually and further separated in the gel. Therefore, the gel shows discrete bands corresponding to individually CTG tracts of different lengths.

Author Contributions: A.B.-L., I.L.-P., E.K. and S.A.C. carried out the experiments. J.N.-M., M.A., G.L. and A.A. contributed to sample preparation. A.R.-F., A.M.-P., G.P.-M. and J.C.-C. performed sample collection. G.N.-G. and A.M.-P. conceived the experiments and supervised the project. A.B.-L. performed the interpretation of the results and wrote the manuscript. G.N.-G. and Alejandro Lucia supported and helped in writing the manuscript. D.G.M., S.A.C., and A.L. provided critical feedback and helped shape the research. J.J.M. and N.M.M.-M. contributed to the experimental procedures. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research was supported by the following projects and institutions: PI15/01756, PI15/00558, PI18/00713, CD14/00032, CPII19/00021 and CM16/00016 (funded by ISCIII and co-financed by Fondos FEDER), AFM Telethon (Trampoline grant number #21108)), FI_B 01090 (Agaur), ID 100010434 and by SGR 1520 (GRC) Generalitat de Catalunya. LCF/BQ/IN18/11660019 ("La Caixa" Foundation co-funded by Marie Skłodowska-Curie grant agreement n°713673).

Acknowledgments: We gratefully acknowledge the participants in this research, the patients' associations and the core facilities of the Health Research Institute Germans Trias i Pujol (IGTP). We acknowledge all our funding agencies.

Conflicts of Interest: G.N.-G. declares grants from Instituto de Salud Carlos III (Grant Numbers: PI15/01756; P18/00713), Madrid, Spain and AFM Telethon (Trampoline grant number #21108), France. A.L. declares grants from the Spanish government granting agency Instituto de Salud Carlos III, Madrid, Spain. J.N.-M. is funded by AFM Telethon Trampoline Grant #21108. A.B.-L. is funded by an FI Agaur fellowship FI_B 01090 and by SGR 1520 (GRC) Generalitat de Catalunya. E.K. is funded by the "La Caixa" Foundation (ID 100010434), fellowship code LCF/BQ/IN18/11660019, co-funded by the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation program under the Marie Skłodowska-Curie grant agreement n°713673. I.L.-P. is funded by CP14/00032 and by, SGR 1520 (GRC) Generalitat de Catalunya. G.N.-G. is supported by a Miguel Servet research contract (ISCIII CD14/00032, CPII19/00021 and FEDER). G.L. was supported by a Rio Hortega contract (ISCIII CM16/0016 and FEDER). J.J.M. was supported by the Science, Technology and Innovation of Mexico City (Grant # PICSA 12-162). G.P.-M. reports personal honoraria from Shire-Takeda, Amicus, Kyowa-Kirin, and Sanofi-Genzyme, outside the submitted work. The remaining co-authors declare no conflict of interests.

References

- Brook, J.D.; McCurrach, M.E.; Harley, H.G.; Buckler, A.J.; Church, D.; Aburatani, H.; Hunter, K.; Stanton, V.P.; Thirion, J.P.; Hudson, T.; et al. Molecular basis of myotonic dystrophy: Expansion of a trinucleotide (CTG) repeat at the 3' end of a transcript encoding a protein kinase family member. *Cell* 1992, *68*, 799–808. [CrossRef]
- Turner, C.; Hilton-Jones, D. The myotonic dystrophies: Diagnosis and management. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 2010, 81, 358–367. [CrossRef]
- Ashizawa, T.; Anvret, M.; Baiget, M.; Barcelo, J.M.; Brunner, H.; Cobo, A.M.; Dallapiccola, B.; Fenwick, R.G.; Grandell, U.; Harley, H.; et al. Characteristics of Intergenerational Contractions of the CTG Repeat in Myotonic Dystrophy. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 1994, 54, 414. [PubMed]
- Jakupciak, J.P.; Wells, R.D. Genetic Instabilities in (CTGCAG) Repeats Occur by Recombination* Downloaded from. J. Biol. Chem. 1999, 274, 23468–23479. Available online: http://www.jbc.org/ (accessed on 15 June 2020). [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- Monckton, D.G.; Wong, L.J.C.; Ashizawa, T.; Caskey, C.T. Somatic mosaicism, germline expansions, germline reversions and intergenerational reductions in myotonic dystrophy males: Small pool PCR analyses. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 1995, 4, 1–8. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Salinas-Rios, V.; Belotserkovskii, B.P.; Hanawalt, P.C. DNA slip-outs cause RNA polymerase II arrest in vitro: Potential implications for genetic instability. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2011, 39, 7444–7454. [CrossRef]
- Van Den Broek, W.J.A.A.; Nelen, M.R.; Wansink, D.G.; Coerwinkel, M.M.; Te Riele, H.; Groenen, P.J.T.A.; Wieringa, B. Somatic expansion behaviour of the (CTG) n repeat in myotonic dystrophy knock-in mice is differentially affected by Msh3 and Msh6 mismatch-repair proteins. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 2002, 11, 191–198. [CrossRef]
- Ashizawa, T.; Dubel, J.R.; Harati, Y. Somatic instability of ctg repeat in myotonic dystrophy. *Neurology* 1993, 43, 2674–2678. [CrossRef]
- De Antonio, M.; Dogan, C.; Hamroun, D.; Mati, M.; Zerrouki, S.; Eymard, B.; Katsahian, S.; Bassez, G. French Myotonic Dystrophy Clinical Network. Unravelling the myotonic dystrophy type 1 clinical spectrum: A systematic registry-based study with implications for disease classification. *Rev. Neurol.* 2016, 172, 572–580. [CrossRef]
- Morales, F.; Couto, J.M.; Higham, C.F.; Hogg, G.; Cuenca, P.; Braida, C.; Wilson, R.H.; Adam, B.; Del Valle, G.; Brian, R.; et al. Somatic instability of the expanded CTG triplet repeat in myotonic dystrophy type 1 is a heritable quantitative trait and modifier of disease severity. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 2012, *21*, 3558–3567. [CrossRef]
- Leferink, M.; Wong, D.P.W.; Cai, S.; Yeo, M.; Ho, J.; Lian, M.; Kamsteeg, E.J.; Chong, S.S.; Haer-Wigman, L.; Guan, M. Robust and accurate detection and sizing of repeats within the DMPK gene using a novel TP-PCR test. *Sci. Rep.* 2019, *9*. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Malbec, R.; Chami, B.; Aeschbach, L.; Ruiz Buendía, G.A.; Socol, M.; Joseph, P.; Leïchlé, T.; Trofimenko, E.; Bancaud, A.; Dion, V. μLAS: Sizing of expanded trinucleotide repeats with femtomolar sensitivity in less than 5 minutes. *Sci. Rep.* 2019, 9. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Orpana, A.K.; Ho, T.H.; Alagrund, K.; Ridanpää, M.; Aittomäki, K.; Stenman, J. Novel heat pulse extension-PCR-based method for detection of large CTG-repeat expansions in myotonic dystrophy type 1. *J. Mol. Diagn.* 2013, *15*, 110–115. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Savić, D.; Rakočvić-Stojanović, V.; Keckarević, D.; Čuljković, B.; Stojković, O.; Mladenoviić, J.; Todoroviić, S.; Apostolski, S.; Romac, S. 250 CTG repeats in DMPK is a threshold for correlation of expansion size and age at onset of juvenile-adult DM1. *Hum. Mutat.* 2002, *19*, 131–139. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Siciliano, G.; Manca, M.; Gennarelli, M.; Angelini, C.; Rocchi, A.; Iudice, A.; Miorin, M.; Mostacciuolo, M. Epidemiology of myotonic dystrophy in Italy: Re-apprisal after genetic diagnosis. *Clin. Genet.* 2002, *59*, 344–349. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 16. Miller, S.A.; Dykes, D.D.; Polesky, H.F. A simple salting out procedure for extracting DNA from human nucleated cells. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **1988**, *16*, 1215. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Radvansky, J.; Ficek, A.; Kadasi, L. Upgrading molecular diagnostics of myotonic dystrophies: Multiplexing for simultaneous characterization of the DMPK and ZNF9 repeat motifs. *Mol. Cell. Probes* 2011, 25, 182–185. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 18. Gomes-Pereira, M.; Bidichandani, S.I.; Monckton, D.G. Analysis of unstable triplet repeats using small-pool polymerase chain reaction. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 2004, 277, 61–76. [CrossRef]
- Musova, Z.; Mazanec, R.; Krepelova, A.; Ehler, E.; Vales, J.; Jaklova, R.; Prochazka, T.; Koukal, P.; Marikova, T.; Kraus, J.; et al. Highly unstable sequence interruptions of the CTG repeat in the myotonic dystrophy gene. *Am. J. Med. Genet. A* 2009, 149, 1365–1374. [CrossRef]
- 20. Prior, T.W. Technical standards and guidelines for myotonic dystrophy type 1 testing. *Genet. Med.* **2009**, *11*, 552–555. [CrossRef]
- Cumming, S.A.; Jimenez-Moreno, C.; Okkersen, K.; Wenninger, S.; Daidj, F.; Hogarth, F.; Littleford, R.; Gorman, G.; Bassez, G.; Schoser, B.; et al. Genetic determinants of disease severity in the myotonic dystrophy type 1 OPTIMISTIC cohort. *Neurology* 2019, *93*, e995–e1009. [CrossRef] [PubMed]



© 2020 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

Supplementary Materials



Chapter II



Preliminary findings on CTG expansion determination in different tissues from patients with myotonic dystrophy type 1

Alfonsina Ballester-Lopez^{1,2}, Emma Koehorst¹, Ian Linares-Pardo¹, Judit Núñez-Manchón¹, Miriam Almendrote^{1,3}, Giuseppe Lucente^{1,3}, Andrea Arbex^{1,3}, Carles Puente Alonso⁴, Alejandro Lucia⁵, Darren G Monckton⁶, Sarah A Cumming⁶, Guillem Pintos-Morell^{1,2,7}, Jaume Coll-Cantí^{1,2,3}, Alba Ramos Fransi^{1,3},

Alicia Martínez-Piñeiro^{1,3}, Gisela Nogales-Gadea^{1,2}

¹ Neuromuscular and Neuropediatric Research Group, Institut d'Investigació en Ciències de la Salut Germans Trias i Pujol, Campus Can Ruti, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, 08916 Badalona, Barcelona, Spain. ² Centre for Biomedical Network Research on Rare Diseases (CIBERER), Instituto de Salud Carlos III, 28029 Madrid, Spain. ³ Neuromuscular disorders Unit. Neurology Service. Neuroscience department, Hospital Universitari Germans Trias i Pujol, 08916 Badalona, Barcelona, Spain. ⁴ Servei de Cirugia Ortopèdica i Traumatologia. Unitat de mà i nervi perifèric. Hospital Universitari Germans Trias i Pujol, 08916 Badalona, Spain. ⁵ Facultad de Ciencias de la Actividad física y el Deporte, Universidad Europea, Madrid, Spain, & Instituto de Investigación Hospital 12 de Octubre (i+12), Madrid, Spain. ⁶ Institute of Molecular, Cell and Systems Biology, College of Medical, Veterinary and Life Sciences, University of Glasgow, Glasgow G128QQ, UK. ⁷ Division of Rare Diseases, Vall d'Hebron University Hospital, 08035 Barcelona, Spain

This paper is under review



Brief Report

Preliminary findings on CTG expansion determination in different tissues from patients with myotonic dystrophy type 1

Authors: Alfonsina Ballester-López1,2, Emma Koehorst1, Ian Linares-Pardo1, Judit Núñez-Manchón1, Miriam Almendrote3, Giuseppe Lucente3, Andrea Arbex3, Carles Puente Alonso4, Alejandro Lucia5, Darren Monckton6, Sarah Cumming6, Guillem Pintos-Morell2,7, Jaume Coll-Cantí3, Alba Ramos-Fransi3, Alicia Martínez-Piñeiro3*, Gisela Nogales-Gadea1,2*.

Affiliations: 1 Neuromuscular and Neuropediatric Research Group, Institut d'Investigació en Ciències de la Salut Germans Trias i Pujol, Campus Can Ruti, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, Badalona, Barcelona, Spain; 2 Centre for Biomedical Network Research on Rare Diseases (CIBERER), Instituto de Salud Carlos III, Madrid, Spain; 3 Neuromuscular Pathology Unit. Neurology Service. Neuroscience department, Hospital Universitari Germans Trias i Pujol, Badalona, Barcelona, Spain; 4 Servei de Cirugia Ortopèdica i Traumatologia. Unitat de mà i nervi perifèric. Hospital Universitari Germans Trias i Pujol, Badalona, Spain; 5 Facultad de Ciencias de la Actividad física y el Deporte, Universidad Europea, Madrid, Spain, & Instituto de Investigación Hospital 12 de Octubre (i+12), Madrid, Spain; 6 Institute of Molecular, Cell and Systems Biology, College of Medical, Veterinary and Life Sciences, University of Glasgow, Glasgow, UK; 7 Division of Rare Diseases, Vall d'Hebron University Hospital, Barcelona, Spain. *equal contribution.

Corresponding author: Gisela Nogales-Gadea, Grup de Recerca en Malalties Neuromusculars i Neuropediàtriques, Institut d'Investigació en Ciències de la Salut Germans Trias i Pujol. Ctra. de Can Ruti. Camí de les Escoles, s/n 08916 Badalona (Barcelona), Spain. Tel.: +34 93 4978684; e-mail address: gnogalga7@gmail.com

ABSTRACT: Myotonic Dystrophy type 1 (DM1) is characterized by a high genetic and clinical variability. Determination of the genetic variability in DM1 might help to determine whether there is an association between CTG expansion and the clinical manifestations of this condition. We studied the variability of the CTG expansion (progenitor, mode, and longest allele, respectively, and genetic instability) in three tissues (blood, muscle and tissue) from eight patients with DM1. We also studied the association of genetic data with the patients' clinical characteristics. Although genetic instability was confirmed in all the tissues that we studied, our results suggest that CTG expansion is larger in muscle and skin cells compared with peripheral blood leukocytes. While keeping in mind that more research is needed in larger cohorts, we have provided preliminary evidence suggesting that the estimated progenitor CTG size in muscle could be potentially used as an indicator of age of disease onset and muscle function impairment.

Keywords: Myotonic Dystrophy Type 1; somatic instability; CTG expansion; blood; muscle; skin

INTRODUCTION

Myotonic dystrophy type 1 (DM1) is caused by a CTG expansion in the 3' untranslated region of the *dystrophia myotonica*-protein kinase (*DMPK*) gene [1]. The CTG expansion is highly unstable, showing size variation both within [2] and between tissues [3–6]. Genetic instability hinders the establishment of genotype/phenotype correlations in patients with DM1, and most studies assessing CTG expansion have focused solely on blood samples [7–10]. Here we used small pool polymerase chain reaction (SP-PCR) to study CTG expansion in three different tissues from affected patients. We estimated the progenitor allele, the mode of CTG expansion size and

the highest CTG repeat number, as well as the genetic instability of the CTG repeat (*i.e.*, the difference between the progenitor and the mode CTG size) in the different tissues. We also analyzed the potential association between the different CTG measures, on one hand, and patients' clinical phenotype, on the other.

RESULTS

We studied eight patients (six women). The patients' cohort included five unrelated individuals and three sisters from the same family (P3, P4 and P8). Symptom onset occurred during adulthood in seven patients (with symptoms starting around their fifties in two of them (P2, aged 48 years; P7, 50 years)) whereas in one patient the symptoms started earlier in life (P1, 15 years) (**Table 1**). One patient (P7) carried previously reported CCG interruptions [11]. All the patients had clinical myotonia, but only two showed a mild impairment in biceps muscle strength (as reflected by a score of 4 in the 0 to 5 Medical Research Council (MRC) scale). Performance in the 6-minute walking distance test averaged 377 meters (range 251–519). When using the muscular impairment rating scale (MIRS), 25% of patients showed minimal signs of muscular impairment, 50% had distal weakness and 25% had mild-moderate proximal weakness. Most patients (87.5%) were independent in daily life activities (score of 0-2 on the modified Rankin (0 to 6) scale), and only one (P5) had a moderately severe disability (4).

Patient	Sex	Age of symptom onset (years)	Biceps muscle (MRC scale)	Myotonia (seconds)	6-minute walking distance (meters)	MIRS	mRS
P1	F	15*	4	0.52	348	4	2
P2	М	48	5	0.67	251	3	2
Р3	F	36	5	0.73	368	2	1
P4	F	42	5	0.98	338	3	1
P5	F	27	4	NP	NP	4	4
P6	М	36	5	0.96	519	3	2
P7	F	50	5	NP	436	2	1
P8	F	35	5	NP	NP	3	2

1 Table 1. Clinical characteristics of the patients.

1. Abbreviations: F, female; M, male; MRC, Medical Research Council NP, not performed. Symbol: * although it was not possible to determine the actual age of disease onset of this patient, since at the first visit (age 36) she had obvious signs that commonly appear early in patient's life (including oval pallor and temporal atrophy) we considered that the disease onset occurred during adolescence.

The estimated progenitor, most abundant and longest CTG expansion size were measured in blood (n=8), muscle (n=7) and skin samples (n=5) (**Fig. 1**). An example of CTG expansion determination is shown in **Suppl. Fig. 1**. DNA from one muscle biopsy and from three skin biopsies yielded no amplification and therefore precluded CTG sizing. We found no differences across tissues for progenitor CTG (p=0.449 for tissue effect with the repeated-measures one-factor ANOVA), mode size (p=0.247), and genetic instability (p=0.691). By contrast, a significant (*p*=0.041) tissue effect was found for the longest CTG with significant differences (*p*<0.05) found for all post hoc pairwise comparisons (thus, mean of the longest CTG size in blood (665 CTGs) < muscle (1110 CTGs) < skin (1408 CTGs). In blood samples, we found the following significant correlations (all *p*<0.05): blood progenitor CTG size *vs* mode allele, r=0.900 (95% confidence interval 0.536–0.982); mode allele *vs* longest allele, r=0.805 (0.231–0.963); and longest allele *vs* progenitor allele, r=0.861 (0.398–0.975). These results suggested that the progenitor, the mode and the longest expansion size were uniformly distributed, with the CTG tract evenly expanded in blood. For muscle and skin samples, a significant (*p*<0.05) correlation was only found between the progenitor and mode size (muscle: r=0.769 (0.037–0.964); skin: r=0.895 (0.061–0.993)). No correlation was found between tissues. Finally, as P7 carried variant repeats, we compared the results of this patient with those of patients carrying pure repeats to determine whether P7 showed a more stable CTG repeat behavior in any of the tissues, which was not the case (**Suppl. Fig. 2**).



Figure 1. CTG repeat number estimates of the progenitor, mode, and longest allele length in the study patients. All the individual CTG data are shown, with each circle representing one single CTG size (using a different color per patient). The mean and SD values of the different CTG measures are also shown. Symbol: * p=0.041 for tissue effect with repeated-measures one-factor ('tissue') ANOVA.

We further studied the relationship between genetic and clinical data and found a significant (p<0.05) correlation between the progenitor allele found in muscle and both age of disease onset (r=-0.850 (-0.977–0.268)) and the MRC corresponding to the studied muscles (r=-0.932 (-0.992–0.496)) (**Fig. 2**). The CTG mode length in muscle was also correlated with the MRC score for the muscle in question (r=-0.898 (-0.989 to -0.319), p<0.05). By contrast, no significant correlation was found between CTG expansion in blood or skin and the clinical manifestation of the disease.



Figure 2. Correlations between the progenitor CTG size present in muscle and the age of disease onset and the MRC of the studied muscles. (A) Correlation between the progenitor CTG size present in muscle and the age of disease onset (r=-0.850 [-0.977--0.268], *p*<0.05). (B) Correlation between the progenitor CTG size present in muscle and the MRC of the studied muscles (r=-0.932 (-0.992--0.496), *p* < 0.05).

DISCUSSION

Our preliminary results suggest that CTG expansions might be in general larger in muscle and skin than in blood. Previous studies have reported that *i*) patients' muscle fibers carry larger expansions than peripheral blood leukocytes [3–5], and *ii*) patients' fibroblasts carry larger expansions than peripheral blood lymphocytes⁶. However, no previous study has assessed CTG repeats in blood, muscle and skin cells from the same patients. Furthermore, we studied in depth the CTG expansion size by applying SP-PCR methodology and took into account the genetic instability of CTG expansion (instead of focusing on one single CTG size per tissue using a less accurate southern blot-based analysis). This strategy allowed us to determine that the progenitor and the mode size did not differ significantly across tissues, as opposed to the highest expansion. This finding suggests that the CTG tract is expanding in different manners in each tissue.

The three tissues presented genetic instability. The complex phenomenon of genetic instability can be produced by numerous mechanisms, including not only DNA repair mechanisms but also DNA replications, transcriptions, and epigenetic changes. In muscle and skin, a non-dividing cell status coupled with DNA repair mechanisms might play an important role in producing genetic instability. In the case of blood cells, the CTG expansion instability could also be affected by the division status of these cells.

No differences in the CTG stability were found between P7 (who carried variant repeats) and the rest of the patients (who had pure expansion repeats in blood, skin and muscle). Some authors have shown a stabilizing effect of the variant repeats [12,13], which was not confirmed in P7. Although the case of P7 might be an exceptional one, no conclusions can be really drawn as our study is the first to analyze genetic instability in different tissues of a patient with variant repeats.

When analyzing each tissue independently, we found that all measures (progenitor, mode and highest CTG) were correlated to each other in blood samples, suggesting that the progenitor CTG size leads the genetic instability of CTG expansion in blood. Conversely, in muscle and skin the progenitor was correlated with the mode but not with the highest CTG, suggesting that the genetic instability of the CTG tract is more random in these tissues, probably due to the longer length of CTG repeats.

We found that the progenitor allele in muscle tissue was the only CTG variable associated with age of disease onset. This finding is not surprising when considering that the muscle is one of the most affected tissues in patients with DM1. In this regard, we studied samples mostly from biceps muscle, whereas disease manifestation might start earlier in the *tibialis* anterior muscle [14,15]. However, some authors have hypothesized that CTG in muscle tissue could show a stronger correlation with disease severity than CTG determined in blood cells [4,5], for which we were actually able to provide preliminary ('proof-of-concept') evidence. Furthermore, our data also suggest that the CTG size in muscle is associated with patients' muscle impairment (as determined with the MRC scale). These results might reflect a close relationship between CTG expansion in muscle and the degree of functional affectation in this tissue. Although it has been shown that the progenitor size determined in peripheral blood leukocytes of patients with DM1 is also a good indicator of age of disease onset [16], we failed to find a correlation between blood measures and age of symptom onset, maybe owing to the small sample size of our study. Previous studies in larger cohorts of patients with DM1 have in fact reported a close relationship between CTG size in blood and cardiac complications [17] or survival [18].

In conclusion, we found preliminary evidence for the presence of genetic instability in all the patients' tissues that we studied, yet with muscle and skin cells carrying larger expansions than peripheral blood leukocytes. Although more research is needed in larger cohorts, our preliminary data suggest the estimated progenitor CTG size as determined in muscle tissue is associated with age of disease onset and muscle functional impairment.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This study was approved by the local ethics committee (University Hospital Germans Trias i Pujol, # PI15-009) and was performed in agreement with the Declaration of Helsinki for Human Research. All participants signed an informed consent. The study included eight patients with DM1 and eight controls with no previous family history of neuromuscular disorders (recruited from the traumatology department in whom surgery was needed. DM1 diagnosis was confirmed or discarded with triplet primed-PCR¹¹ in all the study participants. Clinical information of DM1 patients was obtained from the medical records and updated in the last visit.

We obtained three different samples from patients and controls: blood, muscle biopsy and skin biopsy. All samples were obtained at the same time. Blood was collected in EDTA tubes and frozen at -20°C before DNA extraction. The muscle biopsy was obtained from the left biceps muscle in all individuals except for one patient (P8, *vastus lateralis* muscle). Skin biopsy was obtained with a 0.5cm skin punch. Muscle biopsies were frozen immediately and stored at -80°C before DNA extraction. Skin biopsies were first seeded in plates with human serum and gelatin 1.5% (1:2) and cultured with DMEM supplemented with 5% of Fetal Bovine Serum and PSF 1x, at 37°C for 6 days, and frozen afterwards at -80°C before DNA extraction.

Genomic DNA was isolated from peripheral blood [19]. Genomic DNA was extracted from muscle and skin tissue by homogenization in 100mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.8, and 5mM EDTA until these tissues were disaggregated. Thereafter tissues were digested in 20mg/mL proteinase K and 10% SDS for 16h at 37°C, and treated with 5.5 M NaCl, phenol and chloroform isoamyl (1:24) before DNA precipitation with isopropanol. DNA quality and quantity were measured by Qubit Fluorometric (Themo Fisher Scientific; Waltham, MA) and Agilent 4200 TapeStation analysis (Agilent Technologies; Santa Clara, CA).

To measure CTG expansion size, SP-PCR was performed [20]. Briefly, small amounts of input DNA (300 pg) were used with the flanking primers DM-C and DM-DR as previously described [20]. We used custom PCR Master Mix (Thermo Fisher Scientific; Waltham, MA) supplemented with 69 mM 2-mercaptoethanol, and Taq polymerase Thermus aquaticus (Sigma-

Aldrich; Gillingham, UK) at 1 unit per 10 μ L, supplemented with 5% DMSO and the annealing temperature was 63.5°C. DNA fragments were resolved by electrophoresis on a 1% agarose gel, followed by Southern blot [21]. The estimated CTG sizes (the progenitor, the mode and the longest CTG size) in each tissue were determined by comparison against the molecular weight ladder, using GelAnalyzer 19.1 software. We studied four replicates of each sample, allowing the analysis of the allele distribution CTG sizes, since the most representative allele sizes that are present in a given sample are shown in the gel (see **Supplementary Fig. 1** for more information on the different measurements). Genetic instability was calculated by subtracting the progenitor CTG size from the mode CTG size amplified for each sample. This method has been optimized by Prof. Monckton's group [20].

We used repeated-measures, one-factor (*i.e.*, 'tissue') analysis of variance (ANOVA) to compare CTG variables (progenitor, mode, longest repeat length, and somatic instability) across the different tissue samples within each subject. When a main tissue effect was found, post hoc pairwise comparisons (skin *vs* blood, skin *vs* muscle, and blood *vs* muscle) were done with the Bonferroni test. We also determined the relationship between the aforementioned CTG variables and patients' clinical characteristics with Pearson's correlations (or Spearman correlations for those data that were not normally distributed, as determined with the Shapiro-Wilk test). The level of significance was set at 0.05 (two-tailed).

Acknowledgments: We gratefully acknowledge the participants in this research, the patients' associations and the core facilities of the IGTP.

Conflicts of Interest Statement: G.N.G declares grants from Instituto de Salud Carlos III (Grant Numbers: PI15/01756; P18/00713), Madrid, Spain and AFM Telethon (Trampoline grant number #21108), France. A.L declares grants from the Spanish government granting agency Instituto de Salud Carlos III, Madrid, Spain. J.N.M is funded by AFM Telethon Trampoline Grant #21108. A.B.L is funded by an FI Agaur fellowship FI_B 01090. E.K is funded by the "La Caixa" Foundation (ID 100010434), fellowship code LCF/BQ/IN18/11660019, co-funded by the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation program under the Marie Skłodowska-Curie grant agreement nº713673. I.L.P is funded by CP14/00032. G.N.G is supported by a Miguel Servet research contract (ISCIII CD14/00032, CPII19/00021 and FEDER). G.L. was supported by a Rio Hortega contract (ISCIII CM16/00016 and FEDER). G.P-M reports personal honoraria from Shire-Takeda, Amicus, Kyowa-Kirin, and Sanofi-Genzyme, outside the submitted work. The remaining co-authors declare no competing interests.

REFERENCES

- 1. Brook JD, McCurrach ME, Harley HG, Buckler AJ, Church D, Aburatani H, et al. Molecular basis of myotonic dystrophy: Expansion of a trinucleotide (CTG) repeat at the 3' end of a transcript encoding a protein kinase family member. Cell. 1992 Feb 21;68(4):799–808.
- 2. R. La Spada A. Trinucleotide Repeat Instability: Genetic Features and Molecular Mechanisms. Brain Pathol. 1997 Jul;7(3):943–63.
- 3. Ashizawa T, Dubel JR, Harati Y. Somatic instability of ctg repeat in myotonic dystrophy. Neurology. 1993;43(12):2674–8.
- Thornton CA, Johnson K, Moxley RT. Myotonic dystrophy patients have larger CTG expansions in skeletal muscle than in leukocytes. Ann Neurol [Internet]. 1994 Jan [cited 2020 Mar 25];35(1):104–7. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8285579
- Anvret M, Ahlberg G, Grandell U, Hedberg B, Johnson K, Edström L. Larger expansions of the CTG repeat in muscle compared to lymphocytes from patients with myotonic dystrophy. Hum Mol Genet [Internet]. 1993 Sep [cited 2020 Mar 25];2(9):1397–400. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8242063
- Peterlin B, Logar N, Zidar J. CTG repeat analysis in lymphocytes, muscles and fibroblasts in patients with myotonic dystrophy. Pflugers Arch [Internet]. 1996 [cited 2020 Mar 25];431(6 Suppl 2):R199-200. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8739333
- 7. Kim HJ, Na J-H, Lee Y-M. Genotype-phenotype correlations in pediatric patients with myotonic

dystrophy type 1. Korean J Pediatr [Internet]. 2019 Feb [cited 2020 Mar 26];62(2):55–61. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30304901

- 8. Hamshere MG, Harley H, Harper P, Brook JD, Brookfield JFY. Myotonic dystrophy: The correlation of (CTG) repeat length in leucocytes with age at onset is significant only for patients with small expansions. J Med Genet. 1999;36(1):59–61.
- 9. Merlevede K, Vermander D, Theys P, Legius E, Ector H, Robberecht W. Cardiac involvement and CTG expansion in myotonic dystrophy. J Neurol. 2002;249(6):693–8.
- 10. Gharehbaghi-Schnell EB, Finsterer J, Korschineck I, Mamoli B, Binder BR. Genotype-phenotype correlation in myotonic dystrophy. Clin Genet. 1998 Jan;53(1):20–6.
- 11. Ballester-Lopez A, Koehorst E, Almendrote M, Martínez-Piñeiro A, Lucente G, Linares-Pardo I, et al. A DM1 family with interruptions associated with atypical symptoms and late onset but not with a milder phenotype. Hum Mutat [Internet]. 2020;41(2):420–31. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/humu.23932
- 12. Pešović J, Perić S, Brkušanin M, Brajušković G, Rakoč Ević -Stojanović V, Savić-Pavić Ević D. Repeat interruptions modify age at onset in myotonic dystrophy type 1 by stabilizing DMPK expansions in somatic cells. Front Genet [Internet]. 2018 Nov 27 [cited 2020 Oct 22];9:1–14. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30546383/
- 13. Cumming SA, Hamilton MJ, Robb Y, Gregory H, McWilliam C, Cooper A, et al. De novo repeat interruptions are associated with reduced somatic instability and mild or absent clinical features in myotonic dystrophy type 1. Eur J Hum Genet [Internet]. 2018 Jul 2 [cited 2018 Aug 21]; Available from: http://www.nature.com/articles/s41431-018-0156-9
- Coté C, Hiba B, Hebert LJ, Vial C, Remec JF, Janier M, et al. MRI of tibialis anterior skeletal muscle in myotonic dystrophy type 1. Can J Neurol Sci [Internet]. 2011 Jan 1 [cited 2020 Oct 22];38(1):112– 8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/21156439/
- Iachettini S, Valaperta R, Marchesi A, Perfetti A, Cuomo G, Fossati B, et al. Tibialis anterior muscle needle biopsy and sensitive biomolecular methods: A useful tool in myotonic dystrophy type 1. Eur J Histochem [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2020 Oct 23];59(4):243–9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26708183/
- 16. Morales F, Couto JM, Higham CF, Hogg G, Cuenca P, Braida C, et al. Somatic instability of the expanded CTG triplet repeat in myotonic dystrophy type 1 is a heritable quantitative trait and modifier of disease severity. Hum Mol Genet [Internet]. 2012 Aug 15 [cited 2020 Mar 26];21(16):3558–67. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22595968
- 17. Chong-Nguyen C, Wahbi K, Algalarrondo V, Bécane HM, Radvanyi-Hoffman H, Arnaud P, et al. Association between Mutation Size and Cardiac Involvement in Myotonic Dystrophy Type 1: An Analysis of the DM1-Heart Registry. Circ Cardiovasc Genet [Internet]. 2017 Jun 1 [cited 2020 Mar 26];10(3). Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28611030
- Groh WJ, Groh MR, Shen C, Monckton DG, Bodkin CL, Pascuzzi RM. Survival and CTG repeat expansion in adults with myotonic dystrophy type 1. Muscle and Nerve [Internet]. 2011 May [cited 2020 Mar 26];43(5):648–51. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21484823
- 19. Miller SA, Dykes DD, Polesky HF. A simple salting out procedure for extracting DNA from human nucleated cells. Nucleic Acids Res. 1988 Feb 11;16(3):1215.
- Cumming SA, Jimenez-Moreno C, Okkersen K, Wenninger S, Daidj F, Hogarth F, et al. Genetic determinants of disease severity in the myotonic dystrophy type 1 OPTIMISTIC cohort. Neurology [Internet]. 2019 Sep 3 [cited 2020 Mar 27];93(10):e995–1009. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/31395669
- 21. Gomes-Pereira M, Bidichandani SI, Monckton DG. Analysis of unstable triplet repeats using smallpool polymerase chain reaction. Methods Mol Biol. 2004;277:61–76.

Supplementary Materials



Supplementary Figure 1. Representative SP-PCR gel with the different CTG size measurements. Analysis of the CTG repeat number estimates of patient P6 in blood, muscle and skin. Progenitor allele size (yellow), presumable inherited from the previous generation, is measured considering the shortest CTG size that is more represented in the four replicates. The estimated mode allele size (white) is measured based on the most abundant bands present in the four replicates. The longest CTG size (red) is calculated considering the highest intense signal present in the sample. M = molecular weight ladder; WT= wild type.



Supplementary Figure 2. CTG size allele distribution in blood of the patient carrying interruptions vs one patient carrying pure repeats. M = molecular weight ladder.



Chapter III

A DM1 Family with Interruptions Associated with Atypical Symptoms and Late Onset but not with a Milder Phenotype

Alfonsina Ballester-Lopez^{1,2}, Emma Koehorst¹, Miriam Almendrote^{1,3}, Alicia Martínez-Piñeiro^{1,3}, Giuseppe Lucente^{1,3}, Ian Linares-Pardo¹, Judit Núñez-Manchón¹, Nicolau Gyanyabens³, Antoni Cano⁴, Alejandro Lucia^{5,6}, Gayle Overend⁷, Sarah A Cumming⁷, Darren G Monckton⁷, Teresa Casadevall⁸, Irina Isern⁹, Josep Sánchez-Ojanguren⁹, Albert Planas¹⁰, Agustí Rodríguez-Palmero^{1,11}, Laura Monlleó-

Neila^{1,11}, Guillem Pintos-Morell^{1,2,12}, Alba Ramos Fransi^{1,3}, Jaume Coll-Cantí^{1,2,3}, Gisela Nogales-Gadea^{1,2}

¹ Neuromuscular and Neuropediatric Research Group, Institut d'Investigació en Ciències de la Salut Germans Trias i Pujol, Campus Can Ruti, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, Badalona, Spain. ² Centro de Investigación Biomédica en Red de Enfermedades Raras (CIBERER), Instituto de Salud Carlos III, Madrid, Spain. ³ Neuromuscular Pathology Unit, Neurology Service, Neuroscience Department, Hospital Universitari Germans Trias i Pujol, Barcelona, Spain. ⁴ Neurology Unit, Neuroscience Department, Hospital de Mataró, Barcelona, Spain. ⁵ Universidad Europea (Faculty of Sport Sciences), Madrid, Spain. ⁶ Instituto de Investigación Hospital 12 de Octubre (i+12), Madrid, Spain. ⁷ Institute of Molecular, Cell and Systems Biology, College of Medical, Veterinary and Life Sciences, University of Glasgow, Glasgow, UK. ⁸ Neurology Service, Hospital Comarcal Sant Jaume de Calella, Barcelona, Spain. ⁹ Unitat de Neurologia, Hospital de l'Esperit Sant, Barcelona, Spain. ¹⁰ Servei de medicina interna, Secció de neurologia, Hospital Municipal de Badalona, Barcelona, Spain. ¹¹ Neuropediatric Unit, Pediatric Service, Hospital Universitari Germans Trias i Pujol, Barcelona, Spain. ¹² Division of Rare Diseases, University Hospital Vall d'Hebron, Barcelona, Spain

Hum Mutat. 2020;41(2):420-31.

Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/humu.2393



Received: 21 August 2018 | Revised: 18 September 2019 | Accepted: 6 October 2019

DOI: 10.1002/humu.23932

RESEARCH ARTICLE

Human Mutation

A DM1 family with interruptions associated with atypical symptoms and late onset but not with a milder phenotype

Alfonsina Ballester-Lopez^{1,2}* | Emma Koehorst¹* | Miriam Almendrote^{1,3} | Alicia Martínez-Piñeiro^{1,3} | Giuseppe Lucente^{1,3} | Ian Linares-Pardo¹ | Judit Núñez-Manchón¹ | Nicolau Guanyabens³ | Antoni Cano⁴ | Alejandro Lucia^{5,6} | Gayle Overend⁷ | Sarah A. Cumming⁷ | Darren G. Monckton⁷ | Teresa Casadevall⁸ | Irina Isern⁹ | Josep Sánchez-Ojanguren⁹ | Albert Planas¹⁰ | Agustí Rodríguez-Palmero^{1,11} | Laura Monlleó-Neila^{1,11} | Guillem Pintos-Morell^{1,2,12} | Alba Ramos-Fransi^{1,3} | Jaume Coll-Cantí^{1,2,3} | Gisela Nogales-Gadea^{1,2}

¹Neuromuscular and Neuropediatric Research Group, Institut d'Investigació en Ciències de la Salut Germans Trias i Pujol, Campus Can Ruti, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, Badalona, Spain

²Centro de Investigación Biomédica en Red de Enfermedades Raras (CIBERER), Instituto de Salud Carlos III, Madrid, Spain

³Neuromuscular Pathology Unit, Neurology Service, Neuroscience Department, Hospital Universitari Germans Trias i Pujol, Barcelona, Spain

⁴Neurology Unit, Neuroscience Department, Hospital de Mataró, Barcelona, Spain

⁵Universidad Europea (Faculty of Sport Sciences), Madrid, Spain

⁶Instituto de Investigación Hospital 12 de Octubre (i+12), Madrid, Spain

⁷Institute of Molecular, Cell and Systems Biology, College of Medical, Veterinary and Life Sciences, University of Glasgow, Glasgow, UK

⁸Neurology Service, Hospital Comarcal Sant Jaume de Calella, Barcelona, Spain

⁹Unitat de Neurologia, Hospital de l'Esperit Sant, Barcelona, Spain

¹⁰Servei de medicina interna, Secció de neurologia, Hospital Municipal de Badalona, Barcelona, Spain

¹¹Neuropediatric Unit, Pediatric Service, Hospital Universitari Germans Trias i Pujol, Barcelona, Spain

¹²Division of Rare Diseases, University Hospital Vall d'Hebron, Barcelona, Spain

Correspondence

Gisela Nogales-Gadea, Grup de Recerca en Malalties Neuromusculars i Neuropediatriques, Institut d'Investigació en Ciències de la Salut Germans Trias i Pujol. Ctra. de Can Ruti, Camí de les Escoles, s/n 08916 Badalona (Barcelona), Spain. Email: gnogales@igtp.cat

Funding information

Agència de Gestió d'Ajuts Universitaris i de Recerca, Grant/Award Number: FI_B 01090; AFM-Téléthon, Grant/Award Number: #21108; "la Caixa" Foundation, Grant/Award Number: LCF/BQ/IN18/11660019; Instituto de Salud Carlos III, Grant/Award Numbers: CM16/00016, CP14/00032, CPI19/00021, PI15/00558, PI15/01756, PI18/00713

Abstract

Carriage of interruptions in CTG repeats of the myotonic dystrophy protein kinase gene has been associated with a broad spectrum of myotonic dystrophy type 1 (DM1) phenotypes, mostly mild. However, the data available on interrupted DM1 patients and their phenotype are scarce. We studied 49 Spanish DM1 patients, whose clinical phenotype was evaluated in depth. Blood DNA was obtained and analyzed through triplet-primed polymerase chain reaction (PCR), long PCR-Southern blot, small pool PCR, *Acil* digestion, and sequencing. Five patients of our registry (10%), belonging to the same family, carried CCG interruptions at the 3'-end of the CTG expansion. Some of them presented atypical traits such as very late onset of symptoms (> 50 years) and a severe axial and proximal weakness requiring walking assistance. They also showed classic DM1 symptoms including cardiac and respiratory dysfunction, which were severe in some of them. Sizes and interrupted allele patterns were determined,

*Alfonsina Ballester-Lopez and Emma Koehorst contributed equally to this work.

Human Mutation. 2019;1-12.

wileyonlinelibrary.com/journal/humu

© 2019 Wiley Periodicals, Inc. 1

² WILEY-Human Mutation

and we found a contraction and an expansion in two intergenerational transmissions. Our study contributes to the observation that DM1 patients carrying interruptions present with atypical clinical features that can make DM1 diagnosis difficult, with a later than expected age of onset and a previously unreported aging-related severe disease manifestation.

KEYWORDS

atypical symptoms, interruptions, late onset, myotonic dystrophy type **1**, severe phenotype, Steinert disease, variant repeats

1 | INTRODUCTION

Myotonic dystrophy type 1 (DM1, Steinert disease; MIM# 160900) is a multisystemic disorder with an overall estimated prevalence of 1:8000 (Harper PS, 2001), being the most common form of inherited muscular dystrophy in adults. DM1 patients show wide phenotypic heterogeneity, not only in the age of onset but also in severity and type of clinical manifestation. DM1 patients can be broadly divided into five subtypes based mainly on their age of onset: congenital (<1 month), childhood (1 month-10 years), juvenile (10-20 years), adulthood/classic (20-40 years), or late onset (>40 years; De Antonio et al., 2016). Classic DM1 symptoms include muscle weakness, myotonia, respiratory failure, cardiac conduction defects, cataracts, and endocrine disturbances. The younger subtypes, congenital and childhood onset, are characterized primarily by cognitive and learning abnormalities (Douniol et al., 2012; Meola & Cardani, 2015).

DM1 is an autosomal dominant disorder caused by a CTG expansion in the 3' untranslated region of the myotonic dystrophy protein kinase (DMPK) gene. Unaffected individuals carry 5-35 CTG repeats whereas individuals carrying between 35 and 50 repeats are usually asymptomatic. Yet in the latter, DMPK alleles have a higher mutation rate and are labeled as "pre-mutational alleles" (Imbert, Kretz, Johnson, & Mandel, 1993). The length of the CTG expansion varies widely between patients, ranging from 50 to thousands of CTGs and has been associated with age of symptom onset and severity (Groh et al., 2011: Logigian et al., 2004), A CTG repeat size ≤150 CTGs, ≤1,000 CTGs and >1000 CTGs is common to late onset, adulthood/classic and congenital DM1, respectively (Meola & Cardani, 2015). However, a high individual variability exists among DM1 patients of the same subtype and thus caution is needed when using CTG expansion length to predict disease progression. For instance, congenital cases have been found with CTG repeat lengths clearly below 1,000 CTG repeats (Tsilfidis, MacKenzie, Mettler, Barceló, & Korneluk, 1992) and late onset DM1 cases have been reported with over 1,000 CTG repeats (Clark, Petty, & Strong, 1998). Another feature of the disease that makes it difficult to infer potential genotype/phenotype correlations is the presence of "somatic mosaicism." Indeed, the CTG expansion is highly unstable in both germline and somatic cells, and this instability persists through the lifetime of the patient. Thus, the CTG repeat size of a given patient represents the mean value for different CTG repeat

sizes, which in turn can vary depending on the age at which the patient is studied. These potential confounders for sizing CTG repeat makes it difficult to find genotype-phenotype correlations for DM1. In this respect, estimating the inherited allele length has proven to be a more accurate predictor of potential genotype-phenotype correlations in this disease. (Higham, Morales, Cobbold, Haydon, & Monckton, 2012; Morales et al., 2012).

Because the aforementioned fact that CTG expansion instability is also present in germline cells, new alleles with different CTG repeat sizes are constantly generated and children may inherit CTG repeat sizes considerably longer than those found in the transmitting parent. This leads to the so-called "anticipation" phenomenon, which occurs in DM1 and in other triplet disorders, and is characterized by the fact that the disease may develop earlier in life in each successive generation (Harper, Harley, Reardon, & Shaw, 1992). In DM1, the sex of the transmitting parent plays an important role in anticipation, although both paternal and maternal transmission have been described. The paternal allele seems more unstable and leads more frequently to higher expansions in offspring, especially with CTG expansions below 100 repeats (Ashizawa et al., 1994). However, very large expansions causing congenital DM1 are transmitted almost exclusively by affected mothers (Harley et al., 1993), with few exceptions reported (Di Costanzo et al., 2009; Zeesman, Carson, & Whelan, 2002). In contrast, the congenital form is frequently observed after transmission from mothers who are carriers of more than 500 CTG repeats. Contractions of the CTG expansion upon transmission have also been reported, with a higher estimated prevalence in paternal transmission compared with maternal transmissions (6.7 vs. 19.5%; López de Munain et al., 1996).

In most cases, the CTG expansion in expanded *DMPK* alleles is an uninterrupted sequence. However, in the last decade, pathological variant expansions containing unstable CCG, CTC, GGC, and CAG sequence interruptions at the 3' and 5' ends of the *DMPK* allele have been reported, with a prevalence of 3–5% among DM1 (Botta et al., 2017; Braida et al., 2010; Cumming et al., 2018; Musova et al., 2009; Pešović et al., 2017; Santoro et al., 2013; Tomé et al., 2018). In addition, intergenerational transmissions typically lead to smaller CTG expansions when compared with noninterrupted DM1 families, suggesting a stabilizing effect of the expansion on germline transmission (Botta et al., 2017; Pešović et al., 2017; Tomé et al., 2018). These findings might also explain why no congenital cases have been described in maternal transmission of interrupted alleles.

Most of the phenotype consequences of interruptions remain poorly understood and vary considerably between studies, ranging from a complex neurological phenotype to a later age of onset (Botta et al., 2017; Braida et al., 2010; Cumming et al., 2018; Santoro et al., 2015; Musova et al., 2009; Pešović et al., 2017). There is an urgent need to determine the phenotypes that associate with the subset of DM1 patients presenting with interruptions. This information is required for patient management, genetic counseling and future clinical trials. In the literature, only a few families and some isolated cases have been described, and their reported clinical data are scarce. In the present study, we have analyzed a large cohort of Spanish DM1 patients belonging to several families. Our aim was to identify DM1 patients carrying variant repeats and to perform an indepth analysis of their clinical phenotypes. This might help to gain insight into the modifying effect that these repeat interruptions could have in DM1 diagnosis, clinical manifestation, and patient follow-up.

2 | MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 | Editorial policies and ethical considerations

This study was approved by the ethics committee of the University Hospital *Germans Trias i Pujol* (ref. PI-15–129) and was performed in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki for Human Research. Written informed consent was obtained from all the participants.

2.2 | Participants

Forty-nine DM1 patients belonging to 36 different families who were evaluated in our center during the 2015–2018 period participated in this study. Clinical and genetic information was collected and stored in a secure registry. Their clinical phenotype was evaluated by the neurologists of our team. Muscle strength was assessed using the manual Medical Research Council (MRC) scale. The most recent ophthalmological, cardiological and respiratory examinations carried out by the corresponding specialists were reviewed, as well as blood analyses, electrocardiograms, echocardiograms, and functional respiratory and swallowing tests. Functional status and disability were assessed using the Muscular Impairment Rating Scale (MIRS), the modified Rankin Scale (mRS), and the Rasch-Built Myotonic Dystrophy type 1 activity and participation scale (DM1-Activ).

2.3 | DNA extraction and bidirectional tripletprimed polymerase chain reaction (TP-PCR)

Total genomic DNA was extracted from peripheral blood samples, as previously described (Miller, Dykes, & Polesky, 1988). To assess the size and the presence of interruptions in the expanded allele, all DM1 blood DNA samples were analyzed by bidirectional TP-PCR. TP-PCR was performed with primers DM1for-FAM, DM1-CAG-rev, and P3 at the 5'-end of the CTG expansion, or DM1rev-FAM, DM1-CTG-for, and P3 at the 3'-end of the CTG expansion, as previously described by Radvansky, Ficek, Minarik, Palffy, and Kadasi (2011). Both

Human Mutation-WILEY

TP-PCRs (5' and 3') were performed with 100 ng of genomic DNA, 10× PCR Buffer containing 15 mM of MgCl₂, 10 nM of dNTP mixture, 0.5 U of TaKaRa DNA polymerase (TaKaRa, Kusatsu, Japan), 3% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), and 0.2 μ M of each primer. PCR amplification conditions were the same for both TP-PCRs: initial denaturation at 94°C for 5 min, followed by 34 cycles at 94°C for 1 min, 65°C for 1 min, and 72°C for 2 min and a final extension step at 72°C for 7 min. Correct amplification was assessed on a 2% agarose gel. PCR products were separated on an ABI PRISM 3130 Genetic Analyzer (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, EEUU) and data were analyzed with PeakScanner Software v1.0 (Applied Biosystems).

2.4 | Acil digestion and Southern blot

We used a digestion with *Acil* and Southern blot-long PCR strategy to determine the presence of interruptions of the CCG/CGG type. DNA (100 ng) was amplified using the primers MDY1D-F GCTCGAA GGGTCCTTGTAGCCG and DM1-rev GTGCGTGGAGGATGGAAC. The conditions of the long PCR were as follows: initial denaturation at 94°C for 4 min, followed by 35 cycles of denaturation at 94°C for 30 s and annealing-extension at 65°C for 7 min. The final extension was performed at 65°C for 10 min. Fifty microliters of long PCR products were divided into two parts, one digested with *Acil* and the other not digested. An aliquot $(10 \, \mu)$ of each sample was resolved in an agarose gel and the products were detected by Southern blot hybridization. A DIG-labeled LNA probe (5'-gcAgCagcAgCagCagCagcAgca-3', with lower and upper-case letters representing an unmodified and an LNA nucleotide, respectively) was used to detect the expansions through chemiluminescence.

2.5 | Sequencing

To determine the pattern of the interruptions we first amplified the DNA using primers GC1_CC, GC1_CCG, P2-rev, and P3, as described elsewhere (Pešović et al., 2017). Products were resolved in a 3% agarose gel and purified using QIAquick gel extraction kit (Werfen, Barcelona, Spain). Purified products were sequenced with BigDye™ Terminator v3.1 Cycle Sequencing Kit (Applied Biosystems). Sequences were analyzed with Chromas version 2.6.2. The *DMPK* gene reference sequence used was NG_009784.1.

2.6 | Small pool PCR and Acil digestion

To estimate the length of the expanded progenitor allele (ePAL), smallpool PCR (SP-PCR) was carried out using flanking primers DM-C and DM-DR as previously described (Gomes-Pereira, Bidichandani, & Monckton, 2004; Monckton, Wong, Ashizawa, & Caskey, 1995). PCR was performed using Custom PCR Master Mix (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, EEUU) supplemented with 69 mM 2-mercaptoethanol, and Taq polymerase (Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, UK) at 1 unit per 10 µl. All reactions were supplemented with 5% DMSO and the annealing temperature was 63.5°C. DNA fragments were resolved by

▲ WILEY-Human Mutation

electrophoresis on a 1% agarose gel, and Southern blot hybridized as described (Gomes-Pereira et al., 2004; Monckton et al., 1995). Autoradiographic images were scanned and ePAL estimated from the lower boundary by comparison against the molecular weight ladder, using CLIQS 1D gel analysis software (TotalLab, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK). To analyze again the presence of CCG or CGG variant repeats, an additional step was added to the SP-PCR protocol. PCR products were purified using the QIAquick (Qiagen, Venlo, the Netherlands) PCR purification kit and split into two aliquots, one of which was digested with *Acil*. They were then resolved and blotted as before.

3 | RESULTS

3.1 | Clinical phenotypes

Five of 49 DM1 patients (~10%) were found to have interruptions in the 3'-end of the CTG expansion. They belonged to the same family (Figure 1). Patient P1, P2, and P3 are sisters who paternally inherited the disease, and patient P4 is the son of P2 (Figure 1) whereas patient P5 is the daughter of P3. A summary of their clinical characteristics is shown in Table 1.

Patient P1 is the oldest of the siblings, and currently the most severely affected of all five patients. The first symptom she reported was a weakness at the age of 52. Subsequently, she developed a generalized weakness, which interfered with her ability to cope with daily life activities. We studied her when she was 72-year-old and the most striking feature upon clinical examination was a severe axial weakness with dropped-head. The patient also presented with mild weakness in the upper and lower limbs, with only little myotonia. Another remarkable fact was that she had moderate facial weakness, but almost no ptosis and no temporal atrophy. She also presented with bilateral cataracts, dysphagia for liquids and frontal baldness. She had a heart pacemaker implanted since the age of 71 and used nocturnal noninvasive mechanical ventilation, and had no cognitive impairment.

Patient P2: Symptoms started at the age of 50 with mild fatigue and myotonia. At the moment of inclusion in the study (aged 62), the clinical examination revealed the only mild weakness of the neck flexor muscles, with mild handgrip myotonia and minimum ptosis. Complementary explorations showed a first-degree atrioventricular block and low values of maximum inspiratory and expiratory pressure (38% and 22% of normal, respectively), and of both forced vital capacity (81%) and expiratory volume in 1s (96%). The patient presented with bilateral cataracts and severe baldness. No limb weakness, dysphagia or cognitive impairment was found.

Patient P3: The first sign reported was handgrip myotonia in her fifties. At the moment of examination (age 60) she also had a severe axial weakness with mild proximal limb weakness and moderate distal weakness. Like her oldest sister (Patient P1), she had a moderate facial weakness with no ptosis or temporal atrophy. She also presented with bilateral cataracts, frontal baldness, and dysphagia for liquids. Cardiological studies revealed a first-degree atrioventricular block. No respiratory or cognitive involvement was found.

Patient P4: This male patient (aged 35 years) carrying an interrupted allele was asymptomatic upon clinical examination and had no detectable myotonia or cardiac alterations.

Patient P5: She was diagnosed at the age of 25 based on the family history, although clinical manifestation did not start until 2 years later, starting with handgrip myotonia. At the moment of assessment (age 32) she presented with mild neck flexor and facial weakness and handgrip and percussion myotonia, without limb weakness. She has a first-degree atrioventricular block and cataracts, but no respiratory impairment.

3.2 | Molecular analysis of interruptions

Interrupted alleles were first detected as gaps in the pattern of contiguous peaks detectable by capillary electrophoresis by 3' TP-PCR (Figure 2). Patients P2 and P4 showed a similar interruption pattern, whereas P1, P3, and P5 showed different interruption patterns (Figure 2). No alterations were found with 5' TP-PCR (Figure S1).

We performed an Acil digestion of PCR products to test for the presence of CCG or GGC variant repeats in patients P1–P5. In all these patients, the results showed a downward shift of the smear in the gel of the digested product compared with the nondigested product (Figure 3). This indicated that Acil had cleaved the PCR product and the interruption was likely either a CCG or a GGC triplet. In addition, since the bidirectional TP-PCR performed in the entire cohort was limited to the outer regions of the CTG expansion, we performed an Acil digestion in the entire DM1 cohort to search for possible undetected CCG or GGC interruptions in the middle



FIGURE 1 Pedigree of the interrupted patients in our cohort. CTG, number of repeats in CTG; P1, patient P1; P2, patient P2; P3, patient P3; P4, patient P4; P5, patient P5. The father of P1, P2, and P3 died (sudden cardiac death)

BALLES	TER-LO	PEZ	ЕT	AL
--------	--------	-----	----	----

Human Mutation-WILEY

TABLE 1 Clinical characte	ristics of the interrupte	ed cases			
	P1	P2	P3	P4	P5
Sex	Female	Female	Female	Male	Female
Age of onset (years)	52	50	50	Asymptomatic	27
Age of assessment (years)	72	62	60	35	32
Cardiopathy	Pacemaker	1st degree AV-block	1st degree AV-block	None	1st degree AV-block
Respiratory disturbance	Yes, nocturnal NMV	Alteration MIP and MEP	None	None	None
Dysphagia	Liquids	No	Liquids	None	None
Cognitive impairment	None	None	None	None	None
Cataracts	Yes	Yes	Yes	None	Yes
Metabolic disturbance	None	None	Hypothyroidism	None	None
Myotonia	Yes	Yes	Yes	None	Yes
Polyneuropathy	None	None	None	None	None
CK level	Normal	Normal	213 U/L	Normal	ND
Limb weakness					
Facial ptosis	Yes	Mild	Yes	None	Mild
Flexor/extensor neck	1 (Dropped head)	4	2	5	5
Axial weakness	Severe	None	Severe	None	None
Upper limb proximal (MRC)	4	5	4	5	5
Upper limb distal (MRC)	4	5	3	5	5
Lower limb proximal (MRC)	4	5	4	5	5
Lower limb distal (MRC)	4	5	3	5	5
6 MWT (m)	250	436	240	658	800
MIRS	4	2	4	1	2
mRS	3	1	3	0	2
DM1-Activ	23	37	23	40	39

Abbreviations: 6 MWT, six-minute walking test; AV, atrioventricular; CK, creatine kinase; DM1-Activ, Rasch-built myotonic dystrophy type 1 activity and participation scale; MEP, maximum expiratory pressure; MIP, maximum inspiratory pressure; MIRS, Muscular Impairment Rating Scale; mRS, modified Rankin Scale; MRC, Medical Research Council; ND, not determined; NMV, noninvasive mechanical ventilation.



FIGURE 2 Peak scan results of triplet-primed polymerase chain reaction (TP-PCR) of the 3'-end, obtained with DNA extracted from blood. Interruptions indicated by black box. P1, patient P1; P2, patient P2; P3, patient P3; P4, patient P4; P5, patient P5

WILEY-Human Mutation

region of the CTG expansion. No additional CCG or GGC interruptions were found in our 44 remaining DM1 patients.

Sequencing revealed the presence of several CCG interruptions in the CTG expansion of our five patients carrying interrupted alleles (Figure 4). The pattern of CCG interruptions was identical in the mother (patient P2) and son (P4), but different between all the other family members (patients P1, P3, and P5). In P1, we found some isolated CCG repeats scattered across the expansion. Patients $\ensuremath{\text{P2}}$ and P4 showed a complex CCG pattern, with one pair of CCGs together with other isolated CCG repeats. Patient P3 had a few CCGCTG hexamers, but inside of a more complex pattern including CCG interruptions in other positions. Patient P5 (the daughter of P3) showed a pattern similar to that of her mother with respect to the hexamers, but with some extra CCGs located in different positions, generating three consecutive CCG repeats. During the sequencing process, we purified different bands from the same patient to assess the influence of somatic instability in the interruption pattern (Figure 4b). In the different bands analyzed, the same pattern was observed in each patient.

SP-PCR (Figure 5) provided information on the repeat size of the ePAL for some of the patients: P1, 319 CTGs; P2, 241 CTGs; P4, 222 CTGs; P5, 547 CTGs. The expansion range due to the instability of the repeat was also determined: P1, 319-900 CTGs; P2, 241-651 CTGs; P4, 222-332 CTGs; and P5 = 547 to 897 CTGs. For patient P3, the expanded allele did not amplify well under these conditions, so it was not possible to determine the ePAL or expansion range. This may be due to the specific pattern of variant repeats present. However, in the SP-PCR we could amplify 368 CTGs, which was the only sizing of the expanded allele that we could make. Additionally, the type of interruptions was analyzed through Acil digestion in SP-PCR experiments, which again showed that the interruptions were of the CCG type (data not shown). By comparing the range of these bands, we could determine a contraction in the repeat size from patient P2 to P4 (i.e., from mother to son) but expansion from patient P3 to P5 (i.e., from mother to daughter). This expansion was also linked to anticipation, with an early age of onset for P5 when compared with her mother (P3).

4 | DISCUSSION

The effect of variant repeat patterns on the DM1 clinical phenotype is still unclear. On one hand, this genetic alteration has been shown to be associated (albeit in one family only) with a complex co-segregated neurological phenotype, including an intermediate Charcot-Marie-Tooth neuropathy, early hearing loss and encephalopathic attacks (Braida et al, 2010). In contrast, variant repeats have been associated with a milder or atypical phenotype, including a later age of onset (Cumming et al., 2018; Musova et al., 2009; Pešović et al., 2017), a DM2-like muscle phenotype (Pešović et al., 2017), as well as with an absence of muscular dystrophy (Musova et al., 2009) or central nervous system symptoms (Santoro, Masciullo, Silvestri, Novelli, & Botta, 2017). These reports have led to a tendency to believe that patients with interrupted alleles have some

atypical symptoms, but overall a milder phenotype than their agematched DM1 noninterrupted peers with a similar repeat length. In this respect, we had the unique possibility to study a family containing interrupted cases of whom three were aged above 60 years. In this regard, although our data were obtained in a small number of patients within the same family, our results support the occurrence of atypical DM1 features and late age of onset, but not of a milder phenotype in patients carrying interruptions.

Despite the fact that several of the classical symptoms of DM1 could be found in the three sisters—such as myotonia, cataracts, and cardiopathy—some peculiarities need to be highlighted. An atypical trait was the distribution pattern of muscle weakness in two of the sisters. Indeed, besides the distal limb weakness commonly found in DM1 patients, these two sisters presented with proximal limb weakness and severe axial involvement. One of them also had a dropped-head, which resembled limb-girdle muscle dystrophy and severely affected her ability to perform activities of daily living. Another atypical trait of these patients is that they did not have the typical myopathic face expected in DM1 patients, despite the presence of moderate facial weakness. Although the interrupted cases showed several classic DM1 symptoms, the presentation of atypical symptoms could interfere with (and thus delay) the diagnosis.

Based on the algorithm published by Morales et al (Morales et al., 2012), the ePAL of patients P1, P2 and the expanded allele size of P3 should be theoretically associated with an age of onset around 30 s whereas in our patients symptoms did not actually start until they were in their 50 s. In this regard, it should be first noted that it is very difficult to assess the age of onset in DM1 patients. The definition of age of onset refers to the age at which an individual starts to develop one or more clinical features or symptoms of a disease. In actual clinical practice, this depends on the capacity of the patient to report such symptoms or to remember the time when they started, and also



FIGURE 3 Southern blot of long polymerase chain reaction (PCR) products from patients carrying variant repeats. For each patient, we show two conditions: digestion with (+) and without (-) the enzyme *Acil* (recognizing the pattern CCGC). bp, base pairs; M, molecular weight marker; P1, patient P1; P2, patient P2; P3, patient P3; P4, patient P4; P5, patient P5; WT, wild type



FIGURE 4 Sequencing the interrupted alleles. (a) Schematic structure of *DMPK* expanded alleles of the interrupted DM1 family in our study. CTG repeats are shown in white, CCG repeats in black. Indicated size ranges were estimated by Southern blot analysis. (b) Cutting and purifying strategy for several bands of polymerase chain reaction product (indicated by arrows), from each interrupted patient, which are affected by somatic instability. (c) Sequences showing the CCG interruptions are marked by black rectangles. BI, PCR reaction with no DNA; M, molecular weight marker; P1, patient P1; P2, patient P2; P3, patient P3; P4, patient P4; P5, patient P5. The *DMPK* gene reference sequence used was NG_009784.1

on the ability of the physician to recognize them. Thus, the reported age of onset can be quite variable, depending on which symptoms are searched for by the physician and on the patient's own reports. Our patients P1-P3 (the three sisters) reported their first symptoms in their 50s (being myotonia, and difficulty to walk, the first abnormalities that made them suspect they had a major medical condition). Patient P4 was a 35-year-old and was still asymptomatic. Based on his ePAL length (222 CTGs), he should show a classic DM1 phenotype (Morales et al., 2012), but no signs could be detected upon neurological examination. This late onset of symptoms has been previously reported in interrupted DM1 families and seems to be a fingerprint for most of the cases (Botta et al., 2017).

In the family we studied, anticipation was observed in one of the two intergenerational transmissions that we assessed, since in the other intergenerational transmission one of the patients (P4) was still asymptomatic. In patient P5 (whose first symptom was myotonia, at the age of 27), we found a bigger size of the expansion and an earlier age of onset than her progenitor. Although this anticipation in interrupted families has been previously reported (Pešović et al., 2017), after reviewing all the published families (Table 2), we assessed anticipation in every single reported family. In the rest of intergenerational transmissions reported, and in the case of our patients P2 and P4, anticipation could not be assessed since patients in the next generation are still asymptomatic. The explanation for these findings is not apparent, since anticipation is not expected in these families; indeed, interruptions are thought to be related to a stabilization or even contraction of the pathological expansion (Braida et al., 2010; Cumming et al., 2018; Musova et al., 2009; Pešović et al., 2017; Tomé et al., 2018). However, anticipation was found in our studied intergenerational transmission, with this finding being also reported in other interrupted DM1 patients based on reported age of onset (Table 2). In our family, no

* WILEY-Human Mutation

BALLESTER-LOPEZ ET AL.



FIGURE 5 Small pool polymerase chain reaction from patients carrying variant repeats. For each patient, several lines show the normal and the expanded alleles. CTGs, number of repeats; P1, patient P1; P2, patient P2; P3, patient P3; P4, patient P4; P5, patient P5; WT allele, wild type allele

congenital, childhood or juvenile cases of DM1 were observed. Among the interrupted families reported in the literature (Table 2), at least three juvenile DM1 cases (age < 18 years) have been described (Braida et al., 2010; Pešović et al., 2017), but no congenital or childhood case. Thus, the absence of infantile DM1 seems also to be a distinctive trait for interrupted expansions.

The prevalence of interrupted alleles among our patients was ~10%, and 3% among the studied DM1 families. This is in overall agreement with previous studies in which the prevalence in families ranged from 3% to 5% (Botta et al., 2017; Braida et al., 2010; Musova et al., 2009; Pešović et al., 2017). The type of interruption present in our cohort was CCG, which is currently the most frequently reported variant repeat. However, the difficulties we experienced in characterizing the pattern of interruptions in our family members must be emphasized, with such difficulties mainly due to a technical limitation of TP-PCR and sequencing, which have a limited ability to detect interruptions deeper inside the expansion. In addition, characterization is affected by the PCR slippage and by somatic mosaicism (implying more noise in readouts and thus a higher difficulty to identify the interrupted pattern). Our sequences showed in some cases double peaks of C and T at the same position, and we decided to consider only those interruptions where the C peaks were above T in the electropherograms, which might have resulted in the loss of CCG interruptions in our patients' sequences. We sequenced several amplified bands coming from the same TP-PCR to determine whether somatic mosaicism was also affecting the pattern of CCG interruptions, but the same patterns were found in all the sequences. Despite the aforementioned limitations, we determined the interrupted pattern in all the studied family members. We observed a substantial change in the interruption pattern in every transmission, and the number and position of the CCGs changed in every generation, except for one intergenerational transmission. Thus, interruption patterns can be conserved or vary upon transmission. Both situations have been previously described in interrupted families (Musova et al., 2009; Pešović et al., 2017; Tomé et al., 2018). Our CCG interruptions were found in blocks of two or three (in hexamers of CCGCTG that were repeated two or three times), and also as isolated cases. Due to technical limitations, we cannot be certain that other interruptions are not present deeper in the CTG expansion. TP-PCR and sequencing allowed us to study the flanking regions of the CTG expansion, but the middle part remained undetected. We detected the contraction of the expansion between patients P2 and P4, but expansion between patients P3 and P5. Previous studies suggest that CTG expansion containing variant repeat patterns display more frequently stable, or even contracted, DMPK alleles instead of further expanded DMPK alleles (Cumming et al., 2018; Musova et al., 2009; Pešović et al., 2017; Tomé et al., 2018). However, some studies have also found the expansion of the interrupted alleles from one generation to the other (Braida et al., 2010; Cumming et al., 2018; Pešović et al., 2017). Perhaps these expansions are less frequent than in pure CTG expansions transmission, but they do occur. Therefore, caution is needed with genetic counseling with regard to prospective parents with DM1.

Our study contributes to the observation that DM1 patients carrying interruptions may have atypical symptoms that can make the diagnosis of DM1 difficult, with a later age of onset and a previously

$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	Article	Cases	Patient code	Age S	Age O	Relationship	Anticipation	Atypical findings in the examination	CTG repeats number	Type of interruption	STER-E
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Musova et al.	3 families									
And And And And And And And And And And	120071	Family A	A-1 (1741-1)	0		Fetus of A2			230	CTC and CCG	L1 742.
T-A3 23 23 24 25 0.0-800 Creation of Array Matchine 0.0-800 Creation of Creatin of Creatin of Creation of Creatin of Creation of Creatin of Crea			(Fetus) A-2	31	·	Daughter of A4	SdN		300	CTC and CCG	
Turbulation Enclosing and second and the			A-3	23	1 0	Daughter of A4	NPS		400-500	CTC and CCG	
Area 32 Consistence of AS NBS NS CCC MAS NS CC			A 4 5	53 4	40 s 40 s	Brotner of A5 Sister of A4		Electromyography confirmed myotonia but no dystrophy	6UU-8UU 450-650	CTC and CCG	
Family B Filt of the state of			A-6	29		Daughter of A5	NPS		600-750	CTC and CCG	
Family b Ext Solution Maily b Ext Solution Monone eactory Monone			A-7	31	۱ ، ۲	Son of A5	NPS		270	CTC and CCG	
Family E E 1 20 1 years Scorio E 2 upper limes showed no mode arcohy, washenes or 43 CCC Bridda et al. 1 family E2 56 - Father of E1 A upper limes showed no mode arcohy, washenes or 43 CCC and CC Bridda et al. 1 family 1119 55 25 consin of III-17 construction 43 CCC and CC Roll 1 1116 57 44 Stater of III.17 construction 43 CCC and CC Roll 1 1116 57 44 Stater of III.16 A Charcot-Marte-Toch disease, acute encephalopathy, and 127 CCC and CCC CCC and CC Roll 1 61 3 Stater of III.16 A Charcot-Marte-Toch disease, acute encephalopathy, and 170° CCC and CCC Roll 1 61 3 Stater of III.16 A Charcot-Marte-Toch disease, acute encephalopathy, and 170° CCC and CCC Roll 1 61 3 Stater of III.17 A Charcot-Marte-Toch disease, acute encephalopathy, and 129° CCC and CCC CCC CCC and		Family B	B-1	У Х	40 s	Son of B2	SdN	No muscle weakness or muscle atrophy	400 400		
E.2 56 - Father of E1 A Wotolic reaction 43 CGS Darlia et al. 1 family 1 1 9 5 25 Countin of III-15 Charcot-Marte-Tooth disease, acute encephalopathy, and 229 CGS and GGC (2010) Family 1 11.9 55 25 Countin of III-15 Charcot-Marte-Tooth disease, acute encephalopathy, and 229 CGS and GGC Nu 19 37 20 Son of III-16 A Charcot-Marte-Tooth disease, acute encephalopathy, and 213" CGG and GGC Nu 19 37 20 Son of III-16 A Charcot-Marte-Tooth disease, acute encephalopathy, and 213" CGG and GGC Nu 19 37 20 Son of III-16 A Charcot-Marte-Tooth disease, acute encephalopathy, and 213" CGG and GGC Nu 21 31 31 211 A Charcot-Marte-Tooth disease, acute encephalopathy, and 213" CGG and GGC Family A A1 23 23 24 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25		Family E	E-1	20	1year^{a}	Son of E2		Upper limbs showed no muscle atrophy, weakness or	43	CCG	
Braitha et al. 1 family (2010) Family 1 119 55 25 Cosin of III-15 Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease, acute encephalopathy, and 22° CCG and GCC (2010) Family 1 119 57 24 Sister of III-15 Centron-Marie-Tooth disease, acute encephalopathy, and 170° CCG and GCC (2010) Family 1 119 37 20 Son of III-16 A Centron-Marie-Tooth disease, acute encephalopathy, and 127° CCG and GCC (11-17) 61 35 Sister of III-16 A Centron-Marie-Tooth disease, acute encephalopathy, and 127° CCG and GCC (11-17) 61 35 Sister of III-16 A Contron-Marie-Tooth disease, acute encephalopathy, and 127° CCG and GCC (11-17) 61 35 Sister of III-17 A Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease, acute encephalopathy, and 127° CCG and GCC (11-17) 11 11 A Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease, acute encephalopathy, and 127° CCG and GCC (11-17) 20 11 A Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease, acute encephalopathy, and 127° CCG and GCC </td <td></td> <td></td> <td>E-2</td> <td>56</td> <td>T</td> <td>Father of E1</td> <td>A</td> <td>myotonic reaction</td> <td>43</td> <td>CCG</td> <td></td>			E-2	56	T	Father of E1	A	myotonic reaction	43	CCG	
C000 Family 1 III 9 55 25 cousin of III-15 construct Marine Tooth disease, acute encephalopathy, and 22° CGC and GGC III-16 57 44 Sister of III-16 A Charoct-Marine Tooth disease, acute encephalopathy, and 21° CGC and GGC III-16 57 44 Sister of III-16 A Charoct-Marine Tooth disease, acute encephalopathy, and 213° CGC and GGC IV-19 37 20 Son of III-16 A Charoct-Marine Tooth disease, acute encephalopathy, and 213° CGC and GGC IIII-17 61 35 Sister of III-16 A Charoct-Marine Tooth disease, acute encephalopathy, and 213° CGC and GGC III-17 61 35 Sister of III-16 A Charoct-Marine Tooth disease, acute encephalopathy, and 213° CGC and GGC III-17 61 35 Sister of III-17 A Charoct-Marine Tooth disease, acute encephalopathy, and 213° CGC and GGC III-17 61 35 Sister of III-17 A Charoct-Marine Tooth disease, acute encephalopathy, and 213° CGC and GGC IIII-17 61 37	Braida et al.	1 family									
Family In:P 32 Constrict of IL:1 Constrif of IL:1 Constrict of IL:1 Const	(2010)	► setting L	c E	5	цс	21 III 31 - Titut O		Constraint Martin Transfer disconstruction	Pocc		
III-13 5.7 4.4 State of III-10 early maring loss NV-19 5.7 4.5 State of III-10 early maring loss NV-19 5.7 2.0 Son of III-16 A Caraver-Marie-Tookh disease, acute encephalopathy, and 213* CCG and GCC NV-19 5.7 2.8 Son of III-16 A Caraver-Marie-Tookh disease, acute encephalopathy, and 213* CCG and GCC NV-19 5.7 2.8 Son of III-16 A Caraver-Marie-Tookh disease, acute encephalopathy, and 179* CCG and GCC NV-12 3.8 5.8 Sister of III-16 A Caraver-Marie-Tookh disease, acute encephalopathy, and 179* CCG and GCC Botta et al. 2017 3 families A1 66 S8 Fanter of A2 Absence of myclo in and cataracts 220* CCG and GCC Family B 81 5.5 S1 Morter of C1 A Absence of mycle wakness and cataracts 230* CCG and GCC Family B 81 5.5 S1 Morter of C2 Absence of mycle wakness and cataracts 230* CCG and GCC Family B 81 5.5 Morter of C2 Absence of mycle wakness and cataracts 230* 250* 250* 250* C1		Family 1	۶-III	20	9	COUSIN OF III-1/		Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease, acute encephalopathy, and		ררה and ההר	
Image: Second Constraints Early Instring loss			III-16	57	44	and III-16 Sister of III-17		early hearing loss Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease acute encenhalopathy and	170 ^P	CCG and GGC	
N19 37 20 Son of III.16 A Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease, acute encephalopatity, and 213° CCG and GCC III.17 61 35 Sister of III.16 A Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease, acute encephalopatity, and 213° CCG and GCC IV.20 34 20 114 A Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease, acute encephalopatity, and 179° CCG and GCC Rota et al, 2017 3 families III.17 A Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease, acute encephalopatity, and 179° CCG and GCC Botta et al, 2017 3 families III.17 A Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease, acute encephalopatity, and 179° CCG and GCC Botta et al, 2017 3 families 23 D angitater of III.17 A Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease, acute encephalopatity, and 179° CCG and GCC Botta et al, 2017 3 families 213 D angitater of R11.17 A Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease, acute encephalopatity, and 179° CCG and GCC Family B 21 201 216 CCC CCC CCC CCC and GCC Family C C1 3 Absence of muscle weakness and cataracts <td< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>5</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>early hearing loss</td><td>2</td><td></td><td></td></td<>				5				early hearing loss	2		
IV20 31 24 Son of III.16 A Carcot-Marie-Tooth disease early hearing loss Carcot-Marie-Tooth disease and GGC Carcot-Marie-Tooth disease early hearing loss Carcot-Marie-Tooth disease and GGC Carcot-Marie-Tooth disease and CGC 213° CCG and GGC Botta et al., 2017 31 miles N/22 28 28 28 20° CCG and GGC Botta et al., 2017 31 miles A1 66 58 Eather of A2 Absence of muscle weakness 275° CCG and GGC Botta et al., 2017 31 miles A1 66 58 Eather of A2 Absence of muscle weakness 275°-640 CCG Family A A1 66 S5 51 Nother of B2 NPS 700-1400 CCG Family B B1 25 51 Nother of B2 NPS 700-1400 CCG Family C C1 58 51 Nother of B2 NPS 700-390 CCG Family C C1 58 0 NPS 700-390 CCG C017 Family DF1 DF1-1 57 400-550 CCG 700-590 C017 Family DF1 DF1-1 7 Absence of muscle weakness and cataracts 400-550 CCG C01			IV-19	37	20	Son of III-16	۲	Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease, acute encephalopathy, and	213 ^P	CCG and GGC	
Inv.20 34 5 and of III-10 A Curacon-Marter-Tooch disease, acute encephalopathy, and 179° Cura and GGC III-17 61 35 Sister of III-10 A Charcon-Marter-Tooch disease, acute encephalopathy, and 179° CGC and GGC IV.21 30 17# 50 01 01 17 CG CG and GGC IV.21 30 17# 50 01 01 17 CG CG and GGC Botta et al., 2017 3 families A1 66 58 Fanther of A1 A Charcot-Marter-Tooth disease 220° CGC and GGC Botta et al., 2017 3 families A2 33 31 Daughter of A1 A Charcot-Marter-Tooth disease 220° CGC and GGC Family B A2 33 31 Daughter of A1 A Absence of muscle weakness 375-640 CGC CGC Family B B1 55 51 Molter of B2 Absence of muscle weakness and cataracts 140 CGC Color C1 38 Absence of muscle weakness and cataracts 140 CGC Color C1 Absence of muscle weakness and cataracts 120 CGC C1 37 Daughter of C1 Absence of mus			00.74	č	č	, F 111 5 - 1 - 5		early hearing loss	Poro		
Mill Matrix			07-VI	5 r	24 25	SON OT III-10	¥	Charcot-Marie - Looth disease	213 170 ^P		
Iv21 30 174 Son of III-17 A Chartor-Marie-Tooth disease 220 ^b CCG and GCC Botta et al., 2017 3 families A2 38 Father of A1 A Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease 225 ^b CCG and GCC Botta et al., 2017 3 families A2 38 Father of A2 Absence of myotonia and cataracts 275-640 CCG 360 CCG A2 39 NA Feus of A2 Absence of myotonia and cataracts 275-640 CCG 360 CCG 360<			/T-III	10	ŝ	OT-III IN JAISIC		Citat cot-Marte-Tootii uisease, acute ericepriatopaury, artu	T/7	ררה מוח ההר	
Botta et al. 2017 3 families IV.22 28 25 Daughter of III-17 A Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease 225 CG and GGC Botta et al. 2017 3 families A2 38 Fatter of A2 Absence of myotonia and cataracts 1,000-1,400 CCG CCG CGG and GGC Family A A1 66 58 Fatter of A2 Absence of muscle weakness 475-640 CCG			IV-21	30	17#	Son of III-17	٩	early litearling ross Charcot-Maria-Tooth disease	220 ^P	CCG and GGC	
Botta et al. 2017 3 families Family A A1 66 58 Father of A2 Family A A1 66 58 Father of A2 Family B B1 55 31 Daughter of A1 A Family B B1 55 51 Mother of B2 Family C C1 28 - Dauther of B1 NPs Family C C1 28 - Dauther of C2 Absence of muscle weakness and cataracts Family DF1 DF1 1 57 39 Mother of C1 A Absence of muscle weakness and cataracts (2017) Family DF1 DF1 57 39 Mother of C1 A Absence of muscle weakness and cataracts (2017) Family DF1 DF1 57 39 Mother of DF1-3 DF2 0 Son of DF1-1 A Absence of muscle weakness and cataracts (2017) Family DF1 DF1 57 39 Mother of DF1-3 DF1 3 30 Son of DF1-1 A Absence of percusion myotonia, ptosis, cataracts, and DF1-2 37 30 Son of DF1-1 A Absence of percusion myotonia, ptosis, cataracts, and DF1 20 CCC			IV-22	28	25	Daughter of III-17	. ◄	Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease	225 ^P	CCG and GGC	
Family A A1 66 58 Father of A2 Absence of myotonia and cataracts 1,000-1,400 CCG A2 39 31 Daughter of A2 Absence of muscle weakness 475-440 CCG A2 39 31 Daughter of A2 Absence of muscle weakness 475-440 CCG B2 28 - Dauther of B1 NPS Absence of muscle weakness and cataracts 140 CCG Family C C1 58 Mother of C2 Absence of muscle weakness and cataracts 113 CCG C3 0 N/A Fetus of C2 Absence of muscle weakness and cataracts 113 CCG Pešović et al. 3 families 113 CCG CCG CCG CCG Pešović et al. 3 families 113 CCG Absence of muscle weakness and cataracts 113 CCG Pešović et al. 3 families 13 3 families 113 CCG CCG Pešović et al. 3 families 12 39 Mother of C1 A Absence of muscle weakness and cataracts 1100-1,200 CCG Pe	Botta et al., 2017	3 families									
Peiovic et al. 37 30 0.0 NA Eadigree of AL According to AL AC According to AL AC AC <tha< td=""><td></td><td>Family A</td><td>A1</td><td>99 20</td><td>58</td><td>Father of A2</td><td><</td><td>Absence of myotonia and cataracts</td><td>1,000-1,400</td><td></td><td>HU</td></tha<>		Family A	A1	99 20	58	Father of A2	<	Absence of myotonia and cataracts	1,000-1,400		HU
Family B B1 55 51 Mother of B2 B2 28 - Dauther of B1 NPs 240-930 CCG B2 28 - Dauther of B1 NPs 450-550 CCG C2 40 37 Daughter of C1 A Absence of muscle weakness and cataracts 140 CCG Peśović et al. 3 families (217) 40 NM Fetus of C2 Absence of muscle weakness and cataracts 113 CCG Peśović et al. 3 families 3 families 520-1,250 CCG CCG Peśović et al. 3 families 520-1,250 CCG CCG Absence of recussion myotonia, ptosis, cataracts, and 370-730 CCG DF1-2 37 30 Son of DF1-1 A Absence of recussion myotonia, ptosis, cataracts, and 370-730 CCG DF1-2 37 30 Son of DF1-1 A Absence of alf hypertrophy, suggesting DF1-2 37 30 Son of DF1-1 A Absence of alf hypertrophy, suggesting 270-730 CCG			43 43	0	N/A	Fetus of A2	£	AUSEILLE OF HIUSCLE WERKIESS	500 500		Im
Family C C1 58 8 Mother of B1 NPS 450-550 CCG 450-550 CCG 450-550 CCG 450-550 CCG 450 71 40 CCG 450 140 CCG 450 CCG 450 140 CCG 450 140 CCG 450 140 CCG 450 140 CCG 450 113 CC		Family B	B1	55	51	Mother of B2			740-930	CCG	an
Family DF1 57 37 Bugitter of C1 A Absence of muscle weakness and cataracts 111 CCG 000 Pešović et al. 3 families 13 23 90 N/A Fetus of C2 40 0000			B2	28	۱ د ب	Dauther of B1	NPS		450-550	000	W
Pešović et al. 3 families (2017) Family DF1 DF1-1 57 39 Mother of DF1-2 DF1-2 37 30 Son of DF1-1 A Absence of: percussion myotonia, ptosis, cataracts, and 370-730 CCG muscle wasting. Presence of calf hypertrophy, suggesting DM2 DM2 DM3			35	0 Q	0 F	Daughter of C1	٨	Absence of muscle weakness and cataracts Absence of muscle weakness and cataracts	121 121		ut
Pešović et al. 3 families (2017) Family DF1 DF1-1 57 39 Mother of DF1-2 520-1250 CCG and DF1-3 37 30 Son of DF1-1 A Absence of: percussion myotonia, ptosis, cataracts, and 370-730 CCG DF1-2 37 30 Son of DF1-1 A Muscle wasting. Presence of calf hypertrophy, suggesting DM2 DM2			ងប	- -	N/A	Fetus of C2	¢	Augules of the sector we called and call and	113		atio
Family DF1 DF1-1 57 39 Mother of DF1-2 520-1,250 CCG 520-1,250 CCG DF1-2 37 30 Son of DF1-1 A Absence of: percussion myotonia, ptosis, cataracts, and 370-730 CCG muscle wasting. Presence of calf hypertrophy, suggesting DM2 DM2	Pešović et al.	3 famílies									on-ì
DF1-2 37 30 Son of DF1-3 A Absence of: percussion myotonia, ptosis, cataracts, and 370-730 CCG AT muscle wasting. Presence of calf hypertrophy, suggesting DM2 DM2	(/INZ)	Family DF1	DF1-1	57	39	Mother of DF1-2			520-1 250	000	W
DF1-2 37 30 Son of DF1-1 A Absence of: percussion myotonia, ptosis, cataracts, and 370-730 CCG A muscle wasting. Presence of calf hypertrophy, suggesting DM2			-	ñ	5	and DF1-3)	IL
muscle wasung. Presence of call hypertrophy, suggesting			DF1-2	37	30	Son of DF1-1	A	Absence of: percussion myotonia, ptosis, cataracts, and	370-730	500	EY
								muscie wasung. Presence of call hypertrophy, suggesting			·

Article C		Dutiont							•
Article C		Laucht						CTG repeats	Type of
	ases	code	Age S	Age O	Relationship	Anticipation	Atypical findings in the examination	number	interruption
Ϋ́	amily DF2	DF1-3 DF2-1	30 45	15# 40	Son of DF1-1 Father of DF2-2	٩	Calf hypertrophy Similar involvement of both proximal and distal muscles and	450-970 320-600	500 500
		DF2-2	14	12#	Daughter of DF-1	٨	winging scapulae in the right side. Mild ptosis and mild percussion myotonia	200-240	500
μ	amily DF5	DF5-2	27	22	Sister of DF5-3		Normal strength of the sternocleidomastoid muscle and very mild myotonia	250-350	CTC
		DF5-3	22	21	Sister of DF5-2			300-620	Noninterrupted
Cumming et al. 3 (2018)	families								
ιί I	amily 1	14	25.5	۱ ۱	Daughter of 165	SdN	Absence of muscle weakness, myotonia, and cataracts	381 ^{ePAL}	
		165 165	20.2 29	28	son of 165 Brother of 83	¥		383 ^{ePAL}	Noninterrupted
		83	46	38	Brother of 165			105 ^{ePAL}	Noninterrupted
Ű	amily 2	182	35.5	I	Brother of 184	SdN	Absence of muscle weakness, mild masseter myotonia and	293 ^{ePAL}	500
		184	28	20	Brother of 182			288 ^{ePAL}	Noninterrupted
		206	70	60	Father of 182 and			90 ^{e PAL}	Noninterrupted
		242	65	QN	184 Sister of 206			80 ^{ePAL}	Noninterrupted
ũ	amily 3	15	39	I	Daughter of 234	NPS	No clinical apparent weakness or myotonia and no cataracts	303 ^{ePAL}	000
		54 234	9 Q	SS ON	Brother of 15 Father of 15 and			146 ^{epal} 496 ^{epal}	Noninterrupted Noninterrupted
					54				
Our study 1	family								
ш́	amily 1	Patient 1	72	52	Sister of Patient 2		Severe axial weakness with dropped-head. Mild weakness in	319 ^{ePAL}	000
					and 3		upper and lower limb muscles, with only little myotonia.		
							Moderate facial weakness, almost no ptosis, and no temporal atronby		
		Patient 2	62	50	Sister of Patient 1		Mild weakness of the neck flexor muscles, no limb weakness,	241 ^{ePAL}	CCG
					and 3		and minimum ptosis		
		Patient 3	60	50	Sister of Patient 1		Severe axial weakness, mild proximal limb weakness, and	368	000
					and 2		moderate distal weakness. Moderate facial weakness with		
			L				no ptosis or temporary atrophy	DOCOPAL	000
		Patient 4	35	1	Son of Patient 3	SHN		222	333
		Patient 5	32	27	Daughter of Patient 2	A	Mild neck flexor and facial weakness, but no limb weakness.	547 ^{epal}	000

¹⁰ WILEY-Human Mutation-

BALLESTER-LOPEZ ET AL.

BALLESTER-LOPEZ ET AL.

unreported aging-related severe disease manifestation. Indeed, some of our older patients needed mechanical ventilation and a pacemaker, and besides their cardiorespiratory problems, they had muscle weakness with subsequent impairment in daily life activities and walking ability. Despite the small sample size of our study sample, our results challenge the notion that interrupted patients who remain asymptomatic until their late 30s or 40s are not at risk for having a severe phenotype later in life. Indeed, our patients developed a classical DM1 phenotype after their 50s. These patients require clinical follow-up and genetic counseling similar to noninterrupted DM1 patients. In the family we studied, we found some characteristics that add to the current body of knowledge regarding interrupted families: a later age of onset, variation of CCG repeat pattern between intergenerational transmission. anticipation due to the earlier age of onset of symptoms in next generation and no cases of congenital or childhood onset of DM1. In addition, we have found other previously undescribed characteristics, such as a predominant axial weakness. However, the small number of interrupted patients present in the DM1 population makes it hard to perform genotype-phenotype correlations and there is still much uncertainty. Studies with larger DM1 cohorts, preferably with DM1 families, are needed to unravel the phenotypic consequences of variant repeat patterns and to study their effect on intergenerational transmissions of the DMPK expanded allele.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We gratefully acknowledge to other researchers in the Myotonic dystrophy type I for their insightful advices for sequencing interruptions and their discussions regarding clinical data. The research of Gisela Nogales-Gadea and Aleiandro Lucia is funded by Instituto de Salud Carlos III (grant numbers PI15/01756, PI15/00558, and PI18/00713) and co-financed by Fondos FEDER. Gisela Nogales-Gadea is supported by a Miguel Servet research contract (ISCIII CD14/00032, ISCIII CPII19/00021 and FEDER) and by a Trampoline Grant #21108 from AMF Telethon. Alfonsina Ballester-Lopez is funded by an FI Agaur fellowship ref. FI_B 01090. Emma Koehorst is funded by the "La Caixa" Foundation (ID 100010434), fellowship code LCF/BQ/IN18/11660019, cofunded by the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation program under the Marie Skłodowska-Curie grant agreement n°713673. Ian Linares-Pardo is funded by CP14/00032. Judit Núñez-Manchón is funded by AFM Telethon Trampoline Grant #21108. Giuseppe Lucente is supported by a Rio Hortega contract (ISCIII CM16/ 00016 and FEDER). Darren Monckton, Gayle Overend, and Sarah Cumming received funding from the Myotonic Dystrophy Support Group (UK). The funding bodies had no role in the design of the study and collection, analysis, and interpretation of data.

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

G. P.-M reports personal honoraria from Shire, and Sanofi-Genzyme, outside the submitted work. D. G. M. has been a scientific consultant and/or received honoraria or stock options from Biogen Idec, AMO Pharma, Charles River, Vertex Pharmaceuticals, Triplet Therapeutics, LoQus23, BridgeBio, Small Molecule RNA and Lion Therapeutics and he also had a research contract with AMO Pharma. The remaining coauthors declare no conflicts of interest.

ORCID

Alfonsina Ballester-Lopez 🕞 http://orcid.org/0000-0002-8922-1664 Emma Koehorst (b) http://orcid.org/0000-0002-8830-7941 Miriam Almendrote http://orcid.org/0000-0003-0212-275X Alicia Martínez-Piñeiro 🕞 http://orcid.org/0000-0003-1988-606X Giuseppe Lucente (b) http://orcid.org/0000-0003-1120-9136 lan Linares-Pardo 🕞 http://orcid.org/0000-0002-5725-1201 Judit Núñez-Manchón 🕞 http://orcid.org/0000-0001-5154-1454 Nicolau Guanyabens D http://orcid.org/0000-0002-2074-2744 Alejandro Lucia 🕞 http://orcid.org/0000-0002-3025-2060 Gayle Overend b http://orcid.org/0000-0003-4033-1747 Sarah A. Cumming D http://orcid.org/0000-0002-0201-3660 Darren G. Monckton D http://orcid.org/0000-0002-8298-8264 Agustí Rodríguez-Palmero 🕞 http://orcid.org/0000-0002-4141-5515 Guillem Pintos-Morell (D) http://orcid.org/0000-0002-9347-2386 Alba Ramos-Fransi 🕞 http://orcid.org/0000-0002-4114-4575 Jaume Coll-Cantí 🕞 http://orcid.org/0000-0001-7128-1186 Gisela Nogales-Gadea 🕞 http://orcid.org/0000-0002-7414-212X

REFERENCES

- Ashizawa, T., Anvret, M., Baiget, M., Barcel¢, J. M., Brunner, H., Cobo, A. M., & Harley, H. (1994). Characteristics of intergenerational contractions of the CTG repeat in myotonic dystrophy. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 54(3), 414–423.
- Botta, A., Rossi, G., Marcaurelio, M., Fontana, L., D'Apice, M. R., Brancati, F., & Novelli, G. (2017). Identification and characterization of 5' CCG interruptions in complex DMPK expanded alleles. *European Journal of Human Genetics*, 25(2), 257–261. https://doi.org/10.1038/ejhg.2016. 148
- Braida, C., Stefanatos, R. K. A., Adam, B., Mahajan, N., Smeets, H. J. M., Niel, F., & Monckton, D. G. (2010). Variant CCG and GGC repeats within the CTG expansion dramatically modify mutational dynamics and likely contribute toward unusual symptoms in some myotonic dystrophy type 1 patients. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 19(8), 1399–1412. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddq015
- Clark, C., Petty, R. K., & Strong, A. M. (1998). Late presentation of myotonic dystrophy. Clinical and Experimental Dermatology, 23(1), 47–48.
- Cumming, S. A., Hamilton, M. J., Robb, Y., Gregory, H., McWilliam, C., Cooper, A., & Monckton, D. G. (2018). De novo repeat interruptions are associated with reduced somatic instability and mild or absent clinical features in myotonic dystrophy type 1. *European Journal of Human Genetics*, 26(11), 1635–1647. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41431-018-0156-9
- De Antonio, M., Dogan, C., Hamroun, D., Mati, M., Zerrouki, S., & Eymard, B., French Myotonic Dystrophy Clinical Network. (2016). Unravelling the myotonic dystrophy type 1 clinical spectrum: A systematic registry-based study with implications for disease classification. *Revue Neurologique*, 172(10), 572–580. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.neurol.2016.08.003
- Di Costanzo, A., de Cristofaro, M., Di Iorio, G., Daniele, A., Bonavita, S., & Tedeschi, G. (2009). Paternally inherited case of congenital DM1: Brain MRI and review of literature. *Brain & Development*, 31(1), 79–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.braindev.2008.04.008
WILEY-Human Mutation

- Douniol, M., Jacquette, A., Cohen, D., Bodeau, N., Rachidi, L., Angeard, N., & Guilé, J.-M. (2012). Psychiatric and cognitive phenotype of childhood myotonic dystrophy type 1. *Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology*, 54(10), 905-911. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8749.2012.04379.x
- Gomes-Pereira, M., Bidichandani, S. I., & Monckton, D. G. (2004). Analysis of unstable triplet repeats using small-pool polymerase chain reaction. *Methods in Molecular Biology*, 277, 61–76. https://doi.org/10.1385/1-59259-804-8:061
- Groh, W. J., Groh, M. R., Shen, C., Monckton, D. G., Bodkin, C. L., & Pascuzzi, R. M. (2011). Survival and CTG repeat expansion in adults with myotonic dystrophy type 1. *Muscle & Nerve*, 43(5), 648–651. https://doi.org/10.1002/mus.21934
- Harley, H. G., Rundle, S. A., MacMillan, J. C., Myring, J., Brook, J. D., Crow, S., & Harper, P. S. (1993). Size of the unstable CTG repeat sequence in relation to phenotype and parental transmission in myotonic dystrophy. American Journal of Human Genetics, 52(6), 1164–1174.
- Harper, P. S., Harley, H. G., Reardon, W., & Shaw, D. J. (1992). Anticipation in myotonic dystrophy: New light on an old problem. *American Journal* of Human Genetics, 51(1), 10–16.
- Harper PS (2001). Major problems in neurology: Myotonic dystrophy (3rd ed.). London: WB Saunders.
- Higham, C. F., Morales, F., Cobbold, C. A., Haydon, D. T., & Monckton, D. G. (2012). High levels of somatic DNA diversity at the myotonic dystrophy type 1 locus are driven by ultra-frequent expansion and contraction mutations. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 21(11), 2450–2463. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/dds059
- Imbert, G., Kretz, C., Johnson, K., & Mandel, J. L. (1993). Origin of the expansion mutation in myotonic dystrophy. *Nature Genetics*, 4(1), 72–76. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng0593-72
- Logigian, E. L., Moxley, R. T., Blood, C. L., Barbieri, C. A., Martens, W. B., Wiegner, A. W., & Moxley, R. T. (2004). Leukocyte CTG repeat length correlates with severity of myotonia in myotonic dystrophy type 1. *Neurology*, *62*(7), 1081–1089.
- López de Munain, A., Cobo, A. M., Sáenz, A., Blanco, A., Poza, J. J., Martorell, L., & Baiget, M. (1996). Frequency of intergenerational contractions of the CTG repeats in myotonic dystrophy. *Genetic Epidemiology*, 13(5), 483-487. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1098-2272(1996)13:5<483::AID-GEPI4>3.0.CO;2-3
- Meola, G., & Cardani, R. (2015). Myotonic dystrophies: An update on clinical aspects, genetic, pathology, and molecular pathomechanisms. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta–Molecular Basis of Disease*, 1852(4), 594–606. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2014.05.019
- Miller, S. A., Dykes, D. D., & Polesky, H. F. (1988). A simple salting out procedure for extracting DNA from human nucleated cells. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 16(3), 1215.
- Monckton, D. G., Wong, L. J., Ashizawa, T., & Caskey, C. T. (1995). Somatic mosaicism, germline expansions, germline reversions and intergenerational reductions in myotonic dystrophy males: Small pool PCR analyses. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 4(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/4.1.1
- Morales, F., Couto, J. M., Higham, C. F., Hogg, G., Cuenca, P., Braida, C., & Monckton, D. G. (2012). Somatic instability of the expanded CTG triplet repeat in myotonic dystrophy type 1 is a heritable quantitative trait and modifier of disease severity. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 21(16), 3558–3567. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/dds185
- Musova, Z., Mazanec, R., Krepelova, A., Ehler, E., Vales, J., Jaklova, R., & Sedlacek, Z. (2009). Highly unstable sequence interruptions of the CTG

repeat in the myotonic dystrophy gene. American Journal of Medical Genetics, Part A, 149(7), 1365-1369. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.a.32987

- Pešović, J., Perić, S., Brkušanin, M., Brajušković, G., Rakočević-Stojanović, V., & Savić-Pavićević, D. (2017). Molecular genetic and clinical characterization of myotonic dystrophy type 1 patients carrying variant repeats within DMPK expansions. *Neurogenetics*, 18(4), 207–218. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10048-017-0523-7
- Radvansky, J., Ficek, A., Minarik, G., Palffy, R., & Kadasi, L. (2011). Effect of unexpected sequence interruptions to conventional PCR and repeat primed PCR in myotonic dystrophy type 1 testing. *Diagnostic Molecular Pathology: The American Journal of Surgical Pathology, Part B*, 20(1), 48–51. https://doi.org/10.1097/PDM.0b013e3181efe290
- Santoro, M., Masciullo, M., Silvestri, G., Novelli, G., & Botta, A. (2017). Myotonic dystrophy type 1: Role of CCG, CTC and CGG interruptions within DMPK alleles in the pathogenesis and molecular diagnosis. *Clinical Genetics*, 92(4), 355–364. https://doi.org/10.1111/cge.12954
- Santoro, M., Fontana, L., Masciullo, M., Bianchi, M. L. E., Rossi, S., Leoncini, E., & Silvestri, G. (2015). Expansion size and presence of CCG/CTC/CGG sequence interruptions in the expanded CTG array are independently associated to hypermethylation at the DMPK locus in myotonic dystrophy type 1 (DM1). *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, 1852(12), 2645-2652. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2015. 09.007
- Santoro, M., Masciullo, M., Pietrobono, R., Conte, G., Modoni, A., Bianchi, M. L. E., & Silvestri, G. (2013). Molecular, clinical, and muscle studies in myotonic dystrophy type 1 (DM1) associated with novel variant CCG expansions. *Journal of Neurology*, 260(5), 1245–1257. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s00415-012-6779-9
- Tomé, S., Dandelot, E., Dogan, C., Bertrand, A., Geneviève, D., Péréon, Y., & Gourdon, G. (2018). Unusual association of a unique CAG interruption in 5' of DM1 CTG repeats with intergenerational contractions and low somatic mosaicism. *Human Mutation*, 39(7), 970–982. https://doi. org/10.1002/humu.23531
- Tsilfidis, C., MacKenzie, A. E., Mettler, G., Barceló, J., & Korneluk, R. G. (1992). Correlation between CTG trinucleotide repeat length and frequency of severe congenital myotonic dystrophy. *Nature Genetics*, 1(3), 192-195. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng0692-192
- Zeesman, S., Carson, N., & Whelan, D. T. (2002). Paternal transmission of the congenital form of myotonic dystrophy type 1: A new case and review of the literature. *American Journal of Medical Genetics*, 107(3), 222–226.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found online in the Supporting Information section.

How to cite this article: Ballester-Lopez A, Koehorst E, Almendrote M, et al. A DM1 family with interruptions associated with atypical symptoms and late onset but not with a milder phenotype. *Human Mutation*. 2019;1–12. https://doi.org/10.1002/humu.23932

SUPPORTING INFORMATION



Supp. Figure S1: 5' TP-PCR analysis for the patients of this study.



Chapter IV

Three-dimensional Imaging in Myotonic Dystrophy Type 1

Linking Molecular Alterations with Disease Phenotype

Alfonsina Ballester-Lopez^{1,2}, Judit Núñez-Manchón¹, Emma Koehorst¹, Ian Linares-Pardo¹, Miriam

Almendrote^{1,3}, Giuseppe Lucente^{1,3}, Nicolau Guanyabens³, Marta Lopez-Osias¹, Adrián Suárez-Mesa¹, Shaliza Ann Hanick¹, Jakub Chojnacki⁴, Alejandro Lucia⁵, Guillem Pintos-Morell^{1,2,6}, Jaume Coll-Cantí^{1,2,3},

Alicia Martínez-Piñeiro^{1,3}, Alba Ramos-Fransi^{1,3}, Gisela Nogales-Gadea^{1,2}

¹ Neuromuscular and Neuropediatric Research Group, Institut d'Investigació en Ciències de la Salut Germans Trias i Pujol, Campus Can Ruti, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, 08916 Badalona, Barcelona, Spain. ² Centre for Biomedical Network Research on Rare Diseases (CIBERER), Instituto de Salud Carlos III, 28029 Madrid, Spain. ³ Neuromuscular disorders Unit. Neurology Service. Neuroscience department, Hospital Universitari Germans Trias i Pujol, 08916 Badalona, Barcelona, Spain. ⁴ IrsiCaixa AIDS Research Institute, 08916 Badalona, Barcelona, Spain. ⁵ Faculty of Sport Sciences, Madrid, Spain, & Instituto de Investigación Hospital 12 de Octubre (i+12), Universidad Europea, 28041 Madrid, Spain. ⁶ Division of Rare Diseases, Vall d'Hebron University Hospital, 08035 Barcelona, Spain

> Neurol Genet. 2020 Jul 21;6(4):e484. Available from: https://ng.neurology.org/content/6/4/e484



Three-dimensional imaging in myotonic dystrophy type 1

Linking molecular alterations with disease phenotype

Alfonsina Ballester-Lopez, MSc, Judit Núñez-Manchón, MSc, Emma Koehorst, MSc, Ian Linares-Pardo, Miriam Almendrote, MD, Giuseppe Lucente, MD, Nicolau Guanyabens, MD, Marta Lopez-Osias, BSc, Adrián Suárez-Mesa, MSc, Shaliza Ann Hanick, MSc, Jakub Chojnacki, PhD, Alejandro Lucia, MD, PhD, Guillem Pintos-Morell, MD, PhD, Jaume Coll-Cantí, MD, PhD, Alicia Martínez-Piñeiro, MD,* Alba Ramos-Fransi, MD, PhD,* and Gisela Nogales-Gadea, PhD*

Neurol Genet 2020;6:e484. doi:10.1212/NXG.000000000000484

Abstract

Objective

We aimed to determine whether 3D imaging reconstruction allows identifying molecular: clinical associations in myotonic dystrophy type 1 (DM1).

Methods

We obtained myoblasts from 6 patients with DM1 and 6 controls. We measured cytosinethymine-guanine (CTG) expansion and detected RNA foci and muscleblind like 1 (MBNL1) through 3D reconstruction. We studied dystrophia myotonica protein kinase (DMPK) expression and splicing alterations of MBNL1, insulin receptor, and sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca(2+)-ATPase 1.

Results

Three-dimensional analysis showed that RNA foci (nuclear and/or cytoplasmic) were present in 45%–100% of DM1-derived myoblasts we studied (range: 0–6 foci per cell). RNA foci represented <0.6% of the total myoblast nuclear volume. CTG expansion size was associated with the number of RNA foci per myoblast (r = 0.876 [95% confidence interval 0.222–0.986]) as well as with the number of cytoplasmic RNA foci (r = 0.943 [0.559–0.994]). Although MBNL1 colocalized with RNA foci in all DM1 myoblast cell lines, colocalization only accounted for 1% of total MBNL1 expression, with the absence of DM1 alternative splicing patterns. The number of RNA foci was associated with DMPK expression (r = 0.967[0.079–0.999]). On the other hand, the number of cytoplasmic RNA foci was correlated with the age at disease onset (r = -0.818 [-0.979 to 0.019]).

Conclusions

CTG expansion size modulates RNA foci number in myoblasts derived from patients with DM1. MBNL1 sequestration plays only a minor role in the pathobiology of the disease in these cells. Higher number of cytoplasmic RNA foci is related to an early onset of the disease, a finding that should be corroborated in future studies.

The Article Processing Charge was funded by the authors.

Copyright © 2020 The Author(s). Published by Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. on behalf of the American Academy of Neurology.

Correspondence Dr. Nogales-Gadea gnogales@igtp.cat

^{*}These authors contributed equally to this work.

From the Neuromuscular and Neuropediatric Research Group (A.B.-L., J.N.-M., E.K., I.L.-P., M.A., G.L., M.L.-O., A.S.-M., S.A.H., G.P.-M., J.C.-C., A.M.-P., A.R.-F., G.N.-G.), Institut d'Investigació en Ciències de la Salut Germans Trias i Pujol, Campus Can Ruti, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, Badalona; Centro de Investigación Biomédica en Red de Enfermedades Raras (CIBERER) (A.B.-L., G.P.-M., J.C.-C., G.N.-G.), Institut de Salud Carlos III, Madrid; Neuromuscular Pathology Unit. Neurology Service. Neuroscience department (M.A., G.L., N.G., J.C.-C., A.M.-P., A.R.-F.), Hospital Universitari Germans Trias i Pujol, Badalona, Barcelona; IrsiCaixa AIDS Research Institute (J.C.), Badalona, Spain; Faculty of Sport Sciences (A.L.), Universidad Europea de Madrid; Instituto de Investigación Hospital 12 de Octubre (i+12) (A.L.), Madrid; and Division of Rare Diseases. University Hospital Vali d'Hebron (G.P.-M.), Barcelona, Spain.

Go to Neurology.org/NG for full disclosures. Funding information is provided at the end of the article.

This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives License 4.0 (CC BY-NC-ND), which permits downloading and sharing the work provided it is properly cited. The work cannot be changed in any way or used commercially without permission from the journal.

Glossary

CI = confidence interval; DM1 = myotonic dystrophy type 1; DMPK = dystrophia myotonica protein kinase; IR = insulin receptor; MBNL1 = muscleblind like 1; mRS = modified Rankin Scale; qPCR = quantitative PCR; RT-PCR = reverse transcription PCR.

Myotonic dystrophy type I (DM1) is a multisystemic disorder with autosomal dominant inheritance caused by a cytosinethymine-guanine (CTG) repeat expansion in the 3'UTR of the dystrophia myotonica protein (*DMPK*) gene.¹ The main pathogenic process underlying DM1 is a toxic RNA gain-offunction effect of expanded DMPK transcripts forming hairpinstructured aggregates, called "RNA foci."^{2,3} These aggregates are able to sequester splicing factors, thereby affecting the alternative splicing of some pre-mRNAs such as insulin receptor (IR), sarcoplasmic/endoplasmic reticulum Ca(2+)-ATPase 1 (ATP2A1),^{4,5} or muscleblind like 1 (MBNL1).⁶

Most studies on DM1 have relied on 2D imaging at a single cell level. Yet, this classic approach does not allow detection of all RNA foci aggregates nor identification of their location inside cells. In addition, with this technique, it is not possible to identify the distribution and sequestration of MBNL1 protein. These limitations have hindered recognition of the full cascade of molecular events associated with the phenotype manifestation of DM1.

Here, we used 3D imaging in whole myoblasts derived from patients with DM1 with different degrees of affectation in an attempt to gain insight into the link between DM1 molecular players and disease phenotype. Thus, we assessed the relationship between CTG repeat expansion size, RNA foci, MBNL1 colocalization, and splicing defects in DM1 patient-derived myoblasts, on the one hand, and the clinical characteristics of the patients, on the other hand. We have obtained new pathophysiology data related to how DM1 might affect patient-derived myoblasts.

Methods

Standard protocol approvals, registrations, and patient consents

This study was approved (reference # PI-15-009) by the Ethic Committee of the University Hospital Germans Trias i Pujol (Badalona, Spain) and was performed in agreement with the Declaration of Helsinki for Human Research. All participants signed a written informed consent to participate in the study.

Participants

Six patients were recruited for this study, with DM1 diagnosis confirmed in our laboratory by bidirectional triplet PCR, as previously described.⁷ Patient muscle biopsies were obtained from the left biceps brachialis (n = 5) and vastus lateralis muscle (n = 1). The control biopsies were obtained from the hand muscle abductor pollicis longus of healthy individuals (see supplemental data, links.lww.com/NXG/ A291, for more information on the participants and clinical data collection).

Myoblast cultures

We extracted muscle cells from the biopsy explants and placed them on culture plates between 2015 and 2016 in the cell culture room of our institution (see supplemental data, links.lww.com/ NXG/A291, for more information) and analyzed data from these myoblasts during 2018 and 2019 as described below.

Expansion repeat sizing in myoblasts

We determined CTG expansion size using long PCRsouthern blotting (see supplemental data, links.lww.com/ NXG/A291, for a detailed description of the protocol).

Three-dimensional imaging of RNA foci and MBNL1

To detect RNA foci and MBNL1, we performed fluorescence in situ hybridization and immunostaining. The protocol we used and the details of 3D imaging can be found in supplemental data, links.lww.com/NXG/A291.

Alternative splicing analysis and DMPK expression

We analyzed alternative splicing and *DMPK* expression with reverse transcription (RT) PCR and quantitative PCR (qPCR), respectively (see supplemental data, links.lww.com/NXG/ A291, for more information on the protocol and primers).

Statistical analysis

Details of the statistical analysis can be found in supplemental data, links.lww.com/NXG/A291.

Data availability

The data that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Results

Patients' phenotype

We studied 6 patients with DM1—4 women and 2 men with age at disease onset ranging from 15 to 48 years (table 1). Patients were unrelated except P3 and P4 (who were sisters). The majority of patients had cardiac problems, with 3 showing mild ECG alterations, one (P2) a structural cardiopathy (valvulopathy), and another one (P5) using a pacemaker. Half of the patients needed nocturnal mechanical ventilation, and the other 3 had mild changes in respiratory functional tests without actual clinical impairment. The muscular impairment status according to the Muscular Impairment Rating Scale was

Table 1 Clinical data of patients with DM1									
Sex	Age at onset (y)	Biceps MRC	Myotonia (s)	Cataracts	Cardiopathy	Spirometry	6MWD (m)	MIRS	mRS
F	15 ^a	4	0.52	No	LAFB	Altered PFT	348	4	2
М	48	5	0.67	Yes	Valvulopathy	NMV	251	3	2
F	36	5	0.73	Yes	None	NMV	368	2	1
F	42	5	0.98	Yes	1st-degree AV block	NMV	338	3	1
F	27	4	NP	Yes	Pacemaker	Altered PFT	NP	4	4
М	36	5	0.96	No	LAFB	Altered PFT	519	3	2
	ical da Sex F M F F F M	ical data of patients v Sex Age at onset (y) F 15 ^a M 48 F 36 F 42 F 27 M 36	ical data of patients with DM1 Sex Age at onset(y) Biceps F 15 ^a 4 M 48 5 F 36 5 F 42 5 F 27 4 M 36 5	ical data of patients with DM1SexAge at onset(y)Biceps MRCMyotonia (s)F15 ^a 40.52M4850.67F3650.73F4250.98F274NPM3650.96	ical data of patients with DM1SexAge at onset (y)Biceps MRCMyotonia (s)CataractsF15 ^a 40.52NoM4850.67YesF3650.73YesF4250.98YesF274NPYesM3650.96No	ical data of patients with DM1SexAge at onset(y)Biceps MRCMyotonia (s)CataractsCardiopathyF15 ^a 40.52NoLAFBM4850.67YesValvulopathyF3650.73YesNoneF4250.98YesIst-degree AV blockF274NPYesPacemakerM3650.96NoLAFB	ical data of patients with DM1SexAge at onset (y)Biceps MRCMyotonia (s)CataractsCardiopathySpirometryF15 ^a 40.52NoLAFBAltered PFTM4850.67YesValvulopathyNMVF3650.73YesNoneNMVF4250.98Yes1st-degree AV blockNMVF274NPYesPacemakerAltered PFTM3650.96NoLAFBAltered PFT	ical data of patients with DM1SexAge at onset(y)Biceps MRCMyotonia (s)CataractsCardiopathySpirometry6MWD (m)F15 ^a 40.52NoLAFBAltered PFT348M4850.67YesValvulopathyNMV251F3650.73YesNoneNMV368F4250.98Yes1st-degree AV blockNMV338F274NPYesPacemakerAltered PFTNPM3650.96NoLAFBAltered PFT519	ical data of patients with DM1SexAge at onset (y)Biceps MRCMyotonia (s)CataractsCardiopathySpirometry6MWD (m)MIRsF15 ^a 40.52NoLAFBAltered PFT3484M4850.67YesValvulopathyNMV2513F3650.73YesNoneNMV3682F4250.98Yes1st-degree AV blockNMV3383F274NPYesPacemakerAltered PFTNP4M3650.96NoLAFBAltered PFT5193

Abbreviations: 6MWD = 6-minute walking distance; AV = atrioventricular; NP = not performed; LAFB = left anterior fascicular block; mRS = modified Rankin Scale; MIRS = Muscular Impairment Rating Scale; MRC = Medical Research Council Grade; NMV = nocturnal mechanical ventilation; PFT = pulmonary function tests. ^a It was not possible to determine the actual age at onset of patient P1, but since at the first visit (age 36 years), she had obvious signs that commonly appear in the early patient's life—including oval pallor and temporal atrophy—we considered that the disease onset occurred during adolescence.

variable, with P3 showing minimal signs of muscular impairment on exploration, P2, P4, and P6 presenting with distal weakness, and P1 and P5 with mild-to-moderate proximal weakness. Most patients were independent in activities of daily living (modified Rankin Scale [mRS] score 0–2), yet one (P5) had severely limitations (mRS score 4). P5 did not to do the 6-minute walking distance test or the myotonic evaluation because she died unexpectedly due to respiratory insufficiency at age 40 years.

CTG expansion correlates with RNA foci

We determine the CTG expansion size and the RNA foci and MBNL1 staining analyses in the same cells by dividing the cell lines in different pools. The CTG expansion size in DM1 myoblast cell lines ranged from 195 to 1568 CTG repeats (table 2).

For the staining of RNA foci and MBNL1, we studied 71 and 84 myoblasts from patients and controls, respectively. There was a high heterogeneity among DM1 myoblasts with regard to number of RNA foci. Thus, there was an average of 3 RNA foci (cytoplasmic and/or nuclear) per cell (range 0-6). On the other hand, there were no RNA foci in the control myoblasts (supplemental figure 1, links.lww.com/NXG/A298).

Heterogeneity was also found for the percentage of cells carrying RNA foci. Thus, 4 patients had RNA foci in 100% of their myoblasts, whereas P2 and P6 had RNA foci in 80% and 45% of myoblasts, respectively. Of interest, the cell lines from P2 and P6 were those carrying the lowest CTG repeat number (195 and 230, respectively). We found a strong positive correlation between CTG repeat number and (1) the average number of total (cytoplasmic + nuclear) RNA foci per myoblast (figure 1A), as well as with (2) the average number of nuclear RNA foci per myoblast (r = 0.830; 95% confidence interval [CI] 0.056–0.981).

RNA foci in DM1 myoblasts are mostly, but not only, intranuclear

RNA foci were mainly present in the nuclei of DM1 cells. Nevertheless, all 6 DM1 myoblast lines also showed RNA foci outside this organelle. The prevalence of cytoplasmic RNA

Derived DM1 cell line	CTG repeats	No. of cells analyzed	Minimum no. of RNA foci/cell	Maximum no. of RNA foci/cell	RNA foci/ cell	RNA foci area average (µm²)	% of cells containing RNA foci	% RNA foci in the cytoplasm	% of cells containing both nuclear and cytoplasmic RNA foci
P1	758	11	1	6	2.7	1.6	100	23	36
P2	195	10	0	5	1.8	0.7	80	6	10
P3	899	16	2	6	3.5	0.5	100	14	38
P4	1,568	11	2	6	4.4	0.3	100	8	45
P5	292	12	1	6	3.2	0.9	100	11	25
P6	230	11	0	5	2.3	0.2	45	4	9

Table 2 CTG expansion size and 3D analysis data in DM1 myoblasts

Neurology.org/NG

Neurology: Genetics | Volume 6, Number 4 | August 2020 3



Figure 1 Significant correlations of 3D analysis data, CTG expansion size, and phenotype in DM1 myoblasts

(A) Correlation between CTG repeat expansion and RNA foci number. The 95% CI for the Pearson correlation coefficient was 0.222–0.986. (B) Correlation between CTG repeat expansion and percentage of cells presenting cytoplasmic RNA foci. The 95% CI for the Pearson correlation coefficient was 0.559–0.994. (C) Correlation between RNA foci number and % of cells presenting cytoplasmic RNA foci. The 95% CI for the Pearson correlation coefficient was 0.263–0.987. (D) Correlation between % of cells presenting RNA foci and % of cells presenting cytoplasmic RNA foci. The 95% CI for the Pearson correlation coefficient was 0.263–0.987. (D) Correlation between % of cells presenting RNA foci and % of cells presenting cytoplasmic RNA foci. The 95% CI for the Pearson correlation coefficient was 0.105–0.983. (E) Correlation between the RNA foci area (μ m²) and the presence of cytoplasmic RNA foci. The 95% CI for the Pearson correlation coefficient was 0.085–0.982. (F) Correlation between age at onset of the disease and the presence of cytoplasmic RNA foci. The 95% CI for the Pearson correlation coefficient was -0.085–0.987. (G) The Pearson correlation coefficient was -0.085–0.982. (F) Correlation between age at onset of the disease and the presence of cytoplasmic RNA foci. The 95% CI for the Pearson correlation coefficient was -0.085–0.982. (F) Correlation between age at onset of the disease and the presence of cytoplasmic RNA foci. The 95% CI for the Pearson correlation coefficient was -0.085–0.982. (F) Correlation between the respective cytoplasmic RNA foci. The 95% CI for the Pearson correlation coefficient was -0.085–0.982. (F) Correlation between age at onset of the disease and the presence of cytoplasmic RNA foci. The 95% CI for the Pearson correlation coefficient was -0.085–0.982. (F) Correlation between the respective cytoplasmic RNA foci. The 95% CI for the Pearson correlation coefficient was -0.085–0.982. (F) Correlation between the respective cytoplasmic RNA foci and set of the disease and the presence of cytoplas

foci was, however, heterogeneous—ranging from 4% to 23% of all RNA foci found (mean = 12%) (table 2). The percentage of myoblasts showing cytoplasmic RNA foci also varied among the different DM1 patient lines, ranging from 10% to 45% of cells. On the other hand, there were no cells showing cytoplasmic-only RNA foci.

We found a strong, positive correlation between the number of CTG repeats and the percentage of cells with cytoplasmic RNA foci (figure 1B). We also found a positive correlation between the average total number (nuclear + cytoplasmic) of RNA foci per myoblast and the percentage of cells presenting RNA foci in the cytoplasm (figure 1C) and also between the percentage of DM1 myoblasts presenting RNA foci (nuclear and/or cytoplasmic) and the percentage of RNA foci in the cytoplasm (figure 1D). We further analyzed the area occupied by RNA foci (table 2) and found a positive correlation between this variable and the presence of cytoplasmic foci (figure 1E). Thus, those cell lines that contained RNA foci with larger areas had more foci in the cytoplasm.

Higher number of cytoplasmic RNA foci is associated with an earlier disease onset

When analyzing the relationship between the 3D molecular findings and the phenotype of patients with DM1, we found that the number of cytoplasmic RNA foci was inversely related to the age at disease onset (figure 1F).

RNA foci only represent a small fraction of the total nucleus volume

The portion of the total nuclear dimension occupied by RNA foci was analyzed by determining the volume of all the RNA foci inside the nucleus and by comparing this variable with the total nuclear volume. RNA foci occupied 0.34%–0.53% of the total nuclear volume in DM1 myoblasts.

Trapped MBNL1 in RNA foci represent a negligible fraction of total MBNL1 expression

Given the main role that MBNL1 plays in DM1 disease, we aimed to analyze the trapping of this protein in the RNA foci. MBNL1 protein was present in control and DM1 myoblasts. In all analyzed myoblasts, MBNL1 was located both in the nucleus and in the cytoplasm (figure 2, B and E). Colocalization of RNA foci together with MBNL1 was found in all DM1 patients' lines. The trapped MBNL1 was not only found in the nucleus (figure 2, A–C), but also in the cytoplasm (figure 2, D–F), representing 9% of the total cellular colocalization (Video 1). Trapped MBNL1 represented less than 1% of the total MBNL1 expression in DM1 myoblasts.

RNA foci are associated with DMPK transcripts

As RNA foci are the product of *DMPK* gene transcription, we aimed to analyze DMPK transcripts in our myoblast cell lines. To this end, we chose qPCR as it is a more sensitive technique than RT-PCR and used a probe that was located outside the

Figure 2 Confocal microscopy of DM1 myoblasts



MBNL1 protein (green), RNA foci (red), nucleus (blue). Scale bars: 2.5 µm. (A) XY and XZ volume slices of individual channels corresponding to nucleus (blue), MBNL1 protein (green), and RNA foci (red). DM1 myoblast showing the nuclear colocalization between the RNA foci and the MBNL1 protein. (B) Merged image of XY and XZ volume slices of representative nuclear colocalization between RNA foci and MBNL1 protein in DM1 myoblast White arrow indicates a single RNA foci aggregate colocalizing with MBNL1 protein. (C) Isosurface rendering of nuclear colocalization between RNA foci and MBNL1 protein. (C) Isosurface rendering of nuclear colocalization between RNA foci and MBNL1 protein. DM1 myoblasts. (D) XY and XZ volume slices of inbetween the RNA foci and the MBNL1 protein. (E) MBNL1 protein (green), and RNA foci (red). DM1 myoblast showing the cytoplasmic colocalization between the RNA foci and the MBNL1 protein. (E) Merged image of XY and XZ volume slices of representative cytoplasmic colocalization between RNA foci and MBNL1 protein in DM1 myoblast. White arrow indicates a single RNA foci aggregate colocalizing with MBNL1 protein. (F) Isosurface rendering of cytoplasmic colocalization between RNA foci and MBNL1 protein. (F) Isosurface rendering of cytoplasmic colocalization between RNA fod and MBNL1 protein. (F) Isosurface

CTG repeat for detecting expression of both wild-type and expanded *DMPK* alleles. We did not find significant differences between the *DMPK* expression of patients and controls myoblasts (figure 3A). In turn, we found a positive correlation between *DMPK* expression and (1) total (nuclear and/or cytoplasmic) RNA foci number (r = 0.967 [95% CI 0.079–0.999], p = 0.033), as well as with the RNA foci that were present in the nucleus only (r = 0.993 [95% CI 0.682–0.999], p = 0.008).

Absence of DM1 alternative splicing patterns in DM1 myoblasts

To study the extent to which was alternative splicing affected in DMI myoblasts, we analyzed the expression of inclusion and exclusion isoforms—MBNL1 exon 7, INSR exon 11, and ATP2A1 exon 22—that have been previously reported to be

Neurology.org/NG

altered in DM1.^{4,8,9} No differences were found between controls and patients in the expression of MBNL1 or ATP2A1 isoforms. However, the expression levels of the INSR exon 11 exclusion isoform—the most expressed isoform in some DM1 models—showed a tendency of higher expression in controls than in patients (figure 3B).

Discussion

We studied the quantity and distribution of RNA foci and MBNL1 protein in DM1 patient-derived myoblasts using a novel 3D imaging approach. In addition, in the same myoblast cultures, we measured CTG expansion, DMPK expression, and some alternative splicing events. All the molecular data were correlated with the clinical characteristics of the patients with DM1. Thus, although more research is needed, the 3D

Neurology: Genetics | Volume 6, Number 4 | August 2020 5



Data are mean \pm SD. (A) qDMPK expression in patients with DM1 vs controls. (B) Percentage of the DM1 spliced-related isoform in patients with DM1 compared with controls for MBNL1, IR, and ATP2A1 transcripts measured with RT-PCR. MBNL1 and ATP2A1 showed no significant differences, whereas IR showed a tendency of higher expression in controls compared with patients (p = 0.057; effect size [Cohen d] = 1.83). DMPK = dystrophia myotonica protein; IR = insulin receptor; MNBL1 = muscleblind like 1.

method we used appears as a potential tool to identify potential associations between molecular alterations and clinical manifestations in patients with DM1.

Our results indicate that the number of RNA foci per DM1 myoblast is regulated by the CTG expansion length. A previous study showed that RNA foci number differed between patients with DM1 carrying <500 or >1000 CTG repeats, respectively.¹⁰ In this regard, we have analyzed patients carrying CTG expansions within the 500–1,000 range, with RNA foci related to CTG repeat number. On the other hand, our data indicate that there are a small number of RNA foci per DM1 myoblast, averaging only 3 per cell (range 0–6), which is consistent with the findings of previous research in muscle tissue.^{3,10–12}

Of interest, not all the DM1 myoblasts derived from the same patient had RNA foci. Two lines of patient-derived myoblasts who carried the shorter expansions showed RNA foci only in 40% and 80% of the cells. Thus, our results suggest that CTG expansion not only regulates the amount of RNA foci per myoblast but also the number of myoblasts presenting RNA foci. In this regard, previous research has suggested that RNA foci can undergo dynamic changes during the cell cycle¹³ and travel from one cell to another.¹⁴ Thus, although we cannot discard a certain effect of the cell cycle phase on our results, we tried to minimize this potential confounder by seeding the different DM1 myoblast cell lines following a well-defined protocol and using consistently the same treatment method. Based on the expansion sizes that we studied, DM1 myoblasts carrying expansions close to-or larger than-300 CTG repeats would carry RNA foci in all their cells. To study whether 300 CTG repeats is an actual threshold for all patients with DM1 will require a challenging 3D study in muscle tissue of patients with DM1.

We found both nuclear and cytoplasmic RNA foci. Although we found myoblasts with cytoplasmic RNA foci in all the DM1 cell lines that we studied, no myoblast presented cytoplasmic-only RNA foci. CTG expansion size appears to regulate the formation of cytoplasmic RNA foci. Thus, larger CTG expansions will produce a higher number of nuclear foci, and therefore, more cells will contain cytoplasmic foci because the latter only appeared in association with nuclear foci. The presence and origin of cytoplasmic foci have not yet been studied in depth. Some authors have suggested that cytoplasmic RNA foci are a product of the cell cycle as well as of the breakdown of the nuclear membrane and as such are more likely to appear in dividing cells.¹³ However, a study in an animal model of DM1 expressing CTG expansions in the heart tissue found RNA foci exclusively in the cytoplasm of cardiomyocytes, which are highly differentiated, nondividing cells.¹⁵ On the other hand, our results show that cytoplasmic RNA foci colocalize with MBNL1. The role of cytoplasmic foci and whether they have a toxic effect should be studied in future research.

RNA foci represent less than 0.6% of the total nuclear volume in DM1 myoblasts. Although researchers in the DM1 area are aware of the small size of RNA foci and of the difficulty to identify them under the microscope by naked eye, the data presented here add some information on the impact that RNA foci have on the nuclear volume. In addition, when analyzing the area of RNA foci in relation to other molecular findings, we observed a correlation with the number of cytoplasmic foci. The fact that scarce data are currently available on cytoplasmic RNA foci makes it difficult to interpret our results. However, as previously described by other authors,¹⁶ RNA foci can fuse or divide randomly with no apparent or known purpose.

Our analysis of MBNL1 revealed that the sequestration of this protein inside RNA foci represents less than 1% of the total MBNL1 myoblast expression. Although there are studies showing the pathologic role of MBNL1 in DM1,^{17–21} our

results are consistent with a previous study by Coleman et al.²² reporting that only a small proportion of MBNL1 protein (0.2%) was sequestered by RNA foci in DM1 lens epithelial cells. The study by Coleman and coworkers also showed that MBNL1 can freely travel from the nucleus to the cytoplasm or from the cytoplasm to the nucleus depending on the transcriptional levels and cell requirements. In this context, the low values of sequestration of MBNL1 would suggest that this phenomenon plays only a minor role in the pathophysiology of the disease, as 99% of total MBNL1 expression is free and DM1 myoblasts showed a distribution pattern similar to that of control myoblasts.

The levels of *DMPK* expression were related to the number of RNA foci per cell. This was an expected finding: indeed, if there are more RNA foci inside a cell, theoretically there should also be more DMPK, as for both RNA foci and DMPK determination, we used a technique, qPCR, which allows detecting expanded as well as wild-type alleles. How *DMPK* expression is affected in DM1 remains to be determined. *DMPK* expression levels have been analyzed in several studies with inconclusive or contradictory results. Some studies found that DMPK transcripts were increased in myotubes derived from patients with DM1,²³ but other authors found the opposite result.^{10,24} In this regard, heterogeneity among studies with regard to assessment techniques and patient characteristics limits the ability to gain insight into the alteration of *DMPK* expression in DM1.

We did not find the expected altered DM1 splicing when analyzing IR, ATP2A1, and MBNL1 transcripts. As mentioned above, the trapped MBNL1 in RNA foci was a minor event in DM1 myoblasts, and thus, the cascade of molecular pathomechanisms in which the splicing alteration occurs due to MBNL1 protein sequestration does not seem to play a relevant role. These results could also be explained by the fact that the expression of the aforementioned aberrant isoforms is related to developmental stages,^{4,9} and because we used undifferentiated cells (i.e., myoblasts), the expression pattern should differ from the pattern of fully differentiated myotubes, and especially of skeletal muscle fibers.

Our results indicate that an earlier age at disease onset is associated with a higher number of cytoplasmic RNA foci. By contrast, the age at onset was not correlated with the number of CTG repeats or RNA foci per myoblast or to *DMPK* expression levels. Several studies^{25–28} have analyzed the possible association between CTG expansion size and the different DM1-related symptoms, but CTG instability adds heterogeneity to the disease, which further complicates to establish these associations.

Our study is limited by the low number of myoblast cell lines studied and by the complexity of 3D molecular imaging at the single cell level, which is a highly time-consuming approach. While keeping this limitation in mind, we were able to evaluate the molecular pathologic cascade in 6 patients with DM1 with different clinical manifestations of this disease. Our 3D imaging study allowed us to analyze the role of potential DM1 players using a novel approach. Thus, our results would indicate that CTG expansion determines the number of RNA foci per myoblast and of myoblasts that contain RNA foci, as well as the appearance of cytoplasmic foci. An additional finding is that RNA foci only represent a small-and in fact negligible-part of the total nucleus volume and the sequestration of MBNL1 is an infrequent event. Thus, no DM1 splicing alterations were found. The DMPK expression levels are related to the number of RNA foci found per myoblast. Last, we found that cytoplasmic RNA foci are inversely related to the age at onset of the patients with DM1 studied. Cytoplasmic RNA foci should be considered in future studies because the role of these molecules in the pathobiology of DM1 needs to be clearly elucidated.

Acknowledgment

The authors gratefully acknowledge the participants in this research and other researchers in the myotonic dystrophy type I field for their insightful advice regarding data presented in the present research work.

Study funding

The research of G. Nogales-Gadea, A. Ramos-Fransi, and A. Lucia is funded by Instituto de Salud Carlos III (grant numbers PI15/01756, PI15/00558, and PI18/00713) and cofinanced by Fondos FEDER. G. Nogales-Gadea is supported by a Miguel Servet research contract (ISCIII CD14/00032, ISCIII CPII19/00021, and FEDER) and by a Trampoline Grant #21108 from AFM Telethon. A. Ballester-Lopez is funded by an FI Agaur fellowship ref. FI B 01090 and SGR 1520 (GRC) Generalitat de Catalunya. E. Koehorst is funded by the La Caixa Foundation (ID 100010434), fellowship code LCF/BQ/IN18/11660019, cofunded by the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation program under the Marie Skłodowska-Curie grant agreement no. 713673. I. Linares-Pardo is funded by CP14/00032 and SGR 1520 (GRC) Generalitat de Catalunya. J. Núñez-Manchón was funded by AFM Telethon Trampoline Grant #21108. G. Lucente was supported by a Rio Hortega contract (ISCIII CM16/00016 and FEDER). J. Chojnacki is supported by European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation program under the Marie Skłodowska-Curie grant agreement no. 793830. The funding bodies had no role in the design of the study and collection, analysis, and interpretation of data.

Disclosure

A. Ballester-Lopez is funded by an FI Agaur fellowship FI_B 01090 and SGR 1520 (GRC) Generalitat de Catalunya. J. Núñez-Manchón is funded by AFM Telethon Trampoline Grant #21108. E Koehorst is funded by the La Caixa Foundation (ID 100010434), fellowship code LCF/BQ/IN18/ 11660019, cofunded by the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation program under the Marie Skłodowska-Curie grant agreement no. 713673. I. Linares-Pardo is funded by CP14/00032 and SGR 1520 (GRC)

Neurology.org/NG

Neurology: Genetics | Volume 6, Number 4 | August 2020 7

Generalitat de Catalunya. M. Almendrote reports no disclosures relevant to the manuscript. G. Lucente is supported by a Rio Hortega contract (ISCIII CM16/00016 and FEDER). N. Guanyabens, M. Lopez-Osias, A. Suárez-Mesa, S. Hanick, and J. Chojnack report no disclosures relevant to the manuscript. A. Lucia declares grants from the Spanish government granting agency Instituto de Salud Carlos III, Madrid, Spain. G. Pintos-Morell reports personal honoraria from Shire-Takeda, Amicus, and Sanofi-Genzyme, outside the submitted work. J. Coll-Cantí, A. Martínez-Piñeiro, and A. Ramos-Fransi report no disclosures relevant to the manuscript. G. Nogales-Gadea declares grants from Instituto de Salud Carlos III, Madrid, Spain, and AFM Telethon, France. G. Nogales-Gadea is supported by a Miguel Servet research contract (ISCIII CD14/00032, CPII19/00021, and FEDER). Go to Neurology.org/NG for full disclosures.

Publication history

Received by *Neurology: Genetics* February 21, 2020. Accepted in final form June 5, 2020.

Appendix Authors						
Name	Location	Contribution				
Alfonsina Ballester- Lopez, MSc	Institut d'Investigació en Ciències de la Salut Germans Trias i Pujol, Badalona, Spain	Data collection; acquisition and analysis; and drafting of the manuscript				
Judit Núñez- Manchón, MSc	Institut d'Investigació en Ciències de la Salut Germans Trias i Pujol, Badalona, Spain	Data acquisition and drafting of the manuscript				
Emma Koehorst, MSc	Institut d'Investigació en Ciències de la Salut Germans Trias i Pujol, Badalona, Spain	Revision of the manuscript				
lan Linares- Pardo	Institut d'Investigació en Ciències de la Salut Germans Trias i Pujol, Badalona, Spain	Collecting and acquisition of the data				
Miriam Almendrote, MD	Hospital Universitari Germans Trias i Pujol, Badalona, Barcelona, Spain	Collecting the clinical data and revision of the manuscript				
Giuseppe Lucente, MD	Hospital Universitari Germans Trias i Pujol, Badalona, Barcelona, Spain	Revision of the manuscript				
Nicolau Guanyabens, MD	Hospital Universitari Germans Trias i Pujol, Badalona, Barcelona, Spain	Collecting the clinical data				
Marta Lopez- Osias, BSc	Institut d'Investigació en Ciències de la Salut Germans Trias i Pujol, Badalona, Spain	Data acquisition				
Adrián Suárez-Mesa, MSc	Institut d'Investigació en Ciències de la Salut Germans Trias i Pujol, Badalona, Spain	Data acquisition and revision of the manuscript				

Appendix (continued)						
Name	Location	Contribution				
Shaliza Ann Hanick, MSc	Institut d'Investigació en Ciències de la Salut Germans Trias i Pujol, Badalona, Spain	Data acquisition and revision of the manuscript				
Jakub Chojnacki, PhD	IrsiCaixa AIDS Research Institute, Badalona, Spain	Image analysis				
Alejandro Lucia, MD, PhD	Universidad Europea de Madrid and Instituto de Investigación Hospital 12 de Octubre (i+12), Madrid, Spain	Analysis of the data and revision of the manuscript				
Guillem Pintos- Morell, MD, PhD	Hospital Universitari Vall d'Hebron, Barcelona, Spain	Revision of the manuscript				
Jaume Coll- Cantí, MD, PhD	Hospital Universitari Germans Trias i Pujol, Badalona, Barcelona, Spain	Revision of the manuscript				
Alicia Martínez- Piñeiro, MD	Hospital Universitari Germans Trias i Pujol, Badalona, Barcelona, Spain	Revision of the manuscript				
Alba Ramos- Fransi, MD, PhD	Hospital Universitari Germans Trias i Pujol, Badalona, Barcelona, Spain	Clinical data collection and drafting of the manuscript				
Gisela Nogales- Gadea, PhD	Institut d'Investigació en Ciències de la Salut Germans Trias i Puiol.	Design of the study and drafting of the manuscript				

References

 Brook JD, McCurrach ME, Harley HG, et al. Molecular basis of myotonic dystrophy: expansion of a trinucleotide (CTG) repeat at the 3' end of a transcript encoding a protein kinase family member. Cell 1992;69:385.

Badalona, Spain

- Tian B, White RJ, Xia T, et al. Expanded CUG repeat RNAs form hairpins that activate the double-stranded RNA-dependent protein kinase PKR. RNA 2000;6:79–87.
- Taneja KL, McCurrach M, Schalling M, Housman D, Singer RH. Foci of trinucleotide repeat transcripts in nuclei of myotonic dystrophy cells and tissues. J Cell Biol 1995; 128:995–1002.
- Dansithong W, Paul S, Comai L, Reddy S. MBNL1 is the primary determinant of focus formation and aberrant insulin receptor splicing in DM1. J Biol Chem 2005;280: 5773–5780.
- Schara U, Schoser BGH. Myotonic dystrophies type 1 and 2: a summary on current aspects. Semin Pediatr Neurol 2006;13:71–79.
- Konieczny P, Stepniak-Konieczna E, Sobczak K. MBNL expression in autoregulatory feedback loops. RNA Biol 2018;15:1–8.
- Radvansky J, Ficek A, Minarik G, Palffy R, Kadasi L. Effect of unexpected sequence interruptions to conventional PCR and repeat primed PCR in myotonic dystrophy type 1 testing. Diagn Mol Pathol 2011;20:48-51.
 Lin X, Miller [W, Mankodi A, et al. Failure of MBNL1-dependent post-natal sphcing
- Lin X, Miller JW, Mankodi A, et al. Failure of MBNL1-dependent post-natal splicing transitions in myotonic dystrophy. Hum Mol Genet 2006;15:2087–2097.
 Hino SI, Kondo S, Sekiya H, et al. Molecular mechanisms responsible for aberrant
- Hino SI, Kondo S, Sekiya H, et al. Molecular mechanisms responsible for aberrant splicing of SERCA1 in myotonic dystrophy type 1. Hum Mol Genet 2007;16: 2834–2843.
- Botta A, Rinaldi F, Catalli C, et al. The CTG repeat expansion size correlates with the splicing defects observed in muscles from myotonic dystrophy type 1 patients. J Med Genet 2008;45:639–646.
- Mankodi A, Teng-Umnuay P, Krym M, Henderson D, Swanson M, Thornton CA. Ribonuclear inclusions in skeletal muscle in myotonic dystrophy types 1 and 2. Ann Neurol 2003;54:760-768.
- Gudde AEEG, González-Barriga A, van den Broek WJAA, Wieringa B, Wansink DG. A low absolute number of expanded transcripts is involved in myotonic dystrophy type 1 manifestation in muscle. Hum Mol Genet 2016;25:1648–1662.
- Xia G, Ashizawa T. Dynamic changes of nuclear RNA foci in proliferating DM1 cells. Histochem Cell Biol 2015;143:557–564.

8 Neurology: Genetics | Volume 6, Number 4 | August 2020

Neurology.org/NG

- Mondragon-Gonzalez R, Azzag K, Selvaraj S, Yamamoto A, Perlingeiro RCR. Transplantation studies reveal internuclear transfer of toxic RNA in engrafted muscles 14. of myotonic dystrophy 1 mice. EBioMedicine 2019;47:553-562. Dansithong W, Wolf CM, Sarkar P, et al. Cytoplasmic CUG RNA foci are insufficient
- 15. to elicit key DM1 features. PLoS One 2008;3:e3968.
- Querido E, Gallardo F, Beaudoin M, Ménard C, Chartrand P. Stochastic and re-16. versible aggregation of mRNA with expanded CUG-triplet repeats. J Cell Sci 2011; 124:1703-1714.
- Ho TH, Charlet-B N, Poulos MG, Singh G, Swanson MS, Cooper TA. Muscleblind 17. proteins regulate alternative splicing. EMBO J 2004;23:3103-3112. 18.
- Kanadia RN, Johnstone KA, Mankodi A, et al. A muscleblind knockout model for myotonic dystrophy. Science 2003;302:1978–1980. 19.
- Kino Y, Washizu C, Oma Y, et al. MBNL and CELF proteins regulate alternative splicing of the skeletal muscle chloride channel CLCN1. Nucleic Acids Res 2009; 7:647 7-6490.
- Klinck R, Fourrier A, Thibault P, et al. RBFOX1 cooperates with MBNL1 to control 20. splicing in muscle, including events altered in myotonic dystrophy type 1. PLoS One 2014;9:18-21.
- Sellier C, Cerro-Herreros E, Blatter M, et al. RbFOX1/MBNL1 competition for 21. CCUG RNA repeats binding contributes to myotonic dystrophy type 1/type 2 differences. Nat Commun 2018;9:1-15.

- Coleman SM, Prescott AR, Sleeman JE. Transcriptionally correlated subcellular dy-namics of MBNL1 during lens development and their implication for the molecular 22.
- pathology of myotonic dystrophy type 1. Biochem J 2014;458:267–280. Bhagwati S, Ghatpande A, Leung B. Normal levels of DM RNA and myotonin protein kinase in skeletal muscle from adult myotonic dystrophy (DM) patients. Biochim 23. Biophys Acta - Mol Basis Dis 1996;1317:155-157.
- Fu YH, Friedman DL, Richards S, et al. Decreased expression of myotonin-protein kinase 24.
- messenger RNA and protein in adult form of myotonic dystrophy. Science 1993;260:235–238. Panaite PA, Kuntzer T, Gourdon G, Barakat-Walter I. Respiratory failure in a mouse model of myotonic dystrophy does not correlate with the CTG repeat length. Respir 25. Physiol Neurobiol 2013;189:22-26.
- Hamshere MG, Harley H, Harper P, Brook JD, Brookfield JFY. Myotonic dystrophy: 26. the correlation of (CTG) repeat length in leucocytes with age at onset is significant only for patients with small expansions. J Med Genet 1999;36:59–61. Aldenbratt A, Lindberg C, Svensson MK. Reduced renal function in patients with
- 27. Myotonic Dystrophy type I and the association to CTG expansion and other potential risk factors for chronic kidney disease. Neuromuscul Disord 2017;27:1038–1042.
- Zatz M, Passos-Bueno MR, Cerqueira A, Marie SK, Vainzof M, Pavanello RC. Analysis of the CTG repeat in skeletal muscle of young and adult myotonic dys-trophy patients: when does the expansion occur? Hum Mol Genet 1995;4: 28. 401-406.

Neurology.org/NG

SUPPLEMENTAL DATA: MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

Six patients and six controls were recruited for this study. The sample size was limited due to both the very low prevalence of this disorder and the small number of patients who agreed to participate in this study. The patient inclusion criteria were to have confirmed DM1 diagnosis and a complete medical history and follow-up in the neurology department of the aforementioned hospital. Eligibility criteria for the six controls recruited for this study were to have no personal or family history of neuromuscular diseases and to be free of any other chronic disease. Patient muscle biopsies were obtained from the left *Biceps brachialis* (n = 5) and *Vastus lateralis* muscle (n = 1) in the neurology unit or in the ambulatory surgery rooms of our hospital during 2015 and 2016. Controls were healthy individuals – recruited from the Traumatology department, where they had previously undergone minor surgery. The control biopsies were obtained from the hand muscle *Abductor pollicis longus*.

Clinical data

We obtained – and updated – clinical information of DM1 patients from in the last visit's medical records. We also reviewed the last ophthalmological, cardiological and respiratory examination by the corresponding specialists, including the electrocardiograms, echocardiograms and spirometry tests performed in the last year. We assessed the strength of the muscle - Biceps brachialis - used for the biopsy in the majority of patients (5 of 6) with the manual Medical Research Council (MRC) scale. We also assessed myotonia, by quantifying the relaxation time – defined as the time from the moment a muscle stops contracting until it relaxes completely, using a new method. In brief, we used an elastic goniometer to calculate the angle of separation between the middle phalanx of the index finger and the metacarpal of the same finger of the dominant hand. Once the goniometer was placed, the patient was asked to perform a maximal contraction in the handgrip (Jammar; Duluth, MN) for 2-4 seconds, and thereafter to relax back to the basal position (hand extension) as fast as possible. This procedure was repeated at least 5 times and an average value of the relaxation time (in seconds) was obtained. We assessed muscular impairment using the Muscular Impairment Rating scale (MIRS), and evaluated functional status and disability with the 6-minute walking distance (6MWD) test and the modified Rankin Scale (mRS), respectively.

Myoblast cultures

We isolated muscle cells were from muscle tissue by biopsy explants on culture plates treated with human plasma and gelatin 1.5% (1:2). We performed the cultures with DMEM supplemented with 15% of fetal bovine serum, 22% M-199, PSF 1x, insulin 1.74 μ M, L-glutamine 2 mM, FGF 1.39 nM and EGF 0.135 mM. We purified myoblasts through CD56 magnetic beads according to manufacturer's instructions (Miltenyi Biotec; Bergisch Gladbach, Germany), and they were further grown on pre-coated surfaces with 0.1% gelatin until 60-70% of confluence was achieved. Myoblasts derived from all DM1 patients and controls were grown simultaneously and plated on coverslips for immune studies. We collected muscle cells in pellets at the same passage of coverslips (from passages 4 to 6), which were frozen at -80°C for further DNA and RNA analysis.

Expansion repeat sizing in myoblast

To measure the expansion size in the myoblast cell lines, we isolated genomic DNA from myoblasts pellets. Briefly, we incubated cell pellets for 16 h at 37°C with 20 mg/mL proteinase K, 1.2 mg/mL Tris-HCl pH 8.0, 0.6 mg/mL NaCl, 7.3 mg/mL EDTA and 10% SDS. The following day, we added 5.5M NaCl before ethanol precipitation. We quantified isolated DNA with Nanodrop ND-1000 (Themo Fisher Scientific; Waltham, MA).

We used long polymerase chain reaction (PCR)-southern blotting to determine the CTG repeat number in cell myoblasts. We amplified genomic DNA from myoblasts in three replicate reactions of 5 ng/ μ L, 30 ng/ μ L and 100 ng/ μ L. We used the primers MDY1D-F GCTCGAAGGGTCCTTGTAGCCG and DM1-rev GTTCCATCCTCCACGCAC. The set conditions of the long PCR were as follows: initial denaturation at 94°C for 4 min, followed by 35 cycles of denaturation at 94°C for 30 s and annealing-extension at 66°C for 8 min. We performed final extension at 65°C for 10 min. We electrophoresed PCR products in a 0.8% agarose gel at 80V for 900 min. We washed the agarose gel with acid

solution (250 mM HCl) for 15 min, basic solution (0.5 M NaOH) for 30 min, and neuter solution (0.5 M Tris-HCl, pH=7.5, 1.5 M NaCl) for 30 min. Thereafter, we transferred the DNA in the gel through capillary electrophoresis to a nylon membrane (Roche, Basel, Switzerland). We fixed DNA to the membrane by heating the latter at 65°C during 75 min. We used a concentration of 10 pmol/mL DIG-labeled LNA probe (5'-gcAgCagCagCagCagCAgca-3', where lower and upper-case letters represent unmodified and LNA nucleotides, respectively) to hybridize the membrane for 3 h at 70°C. We detected expansions through chemiluminescence of alkaline phosphatase-conjugated anti-DIG antibody and CDP-Star substrate, following manufacturer's instructions (Roche; Basel, Switzerland). To determine the CTG repeat number, we considered the most abundant band or the most intense part of the smear for diffuse bands, presumably corresponding to the most representative number of repeats present in the myoblasts.

3D imaging of RNA foci and MBNL1

To detect RNA foci and MBNL1, we performed fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) and immunostaining. In brief, coverslips containing 60-70% of confluent myoblasts were fixed with 4% PFA and permeabilized with 0.3% Triton X/PBS for 10 min at room temperature (RT). Thereafter we placed them into a humidified chamber and incubated them overnight at 37°C in hybridization buffer: Cy3-(CAG)10 probe 0.01 µM, 30% formamide, 10% dextran sulfate, 2mM of vanadyl, 0.02% BSA and 2X SSC. The following day, we washed coverslips three times with 30% formamide/2X SSC for 3 min at 45°C and two times with 1X SSC for three min at 37°C, and did a final wash with 1x PBS for 3 min at RT. Thereafter, we blocked coverslips with 1% goat serum for 1 h in a humidified chamber at RT and thereafter incubated them with the primary anti-MBNL1 antibody mouse 3A4 (sc47740, Santa Cruz Biotechnology; Dallas, TX) 1:100 dilution at 4°C overnight in a humidified chamber. After three washes with PBS, we incubated the cells with secondary antibody anti-mouse Alexa 488 (A11001, Invitrogen by Thermo Fisher Scientific) and diluted then in 1% goat serum/PBS (1/500) for 45 min at RT. After incubation, we washed the cells three times with PBS and mounted them using ProLong Gold antifade reagent with DAPI (Invitrogen; Carlsbad, CA).

We studied colocalization of RNA foci and MBNL1 using a Zeiss LSM 710 confocal microscope (Jena, Germany) equipped with a $63 \times /1.4$ NA oil immersion objective. We

acquired image Z-stacks for each channel sequentially with the following parameters: *i*) pinhole size: 1 Airy; *ii*) XY pixel size: 130 nm; and *iii*) Z pixel size: 300 nm. We analyzed a minimum of 10 myoblasts per cell line and took Z-stack images with an interval of 0.3 μ m, covering the total thickness of myoblasts within a 6.3–8 μ m range. After their acquisition, we processed the images (cropping and thresholding) using Fiji (ImageJ distribution) software. We generated isosurfaces and 3D video animation using Imaris and Zen Black program, respectively.

Alternative splicing analysis and DMPK expression

We extracted RNA from myoblast pellets using TRIzol[™] Reagent (Thermofisher), following the manufacturer's instructions. We treated RNA with DNAse I and converted it to cDNA using High-Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit (ThermoFisher). We analyzed DMPK expression with quantitative PCR (qPCR) using Taqman Fast Advanced Mastermix and the following custom Tagman assay (ThermoFisher): forward AGCCTGAGCCGGGAGATG, reverse GCGTAGTTGACTGGCGAAGTT and probe AGGCCATCCGCACGGACAACC (2). We analyzed the results with the 2- $\Delta\Delta$ CT method using human large ribosomal protein (RPLPO) as endogenous control. We analyzed alternative splicing of MBNL1, INSR and ATP2A1 with reverse transcript (RT)-PCR. For RT-PCR analysis, we kept annealing temperature at 58°C for 50 cycles and used the following primers: MBNL1 forward GCCCAATACCAGGTCAACCA (3), MBNL1 GGCCTCTTTGGTAATGGGGG (3),**INSR** forward reverse GAGCTGGAGGAGTCCTCGTTTAG, **INRS** reverse TCGATGCGATAGCCCGTGAAG, ATP2A1 forward ATP2A1 CTCATGGTCCTCAAGATCTCAC (4)and reverse AGCTCTGCCTGAAGATGTGTCAC (4). We tested the amplified products in a 3% high-resolution agarose gel and quantified bands with ImageJ. We calculated the percentage of exon inclusion and exclusion isoforms as follows:

 $\frac{\text{exon eclusion OR inclusion band}}{(\text{exon exclusion} + \text{exon inclusion band})} \times 100$

Statistical analysis

We analyzed the relationship between molecular (3D) and clinical data using Pearson's correlations after checking normality with the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. We applied the Mann Whitney's U test to compare expression and alternative splicing profiles in DM1 vs control myoblasts. We performed all statistical analyses with the Graphpad Prism 5 software, with the level of significance set at 0.05.

Video 1

Video animation of DM1 myoblasts. DM1 myoblasts showing colocalization between RNA foci and MBNL1 protein both in the nucleus and in the cytoplasm. <u>Download</u> <u>Supplementary Video 1</u> via <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1212/000484_Video_1</u>

REFERENCES

- Radvansky J, Ficek A, Minarik G, Palffy R, Kadasi L. Effect of unexpected sequence interruptions to conventional PCR and repeat primed PCR in myotonic dystrophy type 1 testing. Diagn Mol Pathol [Internet]. 2011 Mar [cited 2020 Jan 27];20(1):48–51. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21326039
- Pandey SK, Wheeler TM, Justice SL, Kim A, Younis HS, Gattis D, et al. Identification and characterization of modified antisense oligonucleotides targeting DMPK in mice and nonhuman primates for the treatment of myotonic dystrophy type 1s. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 2015;355(2):329–40.
- Wojciechowska M, Sobczak K, Kozlowski P, Sedehizadeh S, Wojtkowiak-Szlachcic A, Czubak K, et al. Quantitative Methods to Monitor RNA Biomarkers in Myotonic Dystrophy. Sci Rep. 2018;8(1):1–13.
- Tang ZZ, Yarotskyy V, Wei L, Sobczak K, Nakamori M, Eichinger K, et al. Muscle weakness in myotonic dystrophy associated with misregulated splicing and altered gating of Ca v1.1 calcium channel. Hum Mol Genet. 2012;21(6):1312–24.

Chapter V



BNA^{NC} treatment has a different efficacy and toxicity in fibroblasts, lymphoblasts and myoblasts derived from Myotonic Dystrophy Type 1 patients

Alfonsina Ballester-López^{1,2}, Judit Núñez-Manchón¹, Ian Linares-Pardo¹, Emma Koehorst¹, Miriam Almendrote^{1,3}, Giuseppe Lucente^{1,3}, Alejandro Lucia⁴, Mònica Suelves¹, Guillem Pintos-Morell^{2,5}, Jaume

Coll-Cantí^{1,2,3}, Alba Ramos-Fransi^{1,3}, Alicia Martínez-Piñeiro^{1,3}, Gisela Nogales-Gadea^{1,2}.

¹ Neuromuscular and Neuropediatric Research Group, Institut d'Investigació en Ciències de la Salut Germans Trias i Pujol, Campus Can Ruti, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, Badalona, Spain. ² Centro de Investigación Biomédica en Red de Enfermedades Raras (CIBERER), Instituto de Salud Carlos III, Madrid, Spain. ³ Neuromuscular Pathology Unit. Neurology Service. Neuroscience department, Hospital Universitari Germans Trias i Pujol, Badalona, Barcelona, Spain. ⁴ Universidad Europea, Madrid, Spain, & Instituto de Investigación Hospital 12 de Octubre (i+12), Madrid, Spain. ⁵ Division of Rare Diseases. University Hospital Vall d'Hebron, Barcelona, Spain.

This manuscript is under preparation



BNA^{NC} treatment has a different efficacy and toxicity in fibroblasts, lymphoblasts and myoblasts derived from Myotonic Dystrophy Type 1 patients

Alfonsina Ballester-López^{1,2}, Judit Núñez-Manchón¹, Ian Linares-Pardo¹, Emma Koehorst¹, Miriam Almendrote^{1,3}, Giuseppe Lucente^{1,3}, Alejandro Lucia⁴, Mònica Suelves¹, Guillem Pintos-Morell^{2,5}, Jaume Coll-Cantí^{1,2,3}, Alba Ramos-Fransi^{1,3}, Alicia Martínez-Piñeiro^{1,3}, Gisela Nogales-Gadea^{1,2}.

² Centro de Investigación Biomédica en Red de Enfermedades Raras (CIBERER), Instituto de Salud Carlos III, Madrid, Spain.
³ Neuromuscular Pathology Unit. Neurology Service. Neuroscience department, Hospital Universitari Germans Trias i Pujol, Badalona, Barcelona, Spain.

Abstract

Myotonic dystrophy type 1 (DM1) is a neuromuscular disease with multisystemic effects and no known cure. Several studies, using antisense oligonucleotides (ASOs) as a potential therapy, have shown promising results, although the required efficacy for proper treatment is hard to reach due to poor delivery and toxicity. BNA^{NC} are an ASO type with specific chemical modifications that have shown to provide an extra efficiency with less toxicity than other ASOs. However, it is not known yet whether once reaching the target tissues, the treatment will be equally effective to the different cell types, and whether the CTG expansion size of DM1 patients is related to the treatment response. We establish through the use of DM1 patient derived fibroblasts that the most effective BNA^{NC} gapmer was the one directed against the CUG repeat at 30 nM after 48h of treatment. We used these conditions to treat three cell types derived from eight DM1 patients (fibroblasts n=8, lymphoblasts n=6, and myoblasts n=6), in which the tissues for deriving those cells, were obtained simultaneously. Our results showed that BNA^{NC} treatment has very heterogenous effects on the DM1 cells, between and within the patients. BNA^{NC} compounds showed different efficacy depending on the cell type reducing the RNA foci in fibroblasts (79%), lymphoblast (24%) and myoblasts (15%). The mortality of the cells due to the treatment is different between the cell types as well, lymphoblasts showed the highest toxicity with 13% of mortality, followed by fibroblasts (8%) and myoblasts (2%). Finally, BNA^{NC} treatment efficacy in terms of RNA foci reduction and the treatment toxicity in terms of cell mortality seems to be independent of the CTG expansion length.

¹Neuromuscular and Neuropediatric Research Group, Institut d'Investigació en Ciències de la Salut Germans Trias i Pujol, Campus Can Ruti, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, Badalona, Spain.

⁴ Universidad Europea, Madrid, Spain, & Instituto de Investigación Hospital 12 de Octubre (i+12), Madrid, Spain.

⁵ Division of Rare Diseases. University Hospital Vall d'Hebron, Barcelona, Spain.

Introduction

Myotonic Dystrophy Type 1 (DM1) is a multisystemic disorder. Symptoms of DM1 include myotonia, atrophy and muscle weakness [1]. However, muscle is not the only affected tissue in DM1 patients, and other symptoms such as cataracts, cognitive impairment, cardiac and respiratory problems, gastrointestinal and endocrinal affectation are also present in these patients [2]. DM1 is a genetic disease with an autosominal dominant inheritance. The mutation underlying DM1 is a CTG repeat expansion in the 3'UTR region of *dystrophia myotonica* protein kinase (*DMPK*) gene [3]. DM1 patients carry from 50 to over thousand repeats [4]. The CTG expansion lenghts present in the different tissues [5]. The CTG expansion causes the formation of toxic RNA aggregates that accumulate in the nucleus of the cells [6]. These toxic aggregates, called RNA foci, trap different nuclear proteins such as the splicing factor MBNL1, producing significant splicing alterations that affect the cellular function [7]. Although DM1 is the most common muscle dystrophy in adults, there is no treatment to cure or to stop disease progression, yet.

Antisense Oligonucleotides (ASOs) are molecules which are widely studied as a possible therapeutic approach for several diseases, including DM1. The addition of chemical modifications such as phosphorothioate (PS), 2'-O-methoxyethyl (MOE) or 2'-O,4'-C-methylene-locked nucleic acid (LNA), improves the stability and modifies the pharmacokinetic properties of ASOs [8]. Gapmers are a specific type of ASO that are especially useful to target and degrade the RNA foci, since they activate the endonuclease RNase H1 activity [9,10]. However, 2' ribose modifications are not compatible with RNase H1-mediated target degradation. Thus, gapmer compounds have a special structure containing 2' ribose modifications only in the 5' and 3' ends, which increases ASO binding affinity and nuclease resistance, and a nucleotide "gap" with chemical modifications to maintain the RNase H1 activity [8,10].

Different studies have analyzed the therapeutic potential of different ASOs in the DM1 field, in both transfected cells and animal models [11-13]. In 2017, a clinical trial using a MOE gapmer (IONIS-DMPKRx) demonstrated promising results, although lonis Pharmaceuticals is currently working on improving tissue delivery [14]. Other studies have compared MOE and LNA compounds, showing that LNA are 5-10 fold more potent [15,16]. However, the high affinity of LNA can also result in toxic effects due to nonspecific off-target binding, and multiple studies have shown hepatoxicity and apoptosis in both cell and mice models. The 2'-O,4'-methylene bridged nucleic acid [NMe] (BNA^{NC}) modifications also include a locked structure similar to the LNA compounds, which increases the affinity of the molecules [17,18]; however, they have shown to be better tolerated in animal models [19]. Moreover, one previous study has tested BNA^{NC} gapmers in DM1 transfected COSM6 cells, showing that they have comparable potency to LNA gapmers in DM1, as well as a lower propensity to induce caspase activity [20]. Therefore, BNA^{NC} gapmer modifications are a promising alternative for the therapeutic development in DM1. However, the efficacy of these molecules to degrade RNA foci in cells derived from patients, has not been evaluated yet. Moreover, being DM1 a multisystemic disease, little is known about whether the treatment with ASOs would equally affect the different tissue of the body, and whether the CTG expansion length is related to the treatment response.

We obtained skin fibroblast, lymphoblast, and myoblast cell lines derived from eight DM1 patients in which the tissues were extracted at the same time. We compared the response of each cell type after 48 h of treatment with a BNA^{NC} gapmer directed against the CUG repeat. Our study shows that ASOs have a different efficacy and toxicity depending on the treated cell type, and that a high heterogeneity exists in the response between and within the treated patients.

Materials and Methods

Participants and sample collection

The present study was aproved by the ethics commmittee of the University Hospital Germans Trias i Pujol, # PI15-009, and was in agreement with the Declaration of Helsinki for Human Research. We obtained the informed consent from all the participants of the present study. Eight DM1 patients were included in the study.

We obtained blood, a skin and a muscle biospy from each patient at the same time. Blood was obtained from peripheral blood extraction. Muscle biopsies were obtained from the left *Biceps brachialis* (n = 7) and *Vastus lateralis* muscle (n = 1), and skin biospies were obtained by a 0.5 cm skin punch. Blood was collected in heparin tubes and peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were isolated using a

Chapter V

standard ficoll procedure. PBMCs were incubated with anti-human CD3 antibody to supress T cells, and subsequently immortalized with Epstein Bar virus. Lymphoblasts where further cultured with B95-8 medium (80% RPMI, 10% Fetal Bovine Serum, PSF 1x and L-Glutamine 200 nM). Muscle and skin biopsies were seeded in plates with human serum and gelatin 1.5% (1:2), and cultured with DMEM supplemented with 5% of Fetal Bovine Serum and PSF 1x, at 37°C for two-three days. We obtained derived cells from the tissue explants that we further cultured with DMEM supplemented with 15% of fetal bovine serum and PSF 1x in the case of the fibroblasts and supplemented as well with 22% M-199, insulin 1.74 µM, L-glutamine 2 mM, FGF 1.39 nM and EGF 0.135 mM was used in the case of the derived muscle cells. We purified myoblasts through CD56 magnetic beads according to manufacturer's instructions (Miltenyi Biotec; Bergisch Gladbach, Germany), and they were further grown on pre-coated surfaces with 0.1% gelatin until 60-70% of confluence was achieved. We could obtain derived fibroblasts cell lines from the eight patients, whereas lymphoblasts and myoblasts could be obtained only from six patient cell lines. Skin fibroblast, lymphoblast and myoblast cell lines were frozen at -80°C for further BNA^{NC} experiments.

DNA extraction and CTG expansion sizing

We defrosted each cell type and we plated the cells spliting into different groups, treated and non-treated cells. To measure the CTG expansion size present in the different cell types, we first extracted the DNA from a cell pellet obtained from the non-treated cells group. We extracted the genomic DNA from the cell pellets after a 16 hours (h) incubation at 37°C with 20 mg/mL proteinase K, 1.2 mg/mL Tris-HCl pH 8.0, 0.6 mg/mL NaCl, 7.3 mg/mL EDTA and 10% SDS. The following day, we added 5.5 M NaCl before ethanol precipitation. We quantified the isolated DNA with Nanodrop ND-1000 (Themo Fisher Scientific; Waltham, MA).

To measure the CTG expansion size, we performed small pool-PCR, described elsewhere [21]. DNA fragments were resolved by electrophoresis on a 1% agarose gel, followed by southern blot [22]. The estimated CTG sizes of the progenitor, the mode and the longest allele were measured for each cell type by comparison against the molecular weight ladder, using GelAnalyzer 19.1 software.

BNA^{NC} treatment

We used three different BNA^{NC} gapmers that were purchased from Bio-Synthesis. The BNA^{NC} compounds that we used have been based on the previous study of Manning and colleages [20], and had the following sequences: AGCagcagcagCAG (directed against the expansion repeat and will be referred to as CAG), CGGAGcggttgtgaaCTGGC (targeting 121 bp upstream of the CUG expansion, and will be referred to as DMPK) and TCGtgctgctgCTG (targeting non specifically an unkown region of the genome, and will be referred to as C), where capitals mean BNA^{NC} modifications. All ASOs were fully phosphorothioated. BNA^{NC} gapmers were delivered to the cells by 1.6% lipofectamine 2000 (Thermo Fisher Scientific) in Opti-Mem medium. We treated fibroblasts with the three compounds (CAG DMPK and C), using the following doses: 10 nM, 30 nM and 60 nM, for 24 h and 48 h, at 37°C. After the evaluation of the results, fibroblasts, lymphoblasts and myoblasts were treated with CAG at 30 nM during 48 h, at 37°C.

FISH and foci quantification

We detected RNA foci by fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH). Briefly, coverslips containing non-treated and treated fibroblasts, lymphoblasts and myoblasts with 60-70% confluency were fixed with 4% PFA and permeabilized with 0.3% Triton X/PBS for fibroblasts and myoblasts and 0.1% Triton X/PBS for lymphoblasts, for 10 min at room temperature (RT). Thereafter we placed them into a humidified chamber and incubated them overnight at 37°C in hybridization buffer (Cy3-(CAG)₁₀ probe 0.01 μ M, 30% formamide, 10% dextran sulfate, 2mM of vanadyl, 0.02% BSA and 2X SSC). The following day, we washed coverslips three times with 30% formamide/2X SSC for 3 min at 45°C and two times with 1X SSC for three min at 37°C, and did a final wash with 1x PBS for 3 min at RT. We mounted the coverslips using ProLong Gold antifade reagent with DAPI (Invitrogen; Carlsbad, CA).

Images were obtained with a Zeiss AxioObserver Z1 microscope (Jena, Germany), using a 63×/1.4 NA oil immersion objective. After image acquisition, we quantified the RNA foci number using Fiji (ImageJ distribution) software. We analyzed the RNA foci/cell in non-treated and treated cells after 24 h and 48 h, in at least 20 arbitrary cells per each condition and each patient cell type, to calculate the reduction of RNA foci/cell.

Cell mortality quantification

We quantified the cell mortality in non-treated and in treated cells after 24 h and 48 h, using a ReadyProbes[™] Cell Viability Imaging Kit (Invitrogen by Thermo Fisher Scientific). Cell mortality was analyzed in 200 arbitrary cells for each condition in each patient cell type.

Statistical analysis

We used a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) to compare RNA foci reduction and mortality, respectively, among the different cell types. The unpaired Students' t-test was used to compare treated vs non-treated cells. The relationship between CTG expansion size and treatment response (*i.e.*, RNA foci reduction and cell mortality), as well as of the treatment responses among the different cell types within the same patient were analyzed using Pearson's and Spearman correlations for normally and non-normally distributed variables, respectively (normality assessed the Shapiro-Wilk test). The level of significance was set at 0.05 (two-tailed).

Results

24 h of treatment was not enough to reduce RNA foci in DM1 skin fibroblasts

To test which were the best treatment conditions, we first compared two treatment timings, 24 h and 48 h of treatment (with CAG, DMPK and C) at 10 nM, 30 nM and 60 nM, in skin fibroblasts of one patient. Our results showed that the efficacy in reducing the RNA foci and the toxicity of the treatment in skin fibroblasts was highly variable depending on the BNA^{NC} compound (CAG, DMPK or C) (**Figure 1**). The reduction of RNA foci after 24 h of treatment was not significant for any of the three compounds. Cell mortality after 24 h of treatment increased slightly, especially when using the highest concentration of each compound (around 10% more cell mortality compared to the non-treated cells).

After 48h of treatment the RNA foci were visually reduced, but only when using the CAG BNA^{NC} compound (from 1.29 RNA foci/cell in non-treated cells to 0.37 RNA

foci/cell in 10 nM CAG, 0.22 RNA foci/cell in 30 nM CAG and 0.17 RNA foci/cell in 60 nM CAG). DMPK and C BNA^{NC} compounds did not show any significant RNA foci reduction after 48 h of treatment. Referring to the treatment toxicity, the cell mortality rose progressively when increasing the compound concentration, arriving to a 99% and 96% of cell mortality in the case of DMPK and C compounds, respectively, when treating at 60 nM dose. However, the increase in the cell mortality when using CAG BNA^{NC} compound was only 22% more than in non-treated cells at 10 nM dose, 10% at 30 nM dose and 40% at 60 nM dose.



Figure 1. Treatment efficacy and toxicity after 24 and 48 h in DM1 patient's fibroblasts. (A) RNA foci reduction (RNA foci number/cell) after 24 h of treatment in DM1 fibroblasts; n=1. (**B**) Cell mortality (%) after 24 h of treatment in DM1 fibroblasts; n=1. (**C**) RNA foci reduction (RNA foci number/cell) after 48 h of treatment in fibroblasts; n=1. (**D**) Cell mortality (%) after 48 h of treatment in DM1 fibroblasts; n=1. (**D**) Cell mortality (%) after 48 h of treatment in DM1 fibroblasts; n=1. (**D**) Cell mortality (%) after 48 h of treatment in DM1 fibroblasts; n=1. (**D**) Cell mortality (%) after 48 h of treatment in DM1 fibroblasts; n=1. (**D**) Cell mortality (%) after 48 h of treatment in DM1 fibroblasts; n=1. (**D**) Cell mortality (%) after 48 h of treatment in DM1 fibroblasts; n=1. (**D**) Cell mortality (%) after 48 h of treatment in DM1 fibroblasts; n=1. (**D**) Cell mortality (%) after 48 h of treatment in DM1 fibroblasts; n=1. (**D**) Cell mortality (%) after 48 h of treatment in DM1 fibroblasts; n=1. (**D**) Cell mortality (%) after 48 h of treatment in DM1 fibroblasts; n=1. (**D**) Cell mortality (%) after 48 h of treatment in DM1 fibroblasts; n=1. (**D**) Cell mortality (%) after 48 h of treatment in DM1 fibroblasts; n=1. (**D**) Cell mortality (%) after 48 h of treatment in DM1 fibroblasts; n=1. (**D**) Cell mortality (%) after 48 h of treatment in DM1 fibroblasts; n=1. (**D**) Cell mortality (%) after 48 h of treatment in DM1 fibroblasts; n=1. (**D**) Cell mortality (%) after 48 h of treatment in DM1 fibroblasts; n=1. (**D**) Cell mortality (%) after 48 h of treatment in DM1 fibroblasts; n=1. (**D**) Cell mortality (%) after 48 h of treatment in DM1 fibroblasts; n=1. (**D**) Cell mortality (%) after 48 h of treatment in DM1 fibroblasts; n=1. (**D**) Cell mortality (%) after 48 h of treatment in DM1 fibroblasts; n=1. (**D**) Cell mortality (%) after 48 h of treatment in DM1 fibroblasts; n=1. (**D**) Cell mortality (%) after 48 h of treatment in DM1 fibroblasts; n=1. (**D**) Cell mo

CAG BNA^{NC} compound reduced the RNA foci number without increasing the cell mortality

We repeated the previous experiment in skin fibroblasts of three different patients using the three BNA^{NC} compounds (CAG, DMPK and C), at the three different doses (10 nM, 30 nm and 60 nM), but only during 48 h of treatment (**Figure 2**). RNA foci reduction was only significant when using the CAG BNA^{NC} compound at 30 nM (p = 0.018) and 60 nM doses (p = 0.017) (from 1.58 RNA foci/cell in non-treated cells to 0.17 RNA foci/cell and 0.19 RNA foci, respectively). Cell mortality after 48 h was only significant when treating with DMPK (p = 0.020) and C (p = 0.038) at 60 nM (65% and 51%, respectively, of cell mortality increase compared to non-treated cells). By contrast, the cell mortality with CAG BNA^{NC} compound at 30 nM and 60 nM was not significant, only 3% and 25% more than non-treated cells, respectively. After these results we decided that the best treatment conditions to use in the next experiments were CAG BNA^{NC} compound, at 30 nM and during 48 h.



Figure 2. Treatment efficacy and toxicity after 48 h in DM1 patients' fibroblasts. (**A**) RNA foci reduction (RNA foci number/cell) after 48 h of treatment in DM1 fibroblasts; n=3. (**B**) Cell mortality (%) after 48 h of treatment in DM1 fibroblasts; n=3. NT = non-treated cells. * p value < 0.05.

RNA foci reduction was different in each cell type

To evaluate the efficacy of the treatment we treated the three cell types (fibroblasts, lymphoblastsand and myoblasts) with the CAG BNA^{NC} compound, at 30 nM and during 48h, and we quantified the RNA foci number afterwards. **Figure 3** shows the presence of the RNA foci aggregates before and after the treatment in the

three different cell types. Our results showed that the reduction of the RNA foci was different in each cell type (p = 0.0002) (**Figure 4**). Fibroblasts were the cell type which showed higher RNA foci/cell reduction (79%), followed by lymphoblasts which showed 24% of reduction and finally myoblasts, which showed 15% of RNA foci/cell reduction. We found differences within each cell type as well, with a RNA foci/cell average reduction from 22% to 100% in fibroblasts, from 0% to 62% in lymphoblasts, and from 0% to 37% in myoblasts.



Figure 3. RNA foci reduction in fibroblasts, lymphoblasts and myoblasts. RNA foci (red), cell nucleus (blue). Scale bars: $10 \,\mu$ m. (**A**) RNA foci (red) in fibroblasts before (NT) and after (CAG 30 nM 48 h) the treatment. (**B**) RNA foci (red) in lymphoblasts before (NT) and after (CAG 30 nM 48 h) the treatment. (**C**) RNA foci (red) in myoblasts before (NT) and after (CAG 30 nM 48 h) the treatment. NT = non-treated cells.


Figure 4. RNA foci reduction (%) in fibroblasts, lymphoblasts and myoblasts after 48 h of CAG 30 nM treatment. % of RNA foci number/cell reduction in fibroblasts (79%), lymphoblasts (24%) and myoblasts (15%). *** *p value* < 0.001.

Each cell type showed different mortality in response to the treatment

We evaluated the cell mortality after the treatment in the different cell types, and each cell type showed different mortality in response to the treatment (**Figure 5**). Lymphoblasts showed higher mortality after the treatment (18%), compared to fibroblasts (8%) and myoblasts (3%) (p = 0.005). However, when comparing with the non-treated cells, the cell mortality after the treatment only increased significantly in fibroblasts (p = 0.023) (5% more than non-treated cells). We also quantified the toxicity that was associated to the lipofectamine itself in every cell type, and we did not find any significant increase in the cell mortaly due to the lipofectamine compared to the non-treated cells.



Figure 5. Cell mortality (%) in fibroblasts, lymphoblasts and myoblasts after 48 h of CAG 30 nM treatment. Comparation between cell mortality in non-treated and treated cells (CAG 30 nM 48 h). NT = non-treated cells. * *p value* < 0.05; *** *p value* < 0.001.

Chapter V

CTG expansion size did not correlate with the RNA foci reduction or cell mortality

We wondered whether the different cell types coming from the same patient would show the same RNA foci reduction and cell mortality tendency after the treatment in each cell type. Thus, we analyzed whether the heterogeneity found in the the treatment response of each cell type was patient depended. However, no correlations were found between the cell types coming from the same patient. Furthermore, we also wanted to study whether the treatment response was related to the CTG expansion size present in the cells. Likewise, no significant correlations were found between the CTG expansion length of any cell type and their response to the treatment, not regarding the RNA foci reduction and neither the cell mortality.

Discussion

After testing different BNA^{NC} compounds at different doses and treatment durations, we found that CAG BNA^{NC} compound at 30 nM dose and during 48 h were the best treatment conditions when analyzing the RNA foci reduction and the cell mortality. Thus, we used these conditions to treat three different cell types (fibroblasts, lymphoblasts and myoblasts) derived from DM1 patients and analyze the treatment response in each cellular type.

Our results showed that 24 h of treatment was not enough time to show a significant RNA foci reduction. Manning and colleagues showed that 24 h of CAG BNA^{NC} compound treatment did show a significant knockdown of the mRNA levels in COSM6 transfected cells, even at 0.3 nM dose [20]. This suggests that the efficacy of these therapies in transfected cells may be higher, especially considering the overexpression of the expanded *DMPK* compared to DM1 patient derived cells. Regardless, our results showed a slight increase in the cell mortality after 24 h when using the highest dose of each compound, suggesting that 60 nM was in general a too high of a dose. After 48 h of treatment, we only observed significant RNA foci reduction when treating with the CAG BNA^{NC} compound, at 30 nM and 60 nM, whereas DMPK BNA^{NC} compound did not show any significant RNA foci reduction at any of the tested doses. Interestingly, the study mentioned previously showed that

Chapter V

CAG BNA^{NC} compounds displayed more potent mRNA knockdown than DMPK BNA^{NC} compound at lower doses (30 nM) but DMPK BNA^{NC} compound were more effective than CAG ones at a higher dose (100 nM) [20]. They hypothesize that at low concentrations the CAG BNA^{NC} compound have more binding sites per molecule, and at higher concentrations the CUG repeat is partially blocked, probably by MBNL proteins or RNA structure. However, we found that at the higher dose we used (60 nM), the RNA foci reduction seen after DMPK BNA^{NC} compound treatment was not significant, and moreover, it was related to a significant increase in the cell mortality. Contrary, Manning et al. did not find cytotoxic effects using either CAG and DMPK BNA^{NC} compound at 30 nM [20]. The fact that they did not find cytotoxic effects could indicate that patient derived cells are more sensitive to the toxicity of a BNA^{NC} treatment than transfected cells. Moreover, we have treated cells that contain different CTG expansion sizes, from 329 to 1875 CTGs, whereas in the previous study only transfected cells containing 300 CTGs have been studied. In accordance to the hypothesis from Manning et al., this could be related to the fact that when treating cells containing longer CTGs there are more binding sites per molecule, explaining the higher RNA foci reduction seen in CAG BNA^{NC} compound compared to DMPK BNA^{NC} compound, and also the higher dose that is required in patient derived cells to achieve a significant RNA foci reduction compared to transfected cells.

When comparing the treatment efficacy between the cell types, our results showed that the CAG BNA^{NC} compound reduced the RNA foci in fibroblasts, lymphoblasts and myoblasts of DM1 patients. However, the average number of RNA foci reduction was different for each cell type. This suggests that each cell type may respond different due to the cell membrane properties that modify the BNA^{NC} compound efficacy to penetrate into the cells. Experiences in the laboratory indicate that myoblasts are in general difficult to transfect, which could explain the fact that they showed the lowest RNA foci reduction after the treatment. Achieving the lowest efficacy in myoblasts, which are derived from one of the most affected tissues in DM1 patients, represents an issue for the DM1 treatment approach, and it is actually the reason why the ISIS clinical trial was halted, due to the limited muscle uptake. Our results also highlight the necessity of focusing on the improvement of muscle delivery. The fact that lymphoblasts, derived from one of the most accessible tissues, did not show a cell mortality increase due to the treatment, indicates that may be a possibility to increase an intravenous treatment dose in order to reach other tissues with more

efficacy. Moreover, the cell mortality in myoblasts due to the treatment was not significant, which is in accordance to the idea that the delivery into these cells is limited.

Besides the heterogenous treatment response found between the cell types, we also found differences between each patient's cell line. When we studied whether this response was patient-related and whether fibroblasts, lymphoblasts and myoblasts from a same patient had the same response tendency to the treatment, we did not find any correlation, meaning that the response to the treatment is specific to each cell type, independently to the patient. This suggests that although the treatment would be better tolerated and more effective in one patient tissue, another tissue from the same patient could be reacting very differently to the same treatment. Moreover, we also analyzed whether the CTG expansion size was related to the treatment response. It is known that the CTG expansion length is related to the age of disease onset and to the MRC in the muscle [23,24], and thus, it would be interesting to see whether the cells carrying longer expansions, which could be more severely affected, would show the same treatment efficacy using the same BNA^{NC} compound dose compared to other cells carrying shorter expansions. However, we did not find any correlation, suggesting that the treatment response is independent of the CTG expansion size.

We were also interested in analyzing the effects that the treatment had on the sequestration of the MBNL1 protein into the RNA foci. Using CAG BNA^{NC} compound 30 nM 48 h we have seen 100% reduction of the RNA foci only in one patient, meaning that in general lines, the presence of the toxic aggregates does not disappear completely and although the MBNL1 will be probably trapped in a less fraction, we are interested in studying whether in the residual RNA foci the CUG binding sites are blocked by the ASO, and the level of sequestered MBNL1 is even less. Additionally, we were interested in analyzing whether the treatment is also targeting the non-expanded CUG coming from the expression of the wild type *DMPK*. However, the results of the quantitative-PCR quantifying the *DMPK* gene expression are pending to be analyzed.

In conclusion, we have shown that DM1 cells respond differently to a BNA^{NC} treatment. This hypothesizes that when a specific ASO therapeutic approach will be

administered and delivered equally to the tissues, the treatment efficacy and toxicity among tissues and patients will not be the same.

References

- Harper PS, Brook JD, Newman E. Myotonic dystrophy. W.B. Saunders; 2001.
 436 p.
- Lee JE, Cooper TA. Pathogenic mechanisms of myotonic dystrophy. Biochem Soc Trans [Internet]. 2009 Dec 1 [cited 2020 Oct 9];37(6):1281-6. Available from: /biochemsoctrans/article/37/6/1281/64894/Pathogenic-mechanisms-ofmyotonic-dystrophy
- Brook JD, McCurrach ME, Harley HG, Buckler AJ, Church D, Aburatani H, et al. Molecular basis of myotonic dystrophy: Expansion of a trinucleotide (CTG) repeat at the 3' end of a transcript encoding a protein kinase family member. Cell. 1992 Feb 21;68(4):799-808.
- Turner C, Hilton-Jones D. The myotonic dystrophies: Diagnosis and management. Vol. 81, Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry. BMJ Publishing Group; 2010. p. 358-67.
- R. La Spada A. Trinucleotide Repeat Instability: Genetic Features and Molecular Mechanisms. Brain Pathol. 1997 Jul;7(3):943-63.
- Fu YH, Pizzuti A, Fenwick RG, King J, Rajnarayan S, Dunne PW, et al. An unstable triplet repeat in a gene related to myotonic muscular dystrophy. Science (80-). 1992;255(5049):1256-8.
- 7. Miller JW. Recruitment of human muscleblind proteins to (CUG)n expansions associated with myotonic dystrophy. EMBO J. 2000 Sep 1;19(17):4439-48.
- Prakash TP. An overview of sugar-modified oligonucleotides for antisense therapeutics [Internet]. Vol. 8, Chemistry and Biodiversity. Chem Biodivers; 2011 [cited 2020 Oct 9]. p. 1616-41. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/21922654/
- Kurreck J, Wyszko E, Gillen C, Erdmann VA. Design of antisense oligonucleotides stabilized by locked nucleic acids. Nucleic Acids Res [Internet].
 2002 May 1 [cited 2020 Oct 9];30(9):1911-8. Available from:

https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/11972327/

- Wu H, Lima WF, Zhang H, Fan A, Sun H, Crooke ST. Determination of the Role of the Human RNase H1 in the Pharmacology of DNA-like Antisense Drugs. J Biol Chem [Internet]. 2004 Apr 23 [cited 2020 Oct 9];279(17):17181-9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/14960586/
- Mulders SAM, Van Den Broek WJAA, Wheeler TM, Croes HJE, Van Kuik-Romeijn P, De Kimpe SJ, et al. Triplet-repeat oligonucleotide-mediated reversal of RNA toxicity in myotonic dystrophy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A [Internet]. 2009 Aug 18 [cited 2020 Jul 17];106(33):13915-20. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19667189/
- Wheeler TM, Sobczak K, Lueck JD, Osborne RJ, Lin X, Dirksen RT, et al. Reversal of RNA dominance by displacement of protein sequestered on triplet repeat RNA. Science (80-) [Internet]. 2009 Jul 17 [cited 2020 Jul 17];325(5938):336-9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19608921/
- 13. Pandey SK, Wheeler TM, Justice SL, Kim A, Younis HS, Gattis D, et al. Identification and characterization of modified antisense oligonucleotides targeting DMPK in mice and nonhuman primates for the treatment of myotonic dystrophy type 1s. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 2015;355(2):329-40.
- Letter from Ionis Pharmaceuticals & Biogen to the MDF Community [Internet].
 [cited 2020 Oct 9]. Available from: https://us8.campaignarchive.com/?u=8f5969cac3271759ce78c8354&id=1109538bcf&e=[UNIQID]
- Jepsen JS, Sørensen MD, Wengel J. Locked nucleic acid: A potent nucleic acid analog in therapeutics and biotechnology [Internet]. Vol. 14, Oligonucleotides. Oligonucleotides; 2004 [cited 2020 Jul 20]. p. 130-46. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15294076/
- 16. Eric E Swayze, Andrew M Siwkowski, Edward V Wancewicz, Michael T Migawa, Tadeusz K Wyrzykiewicz, Gene Hung, et al. Antisense oligonucleotides containing locked nucleic acid improve potency but cause significant hepatotoxicity in animals. Nucleic Acids Res. 2007;
- Rahman SMA, Seki S, Obika S, Yoshikawa H, Miyashita K, Imanishi T. Design, synthesis, and properties of 2',4'-BNANC: A bridged nucleic acid analogue. J Am Chem Soc [Internet]. 2008 Apr 9 [cited 2020 Jul 20];130(14):4886-96.

Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18341342/

- Miyashita K, Rahman SMA, Seki S, Obika S, Imanishi T. N-Methyl substituted 2',4'-BNANC: A highly nuclease-resistant nucleic acid analogue with highaffinity RNA selective hybridization. Chem Commun [Internet]. 2007 [cited 2020 Jul 20];(36):3765-7. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17851621/
- Shiota M, Bishop JL, Nip KM, Zardan A, Takeuchi A, Cordonnier T, et al. Hsp27 regulates epithelial mesenchymal transition, metastasis, and circulating tumor cells in prostate cancer. Cancer Res [Internet]. 2013 May 15 [cited 2020 Oct 9];73(10):3109-19. Available from: http://cancerres.aacrjournals.org/
- 20. Manning KS, Rao AN, Castro M, Cooper TA. BNANC Gapmers Revert Splicing and Reduce RNA Foci with Low Toxicity in Myotonic Dystrophy Cells. ACS Chem Biol. 2017 Oct 20;12(10):2503-9.
- Cumming SA, Jimenez-Moreno C, Okkersen K, Wenninger S, Daidj F, Hogarth F, et al. Genetic determinants of disease severity in the myotonic dystrophy type
 1 OPTIMISTIC cohort. Neurology. 2019 Sep 3;93(10):E995-1009.
- Gomes-Pereira M, Bidichandani SI, Monckton DG. Analysis of unstable triplet repeats using small-pool polymerase chain reaction. Methods Mol Biol. 2004;277:61-76.
- Ballester-Lopez A, Linares-Pardo I, Koehorst E, Núñez-Manchón J, Pintos-Morell G, Coll-Cantí J, et al. The Need for Establishing a Universal CTG Sizing Method in Myotonic Dystrophy Type 1. Genes (Basel) [Internet]. 2020 Jul 7 [cited 2020 Jul 8];11(7):757. Available from: https://www.mdpi.com/2073-4425/11/7/757
- 24. Cumming SA, Jimenez-Moreno C, Okkersen K, Wenninger S, Daidj F, Hogarth F, et al. Genetic determinants of disease severity in the myotonic dystrophy type
 1 OPTIMISTIC cohort. Neurology [Internet]. 2019 Sep 3 [cited 2020 Mar 27];93(10):e995-1009. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/31395669

Global Summary of the Results

9

20 2

1.1

1 m.

Report of the supervisor

En la presente tesis de Alfonsina Ballester López están incluidos tres artículos publicados, y un cuarto en revisión, que esperamos que en las próximas semanas sea aceptado para su publicación. El primer artículo aceptado que forma el capítulo III de la tesis es A DM1 family with interruptions associated with atypical symptoms and late onset but not with a milder phenotype. Este artículo se publicó en 2019, en la revista internacional Human Mutation, que tiene un factor de impacto de 4,370. En este trabajo Alfonsina Ballester es primera autora firmante. Ha hecho la mayoría de los experimentos, ha analizado sus resultados, y ha participado en la escritura y revisado el contenido final del manuscrito. El segundo artículo aceptado es Threedimensional imaging in myotonic dystrophy type 1: Linking molecular alterations with disease phenotype. Este artículo forma parte del capítulo IV de la tesis, y se publicó en la revista internacional Neurology Genetics, que tiene un factor de impacto en 2019 de 3.65. En este trabajo Alfonsina Ballester también es primera autora firmante. Ha hecho la mayoría de los experimentos, ha analizado sus resultados, y ha escrito el manuscrito y revisado su contenido final. Finalmente, el último artículo aceptado que forma parte de la tesis es The Need for Establishing a Universal CTG Sizing Method in Myotonic Dystrophy Type 1. El artículo forma el primer capítulo de la tesis y se publicó en la revista internacional Genes, que tiene un factor de impacto en 2019 de 3.331. En este trabajo Alfonsina Ballester es primera autora firmante. Igualmente, ella ha hecho la mayoría de los experimentos, ha analizado sus resultados, y ha escrito el manuscrito y revisado el contenido final del manuscrito.

Todos los trabajos anteriormente citados no han sido utilizados para la realización de ninguna otra tesis anteriormente.

Gisele Nogales

Gisela Nogales Gadea (Directora de tesis)

Josep Saura Martí (Tutor de tesis)

Global Summary of the Results

Regarding the Chapter I, in order to determine whether different sizing techniques yielded the same CTG expansion size in DM1 patients, we compared the results obtained from 15 DM1 patients' blood using three different techniques: HPE-PCR, LPCR-SB and SP-PCR. Unlike a conventional PCR, HPE-PCR includes multiple heat pulses during the extension step, which improves the amplification of long CTG fragments. Although it is not commonly used to size the CTG expansion, HPE-PCR is a fast and easy method that showed promising results in a previous publication [81]. On the other hand, LPCR-SB, which consists of a long pre-amplification followed by southern blot hybridization, and SP-PCR, consisting of the use of small amounts of input DNA to amplify few genomic equivalents, are both common techniques currently used to size the expansion in DM1 patients. Moreover, since laboratories are using different primers sets for LPCR, in order to see whether this variability could also affect our results, we not only compared the results between these three techniques, but we also used three different primer pairs for the LPCR-SB assay, resulting in LPCR1-SB, LPCR2-SB and LPCR3-SB. Regarding the CTG expansion, we determined both the estimated progenitor and mode size in each patient for each technique.

HPE-PCR results were inconsistent in our hands since controls showed a similar smear (suggestive of carrying expansions) to the one found in patients. Regarding to LPCR-SB, the amplification of the CTG expansion in some patients was not possible (two for LPCR1-SB and LPCR2-SB, respectively, and 11 for LPCR3-SB). Thus, based on the inconsistency of HPE-PCR and the small amount of data points in LPCR3-SB, the results of both methods were excluded from the statistical analysis. In LPCR-SB, the amplified products in some patients appeared as high smears, probably due to a mobility impairment in long amplifications of highly concentrated DNA (*i.e.*, 100 ng in the final PCR reaction). Consequently, we excluded three data points in LPCR1 that surpassed our detection limit of 2000 CTGs based on the juvenile-classical phenotype of our patients. In the case of SP-PCR, the amplification of the CTG expansion was possible in all 15 patients.

When comparing between the method results, LPCRs yielded shorter progenitor alleles and longer mode alleles compared to SP-PCR. The estimated progenitor allele of LPCR1-SB and LPCR2-SB correlated strongly (r = 0.983, p < 0.0001), but no correlations were found with SP-PCR. However, the comparison

between the three techniques with analyzable data (*i.e.*, LPCR1-SB, LPCR2-SB and SP-PCR) showed no significant group effect, neither for the CTG expansion size of the progenitor (p = 0.112) nor for the mode allele (p = 0.653).

Finally, we analyzed possible correlations between the genetic data and the age of disease onset, the Muscular Impairment Rating scale (MIRS) and the modified Rankin Scale (mRS). We found an inverse correlation between the CTG expansion size of the progenitor allele determined by SP-PCR and the age of disease onset (r = -0.734, p = 0.016).

To better understand the CTG instability present in tissues (**Chapter II**), we analyzed the CTG expansion size in three different tissues (blood, muscle and skin) obtained simultaneously from eight DM1 patients. We determined, by SP-PCR, the estimated progenitor, the most abundant (mode) and the longest CTG expansion size in each tissue, as well as the somatic instability (calculated by subtracting the progenitor CTG size from the mode CTG size). There was one DNA sample from muscle biopsy and three DNAs from skin biopsies which yielded no amplification and precluded the CTG sizing. Thus, we were able to analyze the CTG instability in eight blood, seven muscle, and five skin tissues of our DM1 patients.

Our results indicated that muscle and skin have larger expansions than blood. However, we did not observe significant differences across the tissues in the estimated progenitor (p = 0.449), the mode CTG size (p = 0.247) and the genetic instability (p = 0.691). Instead, we observed that the longest CTG (p = 0.041) was significantly different between the tree tissues. Analyzing the CTG distribution in each tissue, we found that in blood, the estimated progenitor, the mode and the longest expansion size were correlated and uniformly distributed (all correlations p < 0.05). Contrary, in the case of muscle and skin, only the estimated progenitor and the mode size showed a correlation (p < 0.05), whereas the longest size was independent. No correlation was found between tissues. Moreover, as we included a patient carrying variant repeats, we analyzed whether this patient had a more stable CTG distribution in any of the tree tissues. However, we did not observe any difference compared to the CTG distribution of the other patients. Finally, we aimed to determine whether the genetic data of the different tissues was associated to the patients' phenotype. Thus, we analyzed the relationship of all CTG parameters (estimated progenitor, mode, longest size and genetic instability) with three clinical traits: age of disease onset, Medical Research Council (MRC) scale and MIRS. We found that only the estimated progenitor CTG size in muscle correlated with the age of disease onset (r = -0.850, p < 0.05). Additionally, the estimated progenitor (r = -0.932, p < 0.05) and mode size in muscle (r=-0.898, p < 0.05] correlated with MRC.

We analyzed the presence of variant repeats in 49 Spanish patients belonging to 36 different families (**Chapter III**). We screened the presence of interruptions by TP-PCR technique, which shows the presence of variant repeats as gaps in the contiguous pattern of peaks corresponding to the CTG triplets. In total, five patients of our registry (10%) carried CCG interruptions at the 3'-end of the CTG expansion. These patients belonged to the same family, and were three sisters (P1, P2 and P3) and the son (P4) and the daughter (P5) of two of them.

To determine the interrupted allele patterns of the patients. First, we performed an Acil digestion, an enzyme that specifically cleavages 5' CCGC 3'/ 3' GGCG 5' sequence and thus, allows the detection of CCG or GGC variant repeats. In all five patients, the results showed a downward shift of the smear in the gel of the digested product compared with the nondigested product, indicating that Acil had cleaved the PCR product and therefore the interruption was likely either a CCG or a GGC triplet. Lastly, we sequenced the DNAs using specific CCG and GGC primers to reveal the detailed interrupted pattern. Two patients, mother (P2) and son (P4), showed the same interruption pattern, consisting in a complex CCG pattern with one pair of CCGs together with other isolated CCG repeats. The other three family members had different interruption patterns. Patient P1 had isolated CCG repeats scattered across the expansion. Patient P3 showed a few CCGCTG hexamers inside a complex pattern with some extra CCG located in different positions. Patient P5 (the daughter of P3) showed a pattern similar to that of her mother with respect to the hexamers, but with some extra CCGs located in different positions, generating three consecutive CCG repeats.

We measured by SP-PCR the estimated progenitor allele size of the five patients carrying variant repeats. Comparing their estimated progenitor allele size, we could determine the effect of the interruptions on the expansion inheritance between generations. We detected a contraction in the repeat size from patient P2 to patient P4 (*i.e.*, from mother to son) and an expansion from patient P3 to patient P5 (*i.e.*, from mother to daughter). This expansion was also linked to anticipation, with an earlier age of onset for P5 compared to her mother (P3).

Regarding the phenotype, the three sisters had a late onset of symptoms (≥50 years). Patient P1 was the oldest of the siblings and the most severely affected, presenting atypical traits such as severe axial and proximal weakness requiring walking assistance. Patients P1 and P2 showed severe cardiac and respiratory dysfunction. Patient P3 showed cardiac dysfunction and had severe axial weakness as well, with mild proximal limb weakness and moderate distal weakness. Patient P4, at the age of 35 years, was asymptomatic and had no detectable myotonia or cardiac alterations. Contrary, patient P5, started with clinical manifestation at the age of 27. Five years later, P5 was displaying classic DM1 traits, such as facial weakness and cardiac impairment.

We aimed to analyze the main molecular players that are involved in the toxic RNA gain-of-function pathomechanism (**Chapter IV**). To do that, we used a 3D imaging technology by which we analyzed 71 whole myoblasts derived from DM1 patients. First, we divided the cultured patients' myoblasts in two different pools. One of these pools was used to determine, by LPCR-SB, the CTG expansion size present in the patients' myoblasts, which ranged from 195 to 1568 CTG repeats. The other cell pool was used to stain RNA foci and MBNL1 protein and subsequently perform the 3D imaging analysis. The 3D imaging was obtained through several Z-stack images covering the total thickness of the myoblasts and further processing with Zen Black and Imaris.

The number of RNA foci was highly heterogeneous among the myoblasts, not only between the myoblasts from different patients, but also between the myoblasts coming from the same patient. The average number of RNA foci found in our 71 myoblasts was of 3 RNA foci per cell, in a range from 0 to 6. Of note, two patients only displayed RNA foci in 40% of the myoblasts, whereas the other four patients had RNA foci in 100% of their myoblasts. When we compared the size of the CTG expansion with the number of RNA foci present in the myoblasts, we found a strong positive correlation (r = 0.876, p = 0.022).

Regarding the localization of the RNA foci, we found that most of these RNA foci were located in the nucleus of the cells. However, 12% of the total RNA foci found in the 71 myoblasts were located in the cytoplasm varying in a range from 4% to 23% in the different DM1 patient lines. All 6 DM1 myoblast cell lines showed presence of RNA foci in the cytoplasm in some cells. The percentage of cells carrying cytoplasmic RNA foci varied among the DM1 patients' lines in a range from 10% to 45% of the cells. Actually, we found a strong, positive correlation between the number of CTG repeats and the percentage of cells with cytoplasmic RNA foci (r = 0.943, p = 0.017). Interestingly, the percentage of cells with cytoplasmic RNA foci was also correlated to the percentage of cells carrying RNA foci (nuclear and/or cytoplasmic) (r = 0.845, p = 0.033), which also correlated with the average number of RNA foci (nuclear and/or cytoplasmic) per myoblast (r = 0.886, p = 0.033). Moreover, we analyzed the area occupied by RNA foci and found that those cell lines that contained RNA foci with larger areas had more foci in the cytoplasm (r = 0.839, p = 0.037). When comparing the molecular data that we obtained with the clinical characteristics of the patients, we found that a higher number of cytoplasmic RNA foci is associated with an earlier disease onset (r = -0.818, p = 0.047).

We further calculated the volume that the nuclear RNA foci occupied compared to the total volume of the nucleus, and we found that RNA foci only represented a small fraction (0.34 to 0.53%) of the total nucleus volume.

Regarding the MBNL1 protein, we observed that it was located both in the nucleus and in the cytoplasm of DM1 myoblasts. The colocalization with RNA foci was present in all patients' cell lines and not only with the nuclear RNA foci but also with the cytoplasmic RNA foci. Actually, the cytoplasmic colocalization represented 9% of the total cellular colocalization. When we analyzed the amount of trapped MBNL1, we found that it represented less than 1% of the total MBNL1 expression in DM1 myoblasts.

As RNA foci are the product of *DMPK* gene transcription, we aimed to analyze the expression of DMPK transcripts. Therefore, we performed quantitative-PCR using a probe that was located outside the CTG expansion, thus, detecting the expression of both wild-type and expanded *DMPK* alleles. We did not find significant differences between the *DMPK* gene expression of patients and controls myoblasts. However, we found a positive correlation between *DMPK* gene expression and both the nuclear RNA foci (r = 0.993, p = 0.008) and the total (nuclear and/or cytoplasmic) RNA foci number (r = 0.967, p = 0.033).

Finally, to study how the alternative splicing was affected in DM1 myoblasts, we analyzed the expression of the inclusion and exclusion isoforms–INSR exon 11, ATP2A1 exon 22, and MBNL1 exon 7–. However, we did not detect the typical DM1 splicing misregulation in myoblast.



Global Summary of the Discussion

21

20 0

TY

-

Global Summary of the Discussion

Regarding the **Chapter I**, although no significant group effect was found between the techniques that are used to size the CTG expansion, there is variability in the number of CTG repeats for a given patient depending on the CTG sizing method. Regarding the HPE-PCR, we obtained results that were inconsistent and thus, difficult to interpret. The fact that LPCR1-SB and LPCR2-SB yielded correlated results only regarding the estimation of the progenitor allele size, means that when amplifying short CTG expansions, the variability between these two methods is lower than when amplifying longer repeats. Thus, the LPCR-SB technique would be sensitive to the size of the template. Additionally, LPCR-SB might be more sensitive to parameters, such as the quality of input DNA, compared to SP-PCR, since LPCR3-SB did not allow the amplification of most of the patients' DNA samples.

Using high input of DNA in LPCR-SB approaches, together with the instability of the mutation, hinders the differentiation of the progenitor allele size from possible contractions of the repeat. Another factor that may affect the results is the number of PCR cycles–35 cycles are used in LPCR vs. 28 for SP-PCR–since a high number of cycles facilitates the amplification of shorter products, whereas longer products may not be favored. Moreover, the number of PCR cycles increases PCR slippage, which tends to shorten the products. These phenomena could explain why LPCR-SB yielded lower progenitor allele sizes than SP-PCR. By contrast, SP-PCR–which amplifies only small input DNA–shows discrete bands that allow for a detailed analysis of the mutational spectrum and allele size distribution [86]. As such, this technique enables a better detection and estimation of the progenitor allele from post-contractions of the repeat.

SP-PCR was the only technique that enabled amplification of all DNA samples and in fact, was the only one yielding a result (the progenitor allele size) that was correlated with an important phenotype trait of DM1, the age of disease onset. Thus, our results suggest that progenitor allele length is the major modifier of age of disease onset, and as such, it is very important to use an accurate method for its determination. Furthermore, the results are overall in accordance with previous studies reporting a correlation between progenitor allele length measured by SP-PCR and both age of disease onset and clinical severity [70,80], although we found no correlation with MIRS or mRS. The size of the cohort plus the fact that CTG sizes in blood may be poor representatives of muscle status, might explain the lack of finding these correlations.

There are many studies that are published nowadays that do not detail the technical approach that has been followed to size the CTG expansion, neither the criteria that they used to select the band from which the CTG expansion size is calculated. In this sense, our study shows how important it is to share this information, in order to be able to compare studies and to understand the process that has been followed. Moreover, it is a priority to generate a consensus among researchers working in DM1, to decide which is the referral technique to use for sizing the CTG expansion in patients with DM1.

Analyzing the CTG expansion in three different tissues (**Chapter II**), our results showed that CTG expansions are in general larger in muscle and skin than in blood. These results are in accordance to previous studies in which they showed that muscle [61,62,66] and patients' fibroblasts [63] carry larger expansions than lymphocytes. However, no previous study has assessed simultaneously the CTG repeats in blood, muscle and skin tissues by SP-PCR, considering the CTG instability present in the tissue and not only measuring one single CTG size. This strategy allowed us to determine that between tissues, the progenitor and the mode size do not differ significantly, but the longest expansion does. This finding suggests that the CTG track is expanding in different manners in each tissue during development, and that the variability of the CTG expansion increases with time.

We also observed that the genetic instability was present in the three tissues. Genetic instability is a complex phenomenon that can be produced by many factors [74,256-259], not only during cell division, but also during DNA repair events, transcriptions and epigenetic changes. In muscle and skin, a non-dividing cell status and the DNA repair mechanisms probably play an important role in its instability. In the case of blood, the instability is most likely also affected by the dividing status of these cells.

Analyzing each tissue independently, we found that all measures in blood (progenitor, mode and longest CTG) are correlated, suggesting that in blood, the progenitor CTG size leads the expansion mosaicism. Conversely, in muscle and skin the progenitor correlated with the mode but not with the longest CTG, meaning that the expansion mosaicism of the CTG track in these tissues is more random, probably because of the longer repeat lengths.

We did not find differences between the CTG instability in the patients carrying variant repeats compared to the rest of the patients who carried a pure CTG expansion. Some authors have described that the variant repeats might have a stabilizing effect on the CTG expansion [75,79]. We analyzed for the first time the genetic instability in different tissues of a patient carrying variant repeats, and we did not find a more stable CTG distribution compared to the other patients carrying a pure CTG expansion.

We found that the muscle progenitor allele was the only one associated with age of disease onset. It has been shown that the progenitor size present in blood of DM1 patients is also a good indicator of age of disease onset [70]. However, probably due to the small sample size of the study, we could not find this correlation in this cohort. The fact that we did find correlations with the CTG expansion size present in muscle is not surprising considering that it is one of the most affected tissues in DM1. Our results have confirmed the hypothesis of different authors suggesting that CTG measured in muscle could correlate better with disease severity than CTG measured in blood [61,62]. Our data not only indicates that the CTG size present in muscle correlates better with the age of disease onset than the present in blood, but also that it correlates with the MRC scale in patients' muscles. These results indicate the direct involvement of the CTG expansion in muscle function, compromising patients' muscle strength.

The effect of variant repeat patterns on the DM1 clinical phenotype is still unclear (**Chapter III**). Previous studies have led to the believe that patients with interrupted alleles have some atypical symptoms, but overall a milder phenotype than their age matched DM1 non-interrupted peers with a similar repeat length [42,72,75,77,259]. In this respect, our results support the occurrence of atypical DM1 features and late age of onset, but not of a milder phenotype in patients carrying interruptions. Indeed, several classical symptoms could be found in some members of our family, and P4 was still asymptomatic at age 35. The majority of the patients

however, showed a more severe manifestation of the disease, including cardiorespiratory problems and also needing mechanical ventilation and a pacemaker. In addition to the severity of the disease, they also presented an atypical distribution pattern of muscle weakness; axial weakness and mild or absent facial weakness that could confuse the DM1 diagnosis for the diagnostic of other dystrophies instead. We should take into account that contrary to the vast majority of the studies, we analyzed patients carrying interruptions after several years since the beginning of their symptoms. This fact could explain why we did find patients carrying variant repeats with a significant disease severity compared to other authors, who reported milder symptoms. Thus, despite the small number of patients within the same family, our results challenge the notion that interrupted patients who remain asymptomatic until their late 30s or 40s are not at risk for having a severe phenotype later in life.

The prevalence of interrupted alleles among our patients was ~10%, and 3% among the studied DM1 families. This is in overall agreement with previous studies in which the prevalence in families ranged from 3% to 5%. The type of interruption present in our cohort was CCG, which is currently the most frequently reported variant repeat. We also found that the CCG repeat pattern can vary or be maintained between intergenerational transmissions.

In between generations, we detected a contraction of the expansion between mother (P2) and son (P4), but also an expansion between mother (P3) and daughter (P5). Previous studies suggest that CTG expansion containing variant repeat patterns display more frequently stable, or even contracted DMPK alleles, instead of further expanded DMPK alleles [42,72,74,75,77]. However, they also found anticipation in interrupted DM1 families [72,75,77]. Perhaps these expansions in interrupted alleles from one generation to another are less frequent than in pure CTG expansions transmissions, but they do occur.

The small number of interrupted patients present in the DM1 population makes it hard to perform genotype-phenotype correlations and there is still much uncertainty. Studies with larger DM1 cohorts, preferably with DM1 families, are needed to unravel the phenotypic consequences of variant repeat patterns and to study their effect on intergenerational transmissions of the DMPK expanded allele. We analyzed molecular factors that are involved in the main pathological mechanism underlying DM1 (**Chapter IV**). First, our results showed that the number of RNA foci per DM1 myoblast is regulated by the CTG expansion length. A previous study also showed that the number of RNA foci is linked to the CTG expansion size. They divided DM1 patients in two groups, patients who carried less than 500 CTGs and patients who carried more than 1000 CTGs, and they found that the group with the higher CTG expansion size had a higher RNA foci number compared to the group carrying lower CTGs [123]. We found that this relationship is maintained in a broader range of CTG expansions, not dividing the patients in groups but studying the correlation in a cohort of patients who carried from 192 to 1568 CTG repeats.

Our data indicated that there is a small number of RNA foci per DM1 myoblast, averaging only 3 per cell (range 0 to 6), which is consistent with the findings of previous research in muscle tissue [123,124,260]. Interestingly, not all the DM1 myoblasts derived from the same patient had RNA foci. Two lines of patient-derived myoblasts, who carried the shorter expansions, showed RNA foci only in 40% and 80% of the cells. Thus, our results suggest that CTG expansion not only regulates the amount of RNA foci per myoblast, but also the number of myoblasts presenting RNA foci.

We found both nuclear and cytoplasmic RNA foci. CTG expansion size appears to regulate the presence of cytoplasmic RNA foci. Thus, larger CTG expansions will produce a higher number of nuclear foci and therefore more cells will contain cytoplasmic foci because the latter only appeared in association with nuclear foci. The presence and origin of cytoplasmic foci have not yet been studied in-depth. Some authors have suggested that cytoplasmic RNA foci are a product of the cell cycle as well as of the breakdown of the nuclear membrane, and as such are more likely to appear in dividing cells [132]. However, one study in a DM1 mouse model expressing CTG expansions in the heart tissue found RNA foci exclusively in the cytoplasm of cardiomyocytes, which are highly-differentiated, non-dividing cells [261]. Furthermore, our results showed that cytoplasmic RNA foci colocalize with MBNL1. The role of cytoplasmic foci, and whether they have a toxic effect should be studied in future research. RNA foci represent less than 0.6 % of the total nuclear volume in DM1 myoblasts. These data suggest that the impact that RNA foci have on the nuclear volume is minimum. Additionally, when analyzing the area of RNA foci in relation to other molecular findings, we observed that bigger areas are related to a higher number of cytoplasmic foci. The fact that scarce data are currently available on cytoplasmic RNA foci makes it difficult to interpret our results. However, as previously described by other authors, RNA foci can fuse or divide randomly with no apparent or known purpose [130].

Our analysis of MBNL1 revealed that the sequestration of this protein inside RNA foci represents less than 1% of the total MBNL1 myoblast expression. Although there are studies showing the pathological role of MBNL1 in DM1 [137,138,262-264], our results are consistent with a previous study by Coleman *et al.* reporting that only a small proportion of MBNL1 protein (0.2%) was sequestered by RNA foci in DM1 lens epithelial cells [265]. In this context, the low values of sequestration of MBNL1 would suggest that this phenomenon plays only a minor role in the pathophysiology of the disease in these cells, as 99% of total MBNL1 expression is free.

The levels of *DMPK* expression were related to the number of RNA foci per cell. Indeed, if there are more RNA foci inside a cell, theoretically this should be related to a higher level of *DMPK* expression. Moreover, we used quantitative-PCR for determining the *DMPK* expression, which allows detecting the expanded as well as the wild type allele.

We did not find the expected altered DM1 splicing when analyzing IR, ATP2A1 and MBNL1 transcripts. These results could be related to the fact that the expression of the aforementioned aberrant isoforms is related to developmental stages, and since we used undifferentiated cells (*i.e.*, myoblasts), the expression pattern could differ from the pattern of fully differentiated myotubes, and especially of skeletal muscle fibers.

3D imaging allowed us to study the total number of RNA foci present in myoblasts derived from DM1 patients, their area and localization, as well as the colocalization with MBNL1. We have been able to analyze different DM1 molecular players, identifying correlations between them and contributing to the understanding of the pathomechanism in DM1.

Conclusions

e

ee

11

.

Chapter I

LPCR-SB and SP-PCR generate different results in terms of sizing the CTG expansion in DM1 patients. This is probably affecting the possible establishment of genotype-phenotype correlations.

SP-PCR seems to be the most suitable method to size the CTG expansion in DM1 patients. It is less sensitive to the DNA quality, it provides specific data of the allele distribution (including progenitor, mode and longest allele), and the progenitor allele determination is related with the age of disease onset.

An international agreement among the DM1 community is needed to determine which is the most suitable methodology to characterize the CTG expansion size in patients with DM1.

Chapter II

CTG instability is present in blood, muscle and skin tissues of patients with DM1, with larger expansions present in muscle and skin than in blood.

The estimated progenitor CTG size in muscle is a good predictor of disease age of onset and muscle strength.

Chapter III

DM1 patients carrying interruptions may have classical symptoms as the ones found in DM1 patients with pure repeats, including cataracts, myotonia or muscle weakness. However, patients carrying interruptions may also present other atypical symptoms which can hamper the diagnosis, such as mild or absence of facial weakness, and severe axial weakness. The presence of interruptions can be associated to a late age of onset although the phenotype may not be mild. Therefore, even though the disease can appear later in life, these patients require clinical follow-up and genetic counseling similar to the patients carrying pure repeats.

The presence of interruptions can lead to a contraction of the CTG repeats but also to an expansion linked to anticipation.

Chapter IV

3D molecular imaging appears to be a potential tool to identify possible associations between molecular alterations and clinical manifestation in DM1 patients.

The CTG expansion determines the number of RNA foci per myoblast and the number of myoblasts that contain RNA foci, as well as the appearance of cytoplasmic foci.

RNA foci only represent a negligible part of the total nucleus volume.

The fraction of trapped MBNL1 in RNA foci is minor compared to the total amount of MBNL1 present in myoblasts derived from DM1 patients.

Cytoplasmic RNA foci should be considered in future studies in order to clearly elucidate their role in the pathobiology of DM1.

Chapter V

BNA^{NC} treatment has different efficacy (RNA foci reduction) and toxicity (cell mortality) in fibroblasts, lymphoblasts and myoblasts derived from DM1 patients.

Myoblasts, derived from one of the most affected tissues in DM1 patients, have a lower response to the treatment compared to fibroblasts and lymphoblasts. New experiments improving the delivery in these cells should be performed.

The efficacy of the treatment in terms of the RNA foci reduction seems to not be related to the CTG expansion size.

Bibliography

2

eee

1.1

.

- Mishra SK, Singh S, Lee B, Khosa S, Moheb N, Tandon VA. "Dystrophia Myotonica" and the legacy of hans gustav wilhelm steinert. Vol. 21, Annals of Indian Academy of Neurology. Wolters Kluwer Medknow Publications; 2018. p. 116-8.
- Brook JD, McCurrach ME, Harley HG, Buckler AJ, Church D, Aburatani H, et al. Molecular basis of myotonic dystrophy: expansion of a trinucleotide (CTG) repeat at the 3' end of a transcript encoding a protein kinase family member. Cell [Internet]. 1992 Apr 17 [cited 2020 Jan 24];69(2):385. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1568252
- DM1 | Myotonic [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2020 Jul 27]. Available from: https://www.myotonic.org/dm1
- Harper PS, Brook JD, Newman E. Myotonic dystrophy. W.B. Saunders; 2001.
 436 p.
- De Antonio M, Dogan C, Hamroun D, Mati M, Zerrouki S, Eymard B, et al. Unravelling the myotonic dystrophy type 1 clinical spectrum: A systematic registry-based study with implications for disease classification. Rev Neurol (Paris) [Internet]. 2016 Oct 1 [cited 2020 Mar 4];172(10):572-80. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27665240
- Yum K, Wang ET, Kalsotra A. Myotonic dystrophy: disease repeat range, penetrance, age of onset, and relationship between repeat size and phenotypes. Curr Opin Genet Dev. 2017;44:30-7.
- Gagnon C, Chouinard MC, Laberge L, Veillette S, Bégin P, Breton R, et al. Health supervision and anticipatory guidance in adult myotonic dystrophy type 1. Neuromuscul Disord. 2010;20(12):847-51.
- 8. Echenne B, Rideau A, Roubertie A, Sébire G, Rivier F, Lemieux B. Myotonic dystrophy type I in childhood. Long-term evolution in patients surviving the neonatal period. Eur J Paediatr Neurol. 2008 May;12(3):210-23.
- De Antonio M, Dogan C, Hamroun D, Mati M, Zerrouki S, Eymard B, et al. Unravelling the myotonic dystrophy type 1 clinical spectrum: A systematic registry-based study with implications for disease classification. Vol. 172, Revue Neurologique. Elsevier Masson SAS; 2016. p. 572-80.

Bibliography

- Turner C, Hilton-Jones D. The myotonic dystrophies: Diagnosis and management. Vol. 81, Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry. BMJ Publishing Group; 2010. p. 358-67.
- Modoni A, Silvestri G, Pomponi MG, Mangiola F, Tonali PA, Marra C.
 Characterization of the pattern of cognitive impairment in myotonic dystrophy type 1. Arch Neurol. 2004 Dec;61(12):1943-7.
- Campbell C, Sherlock R, Jacob P, Blayney M. Congenital Myotonic Dystrophy: Assisted Ventilation Duration and Outcome. Pediatrics [Internet]. 2004 Apr [cited 2020 Jun 30];113(4 I):811-6. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15060232/
- Reardon W, Newcombe R, Fenton I, Sibert J, Harper PS. The natural history of congenital myotonic dystrophy: Mortality and long term clinical aspects. Arch Dis Child [Internet]. 1993 [cited 2020 Sep 18];68(2):177-81. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC1029229/?report=abstract
- Joseph JT, Richards CS, Anthony DC, Upton M, Perez-Atayde AR, Greenstein
 P. Congenital myotonic dystrophy pathology and somatic mosaicism.
 Neurology. 1997 Nov 1;49(5):1457-60.
- Spranger M, Spranger S, Tischendorf M, Meinck HM, Cremer M. Myotonic dystrophy: The role of large triplet repeat length in the development of mental retardation. Arch Neurol. 1997;54(3):251-4.
- Bassez G, Lazarus A, Desguerre I, Varin J, Laforêt P, Bécane HM, et al. Severe cardiac arrhythmias in young patients with myotonic dystrophy type 1. Neurology. 2004 Nov 23;63(10):1939-41.
- Echenne B, Bassez G. Congenital and infantile myotonic dystrophy. In: Handbook of Clinical Neurology [Internet]. Elsevier B.V.; 2013 [cited 2020 Sep 22]. p. 1387-93. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23622362/
- Steyaert J, Umans S, Willekens D, Legius E, Pijkels E, Die-Smulders C, et al. A study of the cognitive and psychological profile in 16 children with congenital or juvenile myotonic dystrophy. Clin Genet. 2008 Jun 28;52(3):135-41.
- 19. De Swart BJM, Van Engelen BGM, Van De Kerkhof JPBM, Maassen BAM.

Myotonia and flaccid dysarthria in patients with adult onset myotonic dystrophy. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2004 Oct 1;75(10):1480-2.

- 20. Harvey JC, Sherbourne DH, Siegel CI. Smooth muscle involvement in myotonic dystrophy. Am J Med. 1965;39(1):81-90.
- Mizuno T, Komaki H, Sasaki M, Takanoha S, Kuroda K, Kon K, et al. Efficacy and tolerance of gastrostomy feeding in Japanese muscular dystrophy patients. Brain Dev. 2012 Oct;34(9):756-62.
- 22. Rönnblom A, Forsberg H, Danielsson Å. Gastrointestinal symptoms in myotonic dystrophy. Scand J Gastroenterol. 1996;31(7):654-7.
- Mathieu J, Allard P, Potvin L, Prévost C, Begin P. A 10-year study of mortality in a cohort of patients with myotonic dystrophy. Neurology. 1999 May 12;52(8):1658-62.
- Montella L, Caraglia M, Addeo R, Costanzo R, Faiola V, Abbruzzese A, et al. Atrial fibrillation following chemotherapy for stage IIIE diffuse large B-cell gastric lymphoma in a patient with myotonic dystrophy (Steinert's disease) [1]. Vol. 84, Annals of Hematology. Ann Hematol; 2005. p. 192-3.
- Groh WJ, Groh MR, Saha C, Kincaid JC, Simmons Z, Ciafaloni E, et al. Electrocardiographic abnormalities and sudden death in myotonic dystrophy type 1. N Engl J Med. 2008 Jun 19;358(25):2688-97.
- 26. Gaul C, Schmidt T, Windisch G, Wieser T, Müller T, Vielhaber S, et al. Subtle cognitive dysfunction in adult onset myotonic dystrophy type 1 (DM1) and type 2 (DM2). Neurology. 2006 Jul 25;67(2):350-2.
- Winblad S, Lindberg C, Hansen S. Temperament and character in patients with classical myotonic dystrophy type 1 (DM-1). Neuromuscul Disord.
 2005;15(4):287-92.
- Antonini G, Soscia F, Giubilei F, De Carolis A, Gragnani F, Morino S, et al. Health-related quality of life in myotonic dystrophy type 1 and its relationship with cognitive and emotional functioning. J Rehabil Med. 2006 May;38(3):181-5.
- 29. Rubinsztein JS, Rubinsztein DC, Goodburn S, Holland AJ. Apathy and

hypersomnia are common features of myotonic dystrophy. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1998 Apr 1;64(4):510-5.

- Dahlqvist JR, Ørngreen MC, Witting N, Vissing J. Endocrine function over time in patients with myotonic dystrophy type 1. Eur J Neurol [Internet]. 2015 Jan 1 [cited 2020 Jun 4];22(1):116-22. Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/ene.12542
- Savkur RS, Philips A V, Cooper TA. Aberrant regulation of insulin receptor alternative splicing is associated with insulin resistance in myotonic dystrophy. Nat Genet. 2001;29(1):40-7.
- Geh JLC, Moss ALH. Multiple pilomatrixomata and myotonic dystrophy: A familial association. Br J Plast Surg. 1999;52(2):143-5.
- Campione E, Botta A, Di Prete M, Rastelli E, Gibellini M, Petrucci A, et al. Cutaneous features of myotonic dystrophy types 1 and 2: Implication of premature aging and vitamin D homeostasis. Neuromuscul Disord. 2017 Feb 1;27(2):163-9.
- Garrott HM, Walland MJ, O'Day J. Recurrent posterior capsular opacification and capsulorhexis contracture after cataract surgery in myotonic dystrophy [2]. Vol. 32, Clinical and Experimental Ophthalmology. Clin Exp Ophthalmol; 2004. p. 653-5.
- Emparanza JI, López de Munain A, Greene MH, Matheu A, Fernández-Torrón R, Gadalla SM. Cancer phenotype in myotonic dystrophy patients: Results from a meta-analysis. Muscle and Nerve. 2018 Oct 1;58(4):517-22.
- 36. Win AK, Perattur PG, Pulido JS, Pulido CM, Lindor NM. Increased cancer risks in myotonic dystrophy. Mayo Clin Proc. 2012;87(2):130-5.
- Gadalla SM, Lund M, Pfeiffer RM, Gørtz S, Mueller CM, Moxley RT, et al. Cancer risk among patients with myotonic muscular dystrophy. JAMA - J Am Med Assoc. 2011 Dec 14;306(22):2480-6.
- 38. Gadalla SM, Pfeiffer RM, Kristinsson SY, Björkholm M, Hilbert JE, Moxley RT, et al. Quantifying cancer absolute risk and cancer mortality in the presence of competing events after a myotonic dystrophy diagnosis. PLoS One. 2013 Nov
13;8(11).

- Fu YH, Pizzuti A, Fenwick RG, King J, Rajnarayan S, Dunne PW, et al. An unstable triplet repeat in a gene related to myotonic muscular dystrophy. Science (80-). 1992;255(5049):1256-8.
- Mahadevan M, Tsilfidis C, Sabourin L, Shutler G, Amemiya C, Jansen G, et al. Myotonic dystrophy mutation: an unstable CTG repeat in the 3' untranslated region of the gene. Science. 1992;255(5049):1253-5.
- Turner C, Hilton-Jones D. The myotonic dystrophies: diagnosis and management. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry [Internet]. 2010 Apr [cited 2020 Mar 27];81(4):358-67. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20176601
- 42. Musova Z, Mazanec R, Krepelova A, Ehler E, Vales J, Jaklova R, et al. Highly unstable sequence interruptions of the CTG repeat in the myotonic dystrophy gene. Am J Med Genet A [Internet]. 2009 Jul [cited 2020 Mar 5];149A(7):1365-74. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19514047
- 43. Salinas-Rios V, Belotserkovskii BP, Hanawalt PC. DNA slip-outs cause RNA polymerase II arrest in vitro: potential implications for genetic instability. Nucleic Acids Res [Internet]. 2011 Sep 1 [cited 2020 Mar 27];39(17):7444-54. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21666257
- 44. López Castel A, Cleary JD, Pearson CE. Repeat instability as the basis for human diseases and as a potential target for therapy [Internet]. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology. 2010 [cited 2020 Apr 28]. Available from: www.nature.com/reviews/molcellbio
- Ashizawa T, Anvret M, Baiget M, Barcelo JM, Brunner H, Cobo # A M, et al. Characteristics of Intergenerational Contractions of the CTG Repeat in Myotonic Dystrophy. Vol. 54, Am. J. Hum. Genet. 1994.
- Jakupciak JP, Wells RD. Genetic instabilities in (CTG.CAG) repeats occur by recombination. J Biol Chem [Internet]. 1999 Aug 13 [cited 2020 Mar 27];274(33):23468-79. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10438526

- Monckton DG, Wong LJC, Ashizawa T, Caskey CT. Somatic mosaicism, germline expansions, germline reversions and intergenerational reductions in myotonic dystrophy males: small pool PCR analyses. Hum Mol Genet. 1995;4(1):1-8.
- 48. Van Den Broek WJAA, Nelen MR, Wansink DG, Coerwinkel MM, Te Riele H, Groenen PJTA, et al. Somatic expansion behaviour of the (CTG) n repeat in myotonic dystrophy knock-in mice is differentially affected by Msh3 and Msh6 mismatch-repair proteins. Vol. 11, Human Molecular Genetics. 2002.
- 49. Ashizawa T, Dunne CJ, Dubel JR, Perryman MB, Epstein HF, Boerwinkle E, et al. Anticipation in myotonic dystrophy. I. Statistical verification based on clinical and haplotype findings. Neurology [Internet]. 1992 Oct [cited 2020 Apr 17];42(10):1871-7. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1407565
- 50. Harley HG, Rundle S a, MacMillan JC, Myring J, Brook JD, Crow S, et al. Size of the unstable CTG repeat sequence in relation to phenotype and parental transmission in myotonic dystrophy. Am J Hum Genet. 1993;52(6):1164-74.
- 51. De Temmerman N, Sermon K, Seneca S, De Rycke M, Hilven P, Lissens W, et al. Intergenerational instability of the expanded CTG repeat in the DMPK gene: Studies in human gametes and preimplantation embryos. Am J Hum Genet. 2004;75(2):325-9.
- 52. Redman JB, Fenwick RG, Fu YH, Pizzuti A, Caskey CT. Relationship Between Parental Trinucleotide GCT Repeat Length and Severity of Myotonic Dystrophy in Offspring. JAMA J Am Med Assoc. 1993 Apr 21;269(15):1960-5.
- 53. Dean NL, Loredo-Osti JC, Fujiwara TM, Morgan K, Tan SL, Naumova AK, et al. Transmission ratio distortion in the myotonic dystrophy locus in human preimplantation embryos. Eur J Hum Genet. 2006 Mar;14(3):299-306.
- 54. Morales F, Vásquez M, Cuenca P, Campos D, Santamaría C, Del Valle G, et al. Parental age effects, but no evidence for an intrauterine effect in the transmission of myotonic dystrophy type 1. Eur J Hum Genet. 2015 May 21;23(5):646-53.
- 55. Whelan DT, Carson N, Zeesman S. Paternal transmission of the congenital

form of myotonic dystrophy type 1: A new case and review of the literature. Am J Med Genet. 2002 Jan 22;107(3):222-6.

- 56. Di Costanzo A, de Cristofaro M, Di Iorio G, Daniele A, Bonavita S, Tedeschi G. Paternally inherited case of congenital DM1: Brain MRI and review of literature. Brain Dev. 2009 Jan;31(1):79-82.
- 57. Brunner HG, Bruggenwirth HT, Nillesen W, Jansen G, Hamel BCJ, Hoppe RLE, et al. Influence of sex of the transmitting parent as well as of parental allele size on the CTG expansion in myotonic dystrophy (DM). Am J Hum Genet. 1993;53(5):1016-23.
- 58. De Die-Smulders CEM, Smeets HJM, Loots W, Anten HBM, Mirandolle JF, Geraedts JPM, et al. Paternal transmission of congenital myotonic dystrophy. J Med Genet. 1997;34(11):930-3.
- López De Munain A, Cobo AM, Sáenz A, Blanco A, Poza JJ, Martorell L, et al. Frequency of intergenerational contractions of the CTG repeats in myotonic dystrophy. Genet Epidemiol. 1996;13(5):483-7.
- R. La Spada A. Trinucleotide Repeat Instability: Genetic Features and Molecular Mechanisms. Brain Pathol. 1997 Jul;7(3):943-63.
- 61. Anvret M, Ahlberg G, Grandell U, Hedberg B, Johnson K, Edström L. Larger expansions of the CTG repeat in muscle compared to lymphocytes from patients with myotonic dystrophy. Hum Mol Genet [Internet]. 1993 Sep [cited 2020 Mar 25];2(9):1397-400. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8242063
- 62. Thornton CA, Johnson K, Moxley RT. Myotonic dystrophy patients have larger CTG expansions in skeletal muscle than in leukocytes. Ann Neurol [Internet].
 1994 Jan [cited 2020 Mar 25];35(1):104-7. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8285579
- Peterlin B, Logar N, Zidar J. CTG repeat analysis in lymphocytes, muscles and fibroblasts in patients with myotonic dystrophy. Pflugers Arch [Internet]. 1996 [cited 2020 Mar 25];431(6 Suppl 2):R199-200. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8739333

- Jinnai K, Mitani M, Futamura N, Kawamoto K, Funakawa I, Itoh K. Somatic instability of CTG repeats in the cerebellum of myotonic dystrophy type 1. Muscle and Nerve [Internet]. 2013 Jul [cited 2020 Apr 17];48(1):105-8. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23629807
- 65. Kinoshita M, Takahashi R, Hasegawa T, Tetsuo K, Ryuji N, K H, et al. (CTG)n expansions in various tissues from a myotonic dystrophy patient. Muscle Nerve [Internet]. 1996 [cited 2020 Jul 20];19(2). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/8559177/
- 66. Ashizawa T, Dubel JR, Harati Y. Somatic instability of ctg repeat in myotonic dystrophy. Neurology. 1993;43(12):2674-8.
- G. J, P. W, M. C, W. N, H. S, L. V, et al. Gonosomal mosaicism in myotonic dystrophy patients: Involvement of mitotic events in (CTG)(n) repeat variation and selection against extreme expansion in sperm. Am J Hum Genet [Internet]. 1994 Apr [cited 2020 Jun 17];54(4):575-85. Available from: http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&PAGE=reference&D=emed3&NE WS=N&AN=1994097775
- 68. Wong LJC, Ashizawa T, Monckton DG, Caskey CT, Richards CS. Somatic heterogeneity of the CTG repeat in myotonic dystrophy is age and size dependent. Am J Hum Genet. 1995;56(1):114-22.
- 69. Martorell L, Monckton DG, Gamez J, Johnson KJ, Gich I, Lopez De Munain A, et al. Progression of somatic CTG repeat length heterogeneity in the blood cells of myotonic dystrophy patients. Vol. 7, Human Molecular Genetics. 1998.
- Morales F, Couto JM, Higham CF, Hogg G, Cuenca P, Braida C, et al. Somatic instability of the expanded CTG triplet repeat in myotonic dystrophy type 1 is a heritable quantitative trait and modifier of disease severity. Hum Mol Genet. 2012;21(16):3558-67.
- 71. Morales F, Vásquez M, Santamaría C, Cuenca P, Corrales E, Monckton DG. A polymorphism in the MSH3 mismatch repair gene is associated with the levels of somatic instability of the expanded CTG repeat in the blood DNA of myotonic dystrophy type 1 patients. DNA Repair (Amst) [Internet]. 2016 Apr 1 [cited 2020 Jul 27];40:57-66. Available from:

https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26994442/

- 72. Braida C, Stefanatos RKA, Adam B, Mahajan N, Smeets HJM, Niel F, et al. Variant CCG and GGC repeats within the CTG expansion dramatically modify mutational dynamics and likely contribute toward unusual symptoms in some myotonic dystrophy type 1 patients. Hum Mol Genet. 2010;19(8):1399-412.
- 73. Santoro M, Fontana L, Masciullo M, Bianchi MLE, Rossi S, Leoncini E, et al. Expansion size and presence of CCG/CTC/CGG sequence interruptions in the expanded CTG array are independently associated to hypermethylation at the DMPK locus in myotonic dystrophy type 1 (DM1). Biochim Biophys Acta - Mol Basis Dis [Internet]. 2015;1852(12):2645-52. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2015.09.007
- 74. Tomé S, Dandelot E, Dogan C, Bertrand A, Geneviève D, Péréon Y, et al. Unusual association of a unique CAG interruption in 5' of DM1 CTG repeats with intergenerational contractions and low somatic mosaicism. Hum Mutat. 2018;39(7):970-82.
- 75. Cumming SA, Hamilton MJ, Robb Y, Gregory H, McWilliam C, Cooper A, et al. De novo repeat interruptions are associated with reduced somatic instability and mild or absent clinical features in myotonic dystrophy type 1. Eur J Hum Genet [Internet]. 2018 Jul 2 [cited 2018 Aug 21]; Available from: http://www.nature.com/articles/s41431-018-0156-9
- 76. Botta A, Rossi G, Marcaurelio M, Fontana L, D'Apice MR, Brancati F, et al. Identification and characterization of 5' CCG interruptions in complex DMPK expanded alleles. Eur J Hum Genet. 2017;25(2):257-61.
- 77. Pešović J, Perić S, Brkušanin M, Brajušković G, Rakočević-Stojanović V, Savić-Pavićević D. Molecular genetic and clinical characterization of myotonic dystrophy type 1 patients carrying variant repeats within DMPK expansions. Neurogenetics. 2017;18(4):207-18.
- Santoro M, Masciullo M, Pietrobono R, Conte G, Modoni A, Bianchi MLE, et al. Molecular, clinical, and muscle studies in myotonic dystrophy type 1 (DM1) associated with novel variant CCG expansions. J Neurol. 2013;260(5):1245-57.

- 79. Pešović J, Perić S, Brkušanin M, Brajušković G, Rakočević-Stojanović V, Savić-Pavićević D. Repeat Interruptions Modify Age at Onset in Myotonic Dystrophy Type 1 by Stabilizing DMPK Expansions in Somatic Cells. Front Genet. 2018;9(November):1-14.
- 80. Cumming SA, Jimenez-Moreno C, Okkersen K, Wenninger S, Daidj F, Hogarth F, et al. Genetic determinants of disease severity in the myotonic dystrophy type 1 OPTIMISTIC cohort. Neurology [Internet]. 2019 Sep 3 [cited 2020 May 13];93(10):E995-1009. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/31395669
- 81. Orpana AK, Ho TH, Alagrund K, Ridanpää M, Aittomäki K, Stenman J. Novel heat pulse extension-PCR-based method for detection of large CTG-repeat expansions in myotonic dystrophy type 1. J Mol Diagn [Internet]. 2013 Jan [cited 2020 Feb 26];15(1):110-5. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23159592
- 82. Savić D, Rakočvić-Stojanović V, Keckarević D, Čuljković B, Stojković O, Mladenoviić J, et al. 250 CTG repeats in DMPK is a threshold for correlation of expansion size and age at onset of juvenile-adult DM1. Hum Mutat [Internet].
 2002 Feb [cited 2020 Mar 5];19(2):131-9. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11793472
- Siciliano G, Manca M, Gennarelli M, Angelini C, Rocchi A, Iudice A, et al.
 Epidemiology of myotonic dystrophy in Italy: re-apprisal after genetic diagnosis. Clin Genet [Internet]. 2002 Jan 12 [cited 2020 Mar 5];59(5):344-9.
 Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1034/j.1399-0004.2001.590508.x
- Prior TW. Technical standards and guidelines for myotonic dystrophy type 1 testing. Vol. 11, Genetics in Medicine. Lippincott Williams and Wilkins; 2009. p. 552-5.
- Ashizawa T, Gonzales I, Ohsawa N, Singer RH, Devillers M, Ashizawa T, et al. New nomenclature and DNA testing guidelines for myotonic dystrophy type 1 (DM1). Neurology. 2000 Mar 28;54(6):1218-21.
- 86. Gomes-Pereira M, Bidichandani SI, Monckton DG. Analysis of unstable triplet repeats using small-pool polymerase chain reaction. Methods Mol Biol.

2004;277:61-76.

- 87. Higham CF, Monckton DG. Modelling and inference reveal nonlinear lengthdependent suppression of somatic instability for small disease associated alleles in myotonic dystrophy type 1 and Huntington disease. J R Soc Interface [Internet]. 2013 Nov 6 [cited 2020 Jun 25];10(88). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24047873/
- Radvansky J, Ficek A, Kadasi L. Upgrading molecular diagnostics of myotonic dystrophies: Multiplexing for simultaneous characterization of the DMPK and ZNF9 repeat motifs. Mol Cell Probes. 2011 Aug 1;25(4):182-5.
- 89. Warner JP, Barron LH, Goudie D, Kelly K, Dow D, Fitzpatrick DR, et al. A general method for the detection of large GAG repeat expansions by fluorescent PCR. J Med Genet [Internet]. 1996 [cited 2020 Jun 25];33(12):1022-6. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/9004136/
- 90. Lian M, Rajan-Babu IS, Singh K, Lee CG, Law HY, Chong SS. Efficient and highly sensitive screen for myotonic dystrophy type 1 using a one-step tripletprimed PCR and melting curve assay. J Mol Diagnostics [Internet]. 2015 Mar 1 [cited 2020 Jun 30];17(2):128-35. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25684273/
- 91. Lian M, Law HY, Lee CG, Chong SS. Defining the performance parameters of a rapid screening tool for myotonic dystrophy type 1 based on triplet-primed PCR and melt curve analysis. Expert Rev Mol Diagn [Internet]. 2016 Nov 1 [cited 2020 Jun 30];16(11):1221-32. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27665623/
- 92. Dandelot E, Gourdon G. The flash-small-pool PCR: How to transform blotting and numerous hybridization steps into a simple denatured PCR.
 Biotechniques [Internet]. 2018 Jun 1 [cited 2020 Jun 26];64(6):262-5.
 Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29939093/
- 93. Malbec R, Chami B, Aeschbach L, Ruiz Buendía GA, Socol M, Joseph P, et al. μLAS: Sizing of expanded trinucleotide repeats with femtomolar sensitivity in less than 5 minutes. Sci Rep. 2019 Dec 1;9(1).

- 94. Leferink M, Wong DPW, Cai S, Yeo M, Ho J, Lian M, et al. Robust and accurate detection and sizing of repeats within the DMPK gene using a novel TP-PCR test. Sci Rep. 2019 Dec 1;9(1).
- 95. Groh WJ, Groh MR, Shen C, Monckton DG, Bodkin CL, Pascuzzi RM. Survival and CTG repeat expansion in adults with myotonic dystrophy type 1. Muscle and Nerve [Internet]. 2011 May [cited 2020 Mar 26];43(5):648-51. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21484823
- 96. Meola G, Cardani R. Myotonic dystrophies: An update on clinical aspects, genetic, pathology, and molecular pathomechanisms. Vol. 1852, Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Molecular Basis of Disease. Elsevier B.V.; 2015. p. 594-606.
- 97. Clark C, Petty RKH, Strong AMM. Late presentation of myotonic dystrophy [5]
 [Internet]. Vol. 23, Clinical and Experimental Dermatology. Blackwell
 Publishing Ltd; 1998 [cited 2020 Oct 16]. p. 47-8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/9667115/
- 98. Barbé L, Lanni S, López-Castel A, Franck S, Spits C, Keymolen K, et al. CpG Methylation, a Parent-of-Origin Effect for Maternal-Biased Transmission of Congenital Myotonic Dystrophy. Am J Hum Genet. 2017;100(3):488-505.
- 99. Légaré C, Overend G, Guay SP, Monckton DG, Mathieu J, Gagnon C, et al. DMPK gene DNA methylation levels are associated with muscular and respiratory profiles in DM1. Neurol Genet [Internet]. 2019 Jun 1 [cited 2020 Jun 26];5(3). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31334355/
- Hamshere MG, Harley H, Harper P, Brook JD, Brookfield JFY. Myotonic dystrophy: The correlation of (CTG) repeat length in leucocytes with age at onset is significant only for patients with small expansions. J Med Genet. 1999;36(1):59-61.
- Thornton CA. Myotonic dystrophy. Vol. 32, Neurologic Clinics. W.B. Saunders;
 2014. p. 705-19.
- 102. Chong-Nguyen C, Wahbi K, Algalarrondo V, Bécane HM, Radvanyi-Hoffman H, Arnaud P, et al. Association between Mutation Size and Cardiac Involvement in Myotonic Dystrophy Type 1: An Analysis of the DM1-Heart Registry. Circ Cardiovasc Genet [Internet]. 2017 Jun 1 [cited 2020 Mar 26];10(3). Available

from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28611030

- Merlevede K, Vermander D, Theys P, Legius E, Ector H, Robberecht W. Cardiac involvement and CTG expansion in myotonic dystrophy. J Neurol. 2002;249(6):693-8.
- Panaite P-A, Kuntzer T, Gourdon G, Barakat-Walter I. Respiratory failure in a mouse model of myotonic dystrophy does not correlate with the CTG repeat length. Respir Physiol Neurobiol [Internet]. 2013 Oct 1 [cited 2020 Jan 27];189(1):22-6. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23811192
- 105. Winblad S, Lindberg C, Hansen S. Cognitive deficits and CTG repeat expansion size in classical myotonic dystrophy type 1 (DMI). Behav Brain Funct. 2006 May 15;2.
- 106. Overend G, Légaré C, Mathieu J, Bouchard L, Gagnon C, Monckton DG. Allele length of the DMPK CTG repeat is a predictor of progressive myotonic dystrophy type 1 phenotypes. Hum Mol Genet [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2020 Mar 25];28(13):2245-54. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/31220271
- 107. Tapscott SJ. Deconstructing myotonic dystrophy [Internet]. Vol. 289, Science.
 2000 [cited 2020 Jul 2]. p. 1701-2. Available from: https://www.sciencemag.org/lookup/doi/10.1126/science.289.5485.1701
- 108. Todd PK, Paulson HL. RNA-mediated neurodegeneration in repeat expansion disorders [Internet]. Vol. 67, Annals of Neurology. Ann Neurol; 2010 [cited 2020 Jun 25]. p. 291-300. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20373340/
- Osborne RJRJ, Thornton CA. RNA-dominant diseases. Vol. 15, Human Molecular Genetics. 2006.
- Lanni S, Pearson CE. Molecular genetics of congenital myotonic dystrophy.
 Vol. 132, Neurobiology of Disease. Academic Press Inc.; 2019. p. 104533.
- 111. Ló Pez Castel A, Nakamori M, Tomé S, Chitayat D, Ve Gourdon G, Thornton CA, et al. Expanded CTG repeat demarcates a boundary for abnormal CpG

methylation in myotonic dystrophy patient tissues. Hum Mol Genet. 2010;20:1-15.

- 112. Klesert TR, Otten AD, Bird TD, Tapscott SJ. Trinucleotide repeat expansion at the myotonic dystrophy locus reduces expression of DMAHP. Nat Genet [Internet]. 1997 [cited 2020 Jul 1];16(4):402-6. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/9241282/
- 113. Thornton CA, Wymer JP, Simmons Z, McClain C, Moxley RT. Expansion of the myotonic dystrophy CTG repeat reduces expression of the flanking DMAHP gene. Nat Genet [Internet]. 1997 [cited 2020 Jul 1];16(4):407-9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/9241283/
- A I, M D, T K, Y L, S K, M Y, et al. Reduced Expression of DMAHP/SIX5 Gene in Myotonic Dystrophy Muscle. Muscle Nerve [Internet]. 2000 [cited 2020 Jul 1];23(9). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/10951446/
- 115. Alwazzan M, Newman E, Hamshere MG, David Brook J. Myotonic dystrophy is associated with a reduced level of RNA from the DMWD allele adjacent to the expanded repeat. Vol. 8, Human Molecular Genetics. 1999.
- 116. Westerlaken JHAM, Van Der Zee CEEM, Peters W, Wieringa B. The DMWD protein from the myotonic dystrophy (DM1) gene region is developmentally regulated and is present most prominently in synapse-dense brain areas. Brain Res [Internet]. 2003 May 2 [cited 2020 Jul 1];971(1):116-27. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12691844/
- 117. Otten AD, Tapscott SJ. Triplet repeat expansion in myotonic dystrophy alters the adjacent chromatin structure. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A [Internet]. 1995 Jun 6 [cited 2020 Jul 1];92(12):5465-9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/7777532/
- 118. Sarkar PS, Appukuttan B, Han J, Ito Y, Ai C, Tsai W, et al. Heterozygous loss of Six5 in mice is sufficient to cause ocular cataracts. Nat Genet [Internet]. 2000 May [cited 2020 Jul 1];25(1):110-4. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/10802668/
- 119. Klesert TR, Cho DH, Clark JI, Maylie J, Adelman J, Snider L, et al. Mice deficient in Six5 develop cataracts: Implications for myotonic dystrophy. Nat

Genet [Internet]. 2000 May [cited 2020 Jul 1];25(1):105-9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/10802667/

- Sarkar PS, Paul S, Han J, Reddy S. Six5 is required for spermatogenic cell survival and spermiogenesis. Hum Mol Genet [Internet]. 2004 [cited 2020 Jul 1]; Available from: https://academic.oup.com/hmg/article-abstract/13/14/1421/2355719
- 121. Yin Q, Wang H, Li N, Ding Y, Xie Z, Jin L, et al. Dosage effect of multiple genes accounts for multisystem disorder of myotonic dystrophy type 1. Cell Res [Internet]. 2020 Feb 1 [cited 2020 Jul 1];30(2):133-45. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31853004/
- 122. Mahadevan M, Tsilfidis C, Sabourin L, Shutler G, Amemiya C, Jansen G, et al. Myotonic dystrophy mutation: An unstable CTG repeat in the 3' untranslated region of the gene. Science (80-). 1992;255(5049):1253-5.
- 123. Botta A, Rinaldi F, Catalli C, Vergani L, Bonifazi E, Romeo V, et al. The CTG repeat expansion size correlates with the splicing defects observed in muscles from myotonic dystrophy type 1 patients. J Med Genet. 2008;45(10):639-46.
- 124. Taneja KL, McCurrach M, Schalling M, Housman D, Singer RH. Foci of trinucleotide repeat transcripts in nuclei of myotonic dystrophy cells and tissues. J Cell Biol. 1995;128(6):995-1002.
- Mankodi A, Teng-Umnuay P, Krym M, Henderson D, Swanson M, Thornton CA. Ribonuclear Inclusions in Skeletal Muscle in Myotonic Dystrophy Types 1 and 2. Ann Neurol. 2003;54(6):760-8.
- 126. Mankodi A. Muscleblind localizes to nuclear foci of aberrant RNA in myotonic dystrophy types 1 and 2. Hum Mol Genet. 2001;10(19):2165-70.
- 127. Furling D, Coiffier L, Mouly V, Barbet JP, Lacau J, Guily S, et al. Defective satellite cells in congenital myotonic dystrophy. Vol. 10, Human Molecular Genetics. 2001.
- 128. Holt I, Jacquemin V, Fardaei M, Sewry CA, Butler-Browne GS, Furling D, et al. Muscleblind-like proteins: Similarities and differences in normal and myotonic dystrophy muscle. Am J Pathol. 2009;174(1):216-27.

- 129. Jain A, Vale RD. RNA phase transitions in repeat expansion disorders. Nature [Internet]. 2017 Jun 8 [cited 2020 Jul 1];546(7657):243-7. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28562589/
- Querido E, Gallardo F, Beaudoin M, Ménard C, Chartrand P. Stochastic and reversible aggregation of mRNA with expanded CUG-triplet repeats. J Cell Sci. 2011;124(10):1703-14.
- 131. Davis BM, Mccurrach ME, Taneja KL, Singer RH, Housman DE. Expansion of a CUG trinucleotide repeat in the 3' untranslated region of myotonic dystrophy protein kinase transcripts results in nuclear retention of transcripts. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1997;94(14):7388-93.
- Xia G, Ashizawa T. Dynamic changes of nuclear RNA foci in proliferating DM1 cells. Histochem Cell Biol. 2015 Jun 26;143(6):557-64.
- Wojciechowska M, Krzyzosiak WJ. Cellular toxicity of expanded RNA repeats: Focus on RNA foci. Hum Mol Genet. 2011;20(19):3811-21.
- Bachinski LL, Czernuszewicz T, Ramagli LS, Suominen T, Shriver MD, Udd B, et al. Premutation allele pool in myotonic dystrophy type 2. Neurology. 2009 Feb 10;72(6):490-7.
- Philips A V., Timchenko LT, Cooper TA. Disruption of splicing regulated by a CUG-binding protein in myotonic dystrophy. Science (80-). 1998 May 1;280(5364):737-41.
- 136. Miller JW, Urbinati CR, Teng-Umnuay P, Stenberg MG, Byrne BJ, Thornton CA, et al. Recruitment of human muscleblind proteins to (CUG)(n) expansions associated with myotonic dystrophy. EMBO J. 2000;19(17):4439-48.
- Kanadia RN, Johnstone KA, Mankodi A, Lungu C, Thornton CA, Esson D, et al. A Muscleblind Knockout Model for Myotonic Dystrophy. Science (80-). 2003 Dec 12;302(5652):1978-80.
- Ho TH, Charlet-B N, Poulos MG, Singh G, Swanson MS, Cooper TA. Muscleblind proteins regulate alternative splicing. EMBO J. 2004 Aug 4;23(15):3103-12.
- 139. Paul S, Dansithong W, Kim D, Rossi J, Webster NJG, Comai L, et al. Interaction

of musleblind, CUG-BP1 and hnRNP H proteins in DM1-associated aberrant IR splicing. EMBO J [Internet]. 2006 Sep 20 [cited 2020 Jun 25];25(18):4271-83. Available from:

http://emboj.embopress.org/cgi/doi/10.1038/sj.emboj.7601296

- 140. López-Martínez A, Soblechero-Martín P, De-La-puente-ovejero L, Nogales-Gadea G, Arechavala-Gomeza V. An overview of alternative splicing defects implicated in myotonic dystrophy type i [Internet]. Vol. 11, Genes. MDPI AG; 2020 [cited 2020 Oct 25]. p. 1-27. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32971903/
- 141. Timchenko LT, Miller JW, Timchenko NA, Devore DR, Datar K V., Lin L, et al. Identification of a (CUG)(n) triplet repeat RNA-binding protein and its expression in myotonic dystrophy. Nucleic Acids Res. 1996;24(22):4407-14.
- 142. Roberts R, Timchenko NA, Miller JW, Reddy S, Caskey CT, Swanson MS, et al. Altered phosphorylation and intracellular distribution of a (CUG)n triplet repeat RNA-binding protein in patients with myotonic dystrophy and in myotonin protein kinase knockout mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A [Internet]. 1997 Nov 25 [cited 2020 Jul 2];94(24):13221-6. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC24290/?report=abstract
- 143. Kuyumcu-Martinez NM, Wang GS, Cooper TA. Increased Steady-State Levels of CUGBP1 in Myotonic Dystrophy 1 Are Due to PKC-Mediated Hyperphosphorylation. Mol Cell [Internet]. 2007 Oct 12 [cited 2020 Jul 2];28(1):68-78. Available from: http://www.cell.com/article/S1097276507005448/fulltext
- 144. Timchenko NA, Cai ZJ, Welm AL, Reddy S, Ashizawa T, Timchenko LT. RNA CUG Repeats Sequester CUGBP1 and Alter Protein Levels and Activity of CUGBP1. J Biol Chem. 2001;276(11):7820-6.
- 145. Timchenko NA, Iakova P, Cai Z-J, Smith JR, Timchenko LT. Molecular Basis for Impaired Muscle Differentiation in Myotonic Dystrophy. Mol Cell Biol [Internet]. 2001 Oct 15 [cited 2020 Jul 2];21(20):6927-38. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC99869/?report=abstract
- 146. Timchenko NA, Patel R, Iakova P, Cai ZJ, Quan L, Timchenko LT.

Overexpression of CUG Triplet Repeat-binding Protein, CUGBP1, in Mice Inhibits Myogenesis. J Biol Chem [Internet]. 2004 Mar 26 [cited 2020 Jul 2];279(13):13129-39. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/14722059/

- 147. Fardaei M. Three proteins, MBNL, MBLL and MBXL, co-localize in vivo with nuclear foci of expanded-repeat transcripts in DM1 and DM2 cells. Hum Mol Genet. 2002;11(7):805-14.
- 148. Pascual M, Vicente M, Monferrer L, Artero R. The Muscleblind family of proteins: An emerging class of regulators of developmentally programmed alternative splicing [Internet]. Vol. 74, Differentiation. Blackwell Publishing Ltd; 2006 [cited 2020 Jul 2]. p. 65-80. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16533306/
- 149. Konieczny P, Stepniak-Konieczna E, Sobczak K. MBNL proteins and their target RNAs, interaction and splicing regulation. Nucleic Acids Res. 2014;42:10873-87.
- 150. Lin X, Miller JW, Mankodi A, Kanadia RN, Yuan Y, Moxley RT, et al. Failure of MBNL1-dependent post-natal splicing transitions in myotonic dystrophy. Hum Mol Genet. 2006;15(13):2087-97.
- 151. Charizanis K, Lee KY, Batra R, Goodwin M, Zhang C, Yuan Y, et al. Muscleblindlike 2-Mediated Alternative Splicing in the Developing Brain and Dysregulation in Myotonic Dystrophy. Neuron. 2012;75(3):437-50.
- 152. Kanadia RN, Urbinati CR, Crusselle VJ, Luo D, Lee YJ, Harrison JK, et al. Developmental expression of mouse muscleblind genes Mbnl1, Mbnl2 and Mbnl3. Gene Expr Patterns [Internet]. 2003 Aug [cited 2020 Jul 2];3(4):459-62. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12915312/
- 153. Konieczny P, Stepniak-Konieczna E, Sobczak K. MBNL expression in autoregulatory feedback loops. RNA Biol [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2020 Jan 24];15(1):1-8. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28949831
- 154. Poulos MG, Batra R, Li M, Yuan Y, Zhang C, Darnell RB, et al. Progressive impairment of muscle regeneration in muscleblind-like 3 isoform knockout

mice. Hum Mol Genet [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2020 Jul 2];22. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/hmg/article-abstract/22/17/3547/573410

- Ranum LPW, Cooper TA. RNA-MEDIATED NEUROMUSCULAR DISORDERS.
 Annu Rev Neurosci. 2006 Jul 21;29(1):259-77.
- 156. Charlet-B. N, Savkur RS, Singh G, Philips A V., Grice EA, Cooper TA. Loss of the muscle-specific chloride channel in type 1 myotonic dystrophy due to misregulated alternative splicing. Mol Cell. 2002;10(1):45-53.
- 157. Mankodi A, Takahashi MP, Jiang H, Beck CL, Bowers WJ, Moxley RT, et al. Expanded CUG repeats trigger aberrant splicing of CIC-1 chloride channel pre-mRNA and hyperexcitability of skeletal muscle in myotonic dystrophy. Mol Cell. 2002;10(1):35-44.
- 158. Dansithong W, Paul S, Comai L, Reddy S. MBNL1 is the primary determinant of focus formation and aberrant insulin receptor splicing in DM1. J Biol Chem [Internet]. 2005 Feb 18 [cited 2020 Jan 24];280(7):5773-80. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15546872
- 159. Kellerer M, Lammers R, Ermel B, Tippmer S, Vogt B, Obermaier-Kusser B, et al. Distinct α-Subunit Structures of Human Insulin Receptor A and B Variants Determine Differences in Tyrosine Kinase Activities. Biochemistry [Internet].
 1992 Feb 1 [cited 2020 Jul 2];31(19):4588-96. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/1374639/
- 160. Kimura T, Nakamori M, Lueck JD, Pouliquin P, Aoike F, Fujimura H, et al. Altered mRNA splicing of the skeletal muscle ryanodine receptor and sarcoplasmic/endoplasmic reticulum Ca 21-ATPase in myotonic dystrophy type 1. Hum Mol Genet [Internet]. 2005 [cited 2020 Jul 2];14. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/hmg/article-abstract/14/15/2189/551715
- 161. Brandl CJ, deLeon S, Martin DR, MacLennan DH. Adult forms of the Ca2+ATPase of sarcoplasmic reticulum. Expression in developing skeletal muscle. J Biol Chem [Internet]. 1987 Mar 15 [cited 2020 Jul 2];262(8):3768-74. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/3029125/
- Sznajder -Lukasz J, -l Michalak M, Taylor K, Cywoniuk P, -l Kabza M,
 Wojtkowiak-Szlachcic A, et al. Mechanistic determinants of MBNL activity.

Nucleic Acids Res. 2016;44(21):10326-42.

- 163. Tran H, Gourrier N, Lemercier-Neuillet C, Dhaenens CM, Vautrin A, Fernandez-Gomez FJ, et al. Analysis of exonic regions involved in nuclear localization, splicing activity, and dimerization of muscleblind-like-1 isoforms. J Biol Chem [Internet]. 2011 May 6 [cited 2020 Jul 2];286(18):16435-46. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/21454535/
- 164. Yuan Y, Compton SA, Sobczak K, Stenberg MG, Thornton CA, Griffith JD, et al. Muscleblind-like 1 interacts with RNA hairpins in splicing target and pathogenic RNAs. Nucleic Acids Res [Internet]. 2007 [cited 2020 Jul 2];35(16):5474-86. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/nar/articleabstract/35/16/5474/1287321
- 165. Kanadia RN, Shin J, Yuan Y, Beattie SG, Wheeler TM, Thornton CA, et al. Reversal of RNA missplicing and myotonia after muscleblind overexpression in a mouse poly(CUG) model for myotonic dystrophy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A [Internet]. 2006 Aug 1 [cited 2020 Jul 2];103(31):11748-53. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC1544241/?report=abstract
- 166. Bachinski LL, Baggerly KA, Neubauer VL, Nixon TJ, Raheem O, Sirito M, et al. Most expression and splicing changes in myotonic dystrophy type 1 and type 2 skeletal muscle are shared with other muscular dystrophies. Neuromuscul Disord [Internet]. 2014 Mar [cited 2020 Jul 30];24(3):227-40. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24332166/
- 167. Dunne PW, Walch ET, Epstein HF. Phosphorylation Reactions of Recombinant Human Myotonic Dystrophy Protein Kinase and Their Inhibition. Biochemistry [Internet]. 1994 Sep 1 [cited 2020 Jul 7];33(35):10809-14. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/8075083/
- 168. Timchenko L, Nastainczyk W, Schneider T, Patel B, Hofmann F, Caskey CT. Full-length myotonin protein kinase (72 kDa) displays serine kinase activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A [Internet]. 1995 Jun 6 [cited 2020 Jul 7];92(12):5366-70. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/7777513/
- 169. Bush EW, Helmke SM, Birnbaum RA, Perryman MB. Myotonic dystrophy protein kinase domains mediate localization, oligomerization, novel catalytic

activity, and autoinhibition. Biochemistry [Internet]. 2000 Jul 25 [cited 2020 Jul 7];39(29):8480-90. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/10913253/

- 170. Wansink DG, van Herpen REMA, Coerwinkel-Driessen MM, Groenen PJTA, Hemmings BA, Wieringa B. Alternative Splicing Controls Myotonic Dystrophy Protein Kinase Structure, Enzymatic Activity, and Subcellular Localization. Mol Cell Biol [Internet]. 2003 Aug 15 [cited 2020 Jul 7];23(16):5489-501. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12897125/
- 171. Pall GS, Johnson KJ, Smith GL. Abnormal contractile activity and calcium cycling in cardiac myocytes isolated from dmpk knockout mice. Physiol Genomics [Internet]. 2003 [cited 2020 Jul 7];13(2):139-46. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12595579/
- 172. Kaliman P, Catalucci D, Lam JT, Kondo R, Gutiérrez JCP, Reddy S, et al. Myotonic dystrophy protein kinase phosphorylates phospholamban and regulates calcium uptake in cardiomyocyte sarcoplasmic reticulum. J Biol Chem [Internet]. 2005 Mar 4 [cited 2020 Jul 7];280(9):8016-21. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15598648/
- 173. Murányi A, Zhang R, Liu F, Hirano K, Ito M, Epstein HF, et al. Myotonic dystrophy protein kinase phosphorylates the myosin phosphatase targeting subunit and inhibits myosin phosphatase activity. FEBS Lett [Internet]. 2001 Mar 30 [cited 2020 Jul 7];493(2-3):80-4. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/11287000/
- 174. Canicio J, Ruiz-Lozano P, Carrasco M, Palacín M, Chien K, Zorzano A, et al. Nuclear Factor κB-inducing Kinase and IκB Kinase-α Signal Skeletal Muscle Cell Differentiation. J Biol Chem [Internet]. 2001 Jun 8 [cited 2020 Jul 7];276(23):20228-33. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/11279241/
- 175. Carrasco M, Canicio J, Palacín M, Zorzano A, Kaliman P. Identification of intracellular signaling pathways that induce myotonic dystrophy protein kinase expression during myogenesis. Endocrinology [Internet]. 2002 [cited 2020 Jul 7];143(8):3017-25. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12130568/

- 176. Groenen PJTA, Wansink DG, Coerwinkel M, Van Den Broek W, Jansen G, Wieringa B. Constitutive and regulated modes of splicing produce six major myotonic dystrophy protein kinase (DMPK) isoforms with distinct properties. Vol. 9, Human Molecular Genetics. 2000.
- 177. Sarkar PS, Han J, Reddy S. In situ hybridization analysis of Dmpk mRNA in adult mouse tissues. Neuromuscul Disord [Internet]. 2004 Sep [cited 2020 Jul 7];14(8-9):497-506. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15336691/
- 178. Lam LT, Pham YCN, Thi Man N, Morris GE. Characterization of a monoclonal antibody panel shows that the myotonic dystrophy protein kinase, DMPK, is expressed almost exclusively in muscle and heart. Vol. 9, Human Molecular Genetics. 2000.
- 179. Gennarelli M, Lucarelli M, Zelano G, Pizzuti A, Novelli G, Dallapiccola B. Different expression of the myotonin protein kinase gene in discrete areas of human brain. Biochem Biophys Res Commun [Internet]. 1995 [cited 2020 Jul 2];216(2):489-94. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/7488138/
- 180. Jansen G, Groenen PJ, Bächner D, Jap PH, Coerwinkel M, Oerlemans F, et al. Abnormal myotonic dystrophy protein kinase levels produce only mild myopathy in mice. Nat Genet. 1996;13(3):316-24.
- Berul CI, Maguire CT, Gehrmann J, Reddy S. Progressive atrioventricular conduction block in a mouse myotonic dystrophy model. J Interv Card Electrophysiol. 2000;4(2):351-8.
- 182. Reddy S, Smith DBJ, Rich MM, Leferovich JM, Reilly P, Davis BM, et al. Mice lacking the myotonic dystrophy protein kinase develop a late onset progressive myopathy. Nat Genet [Internet]. 1996 Jul [cited 2020 Jul 7];13(3):325-35. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/8673132/
- 183. Carrell ST, Carrell EM, Auerbach D, Pandey SK, Bennett CF. Dmpk gene deletion or antisense knockdown does not compromise cardiac or skeletal muscle function in mice. Hum Mol Genet. 2016;
- 184. Bhagwati S, Ghatpande A, Leung B. Normal levels of DM RNA and myotonin protein kinase in skeletal muscle from adult myotonic dystrophy (DM) patients.

Biochim Biophys Acta - Mol Basis Dis. 1996 Dec 16;1317(3):155-7.

- 185. Hélène Hofmann-Radvanyi, Christian Lavedan, Jean-Pierre Rabès, Daniel Savoy, Chantal Duros, Keith Johnson CJ. Myotonic dystrophy: absence of CTG enlarged transcript in congenital forms, and low expression of the normal allele. Hum Mol Genet [Internet]. 1993 [cited 2020 Jul 7]; Available from: https://academic.oup.com/hmg/articleabstract/2/8/1263/746136?redirectedFrom=fulltext
- 186. Fu YH, Friedman DL, Richards S, Pearlman JA, Gibbs RA, Pizzuti A, et al. Decreased expression of myotonin-protein kinase messenger RNA and protein in adult form of myotonic dystrophy. Science (80-). 1993;260(5105):235-8.
- 187. Koga R, Nakao Y, Kurano Y, Tsukahara T, Nakamura A, Ishiura S, et al. Decreased Myotonin-Protein Kinase in the Skeletal and Cardiac Muscles in Myotonic Dystrophy. Biochem Biophys Res Commun [Internet]. 1994 [cited 2020 Jul 7];202(1):577-85. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/7518680/
- 188. Maeda M, Taft CS, Bush EW, Holder E, Bailey WM, Neville H, et al. Identification, tissue-specific expression, and subcellular localization of the 80and 71-kDa forms of myotonic dystrophy kinase protein. J Biol Chem [Internet]. 1995 [cited 2020 Jul 7];270(35):20246-9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/7657592/
- 189. Salvatori S, Fanin M, Trevisan CP, Furlan S, Reddy S, Nagy JI, et al. Decreased expression of DMPK: Correlation with CTG repeat expansion and fibre type composition in myotonic dystrophy type 1. Neurol Sci [Internet]. 2005 Oct [cited 2020 Jul 7];26(4):235-42. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16193250/
- 190. Mankodi a, Logigian E, Callahan L, McClain C, White R, Henderson D, et al. Myotonic dystrophy in transgenic mice expressing an expanded CUG repeat. Science. 2000;289(5485):1769-73.
- 191. Seznec H. Transgenic mice carrying large human genomic sequences with expanded CTG repeat mimic closely the DM CTG repeat intergenerational

and somatic instability. Hum Mol Genet. 2000 May 1;9(8):1185-94.

- 192. Gomes-Pereira M, Foiry L, Nicole A, Huguet A, Junien C, Munnich A, et al. CTG Trinucleotide Repeat "Big Jumps": Large Expansions, Small Mice. Orr H, editor. PLoS Genet [Internet]. 2007 Apr 6 [cited 2020 Jul 7];3(4):e52. Available from: https://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.0030052
- Hao M, Akrami K, Wei K, De Diego C, Che N, Ku JH, et al. Muscleblind-like 2 (Mbnl2) -deficient mice as a model for myotonic dystrophy. Dev Dyn. 2008 Feb;237(2):403-10.
- 194. Ho TH, Bundman D, Armstrong DL, Cooper TA. Transgenic mice expressing CUG-BP1 reproduce splicing mis-regulation observed in myotonic dystrophy. Hum Mol Genet. 2005 Jun 1;14(11):1539-47.
- 195. Konieczny P, Selma-Soriano E, Rapisarda AS, Fernandez-Costa JM, Perez-Alonso M, Artero R. Myotonic dystrophy: candidate small molecule therapeutics. Vol. 22, Drug Discovery Today. Elsevier Ltd; 2017. p. 1740-8.
- 196. Lee JE, Bennett CF, Cooper TA. RNase H-mediated degradation of toxic RNA in myotonic dystrophy type 1. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2012.
- 197. Warf MB, Berglund JA. MBNL binds similar RNA structures in the CUG repeats of myotonic dystrophy and its pre-mRNA substrate cardiac troponin T. RNA [Internet]. 2007 Dec [cited 2020 Jul 8];13(12):2238-51. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC2080590/?report=abstract
- 198. Kim S-H, Cai L, Pytlos MJ, Edwards SF, Sinden RR. Generation of long tracts of disease-associated DNA repeats. Biotechniques [Internet]. 2005 Feb [cited 2020 Jul 8];38(2):247-53. Available from: https://www.futurescience.com/doi/10.2144/05382RR01
- 199. Fardaei M, Rogers MT, Thorpe HM, Larkin K, Hamshere MG, Harper PS, et al. Three proteins, MBNL, MBLL and MBXL, co-localize in vivo with nuclear foci of expanded-repeat transcripts in DM1 and DM2 cells. Hum Mol Genet. 2002 Apr 1;11(7):805-14.
- 200. Buj-Bello A, Furling D, Lè Ne Tronchè Re H, Laporte J, Lerouge T, Butler-

Browne GS, et al. Muscle-specific alternative splicing of myotubularin-related 1 gene is impaired in DM1 muscle cells. Hum Mol Genet [Internet]. 2002 [cited 2020 Jul 8]; Available from: https://academic.oup.com/hmg/articleabstract/11/19/2297/2355551

- 201. Denis JA, Gauthier M, Rachdi L, Aubert S, Giraud-Triboult K, Poydenot P, et al. mTOR-dependent proliferation defect in human ES-derived neural stem cells affected by myotonic dystrophy type 1. J Cell Sci [Internet]. 2013 Apr 15 [cited 2020 Jul 8];126(8):1763-72. Available from: https://jcs.biologists.org/content/126/8/1763
- 202. Gao Y, Guo X, Santostefano K, Wang Y, Reid T, Zeng D, et al. Genome Therapy of Myotonic Dystrophy Type 1 iPS Cells for Development of Autologous Stem Cell Therapy. Mol Ther [Internet]. 2016 Aug 1 [cited 2020 Jul 8];24(8):1378-87. Available from: www.moleculartherapy.org
- 203. Marteyn A, Maury Y, Gauthier MM, Lecuyer C, Vernet R, Denis JA, et al. Mutant human embryonic stem cells reveal neurite and synapse formation defects in type 1 myotonic dystrophy. Cell Stem Cell [Internet]. 2011 Apr 8 [cited 2020 Jul 8];8(4):434-44. Available from: http://www.cell.com/article/S1934590911000555/fulltext
- 204. Arandel L, Espinoza MP, Matloka M, Bazinet A, De Dea Diniz D, Naouar N, et al. Immortalized human myotonic dystrophy muscle cell lines to assess therapeutic compounds. DMM Dis Model Mech [Internet]. 2017 Apr 1 [cited 2020 Jul 8];10(4):487-97. Available from: https://dmm.biologists.org/content/10/4/487
- 205. Renna LV, Bosè F, Iachettini S, Fossati B, Saraceno L, Milani V, et al. Receptor and post-receptor abnormalities contribute to insulin resistance in myotonic dystrophy type 1 and type 2 skeletal muscle. Mouly V, editor. PLoS One [Internet]. 2017 Sep 15 [cited 2020 Jul 8];12(9):e0184987. Available from: https://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0184987
- 206. Larsen J, Pettersson OJ, Jakobsen M, Thomsen R, Pedersen CB, Hertz JM, et al. Myoblasts generated by lentiviral mediated MyoD transduction of myotonic dystrophy type 1 (DM1) fibroblasts can be used for assays of therapeutic molecules. BMC Res Notes [Internet]. 2011 Dec 11 [cited 2020 Jul 8];4(1):490.

Available from:

https://bmcresnotes.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1756-0500-4-490

- 207. Pantic B, Borgia D, Giunco S, Malena A, Kiyono T, Salvatori S, et al. Reliable and versatile immortal muscle cell models from healthy and myotonic dystrophy type 1 primary human myoblasts. Exp Cell Res. 2016 Mar 1;342(1):39-51.
- 208. Coonrod LA, Nakamori M, Wang W, Carrell S, Hilton CL, Bodner MJ, et al. Reducing levels of toxic RNA with small molecules. ACS Chem Biol [Internet].
 2013 Nov 15 [cited 2020 Jul 16];8(11):2528-37. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC4108295/?report=abstract
- 209. Siboni RB, Nakamori M, Wagner SD, Struck AJ, Coonrod LA, Harriott SA, et al. Actinomycin D Specifically Reduces Expanded CUG Repeat RNA in Myotonic Dystrophy Models. Cell Rep [Internet]. 2015 Dec 22 [cited 2020 Jul 16];13(11):2386-94. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC4691565/?report=abstract
- 210. Wheeler TM, Leger AJ, Pandey SK, MacLeod a. R, Nakamori M, Cheng SH, et al. Targeting nuclear RNA for in vivo correction of myotonic dystrophy. Nature [Internet]. 2012;488(7409):111-5. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nature11362
- 211. Langlois MA, Boniface C, Wang G, Alluin J, Salvaterra PM, Puymirat J, et al. Cytoplasmic and nuclear retained DMPK mRNAs are targets for RNA interference in myotonic dystrophy cells. J Biol Chem [Internet]. 2005 Apr 29 [cited 2020 Jul 16];280(17):16949-54. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15722335/
- 212. Wojtkowiak-Szlachcic a., Taylor K, Stepniak-Konieczna E, Sznajder LJ, Mykowska a., Sroka J, et al. Short antisense-locked nucleic acids (all-LNAs) correct alternative splicing abnormalities in myotonic dystrophy. Nucleic Acids Res [Internet]. 2015;43(6):3318-31. Available from: http://nar.oxfordjournals.org/lookup/doi/10.1093/nar/gkv163
- 213. Nakamori M, Taylor K, Mochizuki H, Sobczak K, Takahashi MP. Oral administration of erythromycin decreases RNA toxicity in myotonic dystrophy.

Ann Clin Transl Neurol [Internet]. 2016 Jan 1 [cited 2020 Jul 16];3(1):42-54. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC4704483/?report=abstract

- Siboni RB, Bodner MJ, Khalifa MM, Docter AG, Choi JY, Nakamori M, et al.
 Biological Efficacy and Toxicity of Diamidines in Myotonic Dystrophy Type 1
 Models. J Med Chem [Internet]. 2015 Jun 23 [cited 2020 Jul 16];58(15):5770 80. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC4972181/?report=abstract
- 215. Jones K, Wei C, Iakova P, Bugiardini E, Schneider-Gold C, Meola G, et al. GSK3β mediates muscle pathology in myotonic dystrophy. J Clin Invest [Internet]. 2012 Dec 3 [cited 2020 Jul 16];122(12):4461-72. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC3533547/?report=abstract
- 216. Brockhoff M, Rion N, Chojnowska K, Wiktorowicz T, Eickhorst C, Erne B, et al. Targeting deregulated AMPK/mTORC1 pathways improves muscle function in myotonic dystrophy type i. J Clin Invest [Internet]. 2017 Feb 1 [cited 2020 Jul 16];127(2):549-63. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC5272183/?report=abstract
- 217. Chan JHP, Lim S, Wong WSF. Antisense oligonucleotides: From design to therapeutic application [Internet]. Vol. 33, Clinical and Experimental Pharmacology and Physiology. Blackwell Publishing; 2006 [cited 2020 Jul 17].
 p. 533-40. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16700890/
- 218. Bennett CF, Baker BF, Pham N, Swayze E, Geary RS. Pharmacology of Antisense Drugs. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol [Internet]. 2017 Jan 6 [cited 2020 Jul 17];57(1):81-105. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27732800/
- 219. Kole R, Krainer AR, Altman S. RNA therapeutics: Beyond RNA interference and antisense oligonucleotides [Internet]. Vol. 11, Nature Reviews Drug Discovery. Nat Rev Drug Discov; 2012 [cited 2020 Jul 17]. p. 125-40. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22262036/
- 220. Southwell AL, Skotte NH, Bennett CF, Hayden MR. Antisense oligonucleotide therapeutics for inherited neurodegenerative diseases [Internet]. Vol. 18, Trends in Molecular Medicine. Trends Mol Med; 2012 [cited 2020 Oct 17]. p. 634-43. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23026741/

- 221. www.clinicaltrials.gov [Internet]. Available from: https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/results/NCT02312011
- 222. Drugs@FDA: FDA Approved Drug Products [Internet]. Available from: https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts/cder/daf/
- 223. Bennett CF, Swayze EE. RNA Targeting Therapeutics: Molecular Mechanisms of Antisense Oligonucleotides as a Therapeutic Platform. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol [Internet]. 2010 Feb [cited 2020 Jul 17];50(1):259-93. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20055705/
- 224. Van Deutekom JC, Janson AA, Ginjaar IB, Frankhuizen WS, Aartsma-Rus A, Bremmer-Bout M, et al. Local dystrophin restoration with antisense oligonucleotide PRO051. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 2007 Dec 27 [cited 2020 Jul 17];357(26):2677-86. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18160687/
- 225. Kinali M, Arechavala-Gomeza V, Feng L, Cirak S, Hunt D, Adkin C, et al. Local restoration of dystrophin expression with the morpholino oligomer AVI-4658 in Duchenne muscular dystrophy: a single-blind, placebo-controlled, dose-escalation, proof-of-concept study. Lancet Neurol [Internet]. 2009 [cited 2020 Jul 17];8(10):918-28. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC2755039/?report=abstract
- 226. Hua Y, Sahashi K, Hung G, Rigo F, Passini MA, Bennett CF, et al. Antisense correction of SMN2 splicing in the CNS rescues necrosis in a type III SMA mouse model. Genes Dev [Internet]. 2010 Aug 1 [cited 2020 Jul 17];24(15):1634-44. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC2912561/?report=abstract
- 227. Muntoni F, Wood MJA. Targeting RNA to treat neuromuscular disease [Internet]. Vol. 10, Nature Reviews Drug Discovery. Nat Rev Drug Discov; 2011 [cited 2020 Jul 17]. p. 621-37. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/21804598/
- 228. Raal FJ, Santos RD, Blom DJ, Marais AD, Charng MJ, Cromwell WC, et al. Mipomersen, an apolipoprotein B synthesis inhibitor, for lowering of LDL cholesterol concentrations in patients with homozygous familial

hypercholesterolaemia: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet [Internet]. 2010 [cited 2020 Jul 17];375(9719):998-1006. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20227758/

- 229. Lysik MA, Wu-Pong S. Innovations in oligonucleotide drug delivery [Internet].
 Vol. 92, Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences. John Wiley and Sons Inc.; 2003
 [cited 2020 Jul 17]. p. 1559-73. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12884243/
- 230. Fattal E, Couvreur P, Dubernet C. "Smart" delivery of antisense oligonucleotides by anionic pH-sensitive liposomes. Adv Drug Deliv Rev [Internet]. 2004 Apr 23 [cited 2020 Jul 17];56(7):931-46. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15066753/
- 231. Khan A, Benboubetra M, Sayyed PZ, Ng KW, Fox S, Beck G, et al. Sustained polymeric delivery of gene silencing antisense ODNs, siRNA, DNAzymes and ribozymes: In vitro and in vivo studies. J Drug Target [Internet]. 2004 [cited 2020 Jul 17];12(6):393-404. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15545089/
- 232. Järver P, Langel Ü. The use of cell-penetrating peptides as a tool for gene regulation [Internet]. Vol. 9, Drug Discovery Today. Drug Discov Today; 2004 [cited 2020 Jul 17]. p. 395-402. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15081956/
- Kaihatsu K, Huffman KE, Corey DR. Intracellular uptake and inhibition of gene expression by PNAs and PNA-peptide conjugates. Biochemistry. 2004 Nov 16;43(45):14340-7.
- 234. Jason TLH, Koropatnick J, Berg RW. Toxicology of antisense therapeutics [Internet]. Vol. 201, Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol; 2004 [cited 2020 Jul 17]. p. 66-83. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15519609/
- 235. Mulders SAM, Van Den Broek WJAA, Wheeler TM, Croes HJE, Van Kuik-Romeijn P, De Kimpe SJ, et al. Triplet-repeat oligonucleotide-mediated reversal of RNA toxicity in myotonic dystrophy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A [Internet]. 2009 Aug 18 [cited 2020 Jul 17];106(33):13915-20. Available from:

https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19667189/

- 236. Wheeler TM, Sobczak K, Lueck JD, Osborne RJ, Lin X, Dirksen RT, et al. Reversal of RNA dominance by displacement of protein sequestered on triplet repeat RNA. Science (80-) [Internet]. 2009 Jul 17 [cited 2020 Jul 17];325(5938):336-9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19608921/
- 237. Pandey SK, Wheeler TM, Justice SL, Kim A, Younis HS, Gattis D, et al. Identification and characterization of modified antisense oligonucleotides targeting DMPK in mice and nonhuman primates for the treatment of myotonic dystrophy type 1s. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 2015;355(2):329-40.
- 238. Lima WF, Nichols JG, Wu H, Prakash TP, Migawa MT, Wyrzykiewicz TK, et al. Structural requirements at the catalytic site of the heteroduplex substrate for human RNase H1 catalysis. J Biol Chem [Internet]. 2004 Aug 27 [cited 2020 Jul 17];279(35):36317-26. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15205459/
- 239. Koshkin AA, Singh SK, Nielsen P, Rajwanshi VK, Kumar R, Meldgaard M, et al. LNA (Locked Nucleic Acids): Synthesis of the adenine, cytosine, guanine, 5methylcytosine, thymine and uracil bicyclonucleoside monomers, oligomerisation, and unprecedented nucleic acid recognition. Tetrahedron. 1998 Apr 2;54(14):3607-30.
- 240. Koshkin AA, Rajwanshi VK, Wengel J. Novel convenient syntheses of LNA[2.2.1]bicyclo nucleosides. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998 Jun 11;39(24):4381-4.
- 241. Koshkin AA, Nielsen P, Meldgaard M, Rajwanshi VK, Singh SK, Wengel J. LNA (locked nucleic acid): An RNA mimic forming exceedingly stable LNA:LNA duplexes [3] [Internet]. Vol. 120, Journal of the American Chemical Society. American Chemical Society ; 1998 [cited 2020 Jul 20]. p. 13252-3. Available from: https://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/ja9822862
- 242. Singh SK, Kumar R, Wengel J. Synthesis of Novel Bicyclo[2.2.1] Ribonucleosides: 2'-Amino- and 2'-Thio-LNA Monomeric Nucleosides. J Org Chem [Internet]. 1998 Sep [cited 2020 Jul 20];63(18):6078-9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/11672223/

- 243. Jepsen JS, Sørensen MD, Wengel J. Locked nucleic acid: A potent nucleic acid analog in therapeutics and biotechnology [Internet]. Vol. 14, Oligonucleotides. Oligonucleotides; 2004 [cited 2020 Jul 20]. p. 130-46. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15294076/
- 244. Eric E Swayze, Andrew M Siwkowski, Edward V Wancewicz, Michael T Migawa, Tadeusz K Wyrzykiewicz, Gene Hung, et al. Antisense oligonucleotides containing locked nucleic acid improve potency but cause significant hepatotoxicity in animals. Nucleic Acids Res. 2007;
- 245. Elmén J, Lindow M, Schütz S, Lawrence M, Petri A, Obad S, et al. LNAmediated microRNA silencing in non-human primates. Nature [Internet]. 2008 Apr 17 [cited 2020 Jul 20];452(7189):896-9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18368051/
- 246. Janssen HLA, Reesink HW, Lawitz EJ, Zeuzem S, Rodriguez-Torres M, Patel K, et al. Treatment of HCV infection by targeting microRNA. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2020 Jul 20];368(18):1685-94. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23534542/
- 247. van der Ree MH, de Vree JM, Stelma F, Willemse S, van der Valk M, Rietdijk S, et al. Safety, tolerability, and antiviral effect of RG-101 in patients with chronic hepatitis C: a phase 1B, double-blind, randomised controlled trial. Lancet [Internet]. 2017 Feb 18 [cited 2020 Jul 20];389(10070):709-17. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28087069/
- 248. Van Der Ree MH, Van Der Meer AJ, De Bruijne J, Maan R, Van Vliet A, Welzel TM, et al. Long-term safety and efficacy of microRNA-targeted therapy in chronic hepatitis C patients. Antiviral Res [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2020 Jul 20];111:53-9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25218783/
- 249. Bianchini D, Omlin A, Pezaro C, Lorente D, Ferraldeschi R, Mukherji D, et al. First-in-human Phase i study of EZN-4176, a locked nucleic acid antisense oligonucleotide to exon 4 of the androgen receptor mRNA in patients with castration-resistant prostate cancer. Br J Cancer [Internet]. 2013 Nov 12 [cited 2020 Jul 20];109(10):2579-86. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24169353/

- 250. Kasuya T, Hori SI, Watanabe A, Nakajima M, Gahara Y, Rokushima M, et al. Ribonuclease H1-dependent hepatotoxicity caused by locked nucleic acidmodified gapmer antisense oligonucleotides. Sci Rep [Internet]. 2016 Jul 27 [cited 2020 Jul 20];6. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27461380/
- 251. Miyashita K, Rahman SMA, Seki S, Obika S, Imanishi T. N-Methyl substituted 2',4'-BNANC: A highly nuclease-resistant nucleic acid analogue with highaffinity RNA selective hybridization. Chem Commun [Internet]. 2007 [cited 2020 Jul 20];(36):3765-7. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17851621/
- 252. Rahman SMA, Seki S, Obika S, Yoshikawa H, Miyashita K, Imanishi T. Design, synthesis, and properties of 2',4'-BNANC: A bridged nucleic acid analogue. J Am Chem Soc [Internet]. 2008 Apr 9 [cited 2020 Jul 20];130(14):4886-96. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18341342/
- 253. Fujisaka A, Hari Y, Takuma H, Rahman SMA, Yoshikawa H, Pang J, et al. Effective syntheses of 2',4'-BNA NC monomers bearing adenine, guanine, thymine, and 5-methylcytosine, and the properties of oligonucleotides fully modified with 2',4'-BNA NC. Bioorganic Med Chem [Internet]. 2019 Apr 15 [cited 2020 Jul 20];27(8):1728-41. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30862430/
- 254. Yamamoto T, Harada-Shiba M, Nakatani M, Wada S, Yasuhara H, Narukawa K, et al. Cholesterol-lowering action of BNA-based antisense oligonucleotides targeting PCSK9 in atherogenic diet-induced hypercholesterolemic mice. Mol Ther - Nucleic Acids [Internet]. 2012 [cited 2020 Jul 20];1(5):e22. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23344002/
- 255. Manning KS, Rao AN, Castro M, Cooper TA. BNANC Gapmers Revert Splicing and Reduce RNA Foci with Low Toxicity in Myotonic Dystrophy Cells. ACS Chem Biol. 2017 Oct 20;12(10):2503-9.
- Usdin K, House NCM, Freudenreich CH. Repeat instability during DNA repair: Insights from model systems [Internet]. Vol. 50, Critical Reviews in Biochemistry and Molecular Biology. Informa Healthcare; 2015 [cited 2020 Jul 20]. p. 142-67. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25608779/

- 257. Pearson CE, Edamura KN, Cleary JD. Repeat instability: Mechanisms of dynamic mutations [Internet]. Vol. 6, Nature Reviews Genetics. Nat Rev Genet; 2005 [cited 2020 Jul 20]. p. 729-42. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16205713/
- 258. Dion V. Tissue specificity in DNA repair: Lessons from trinucleotide repeat instability [Internet]. Vol. 30, Trends in Genetics. Elsevier Ltd; 2014 [cited 2020 Jul 20]. p. 220-9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24842550/
- 259. Santoro M, Masciullo M, Silvestri G, Novelli G, Botta A. Myotonic dystrophy type 1: role of CCG, CTC and CGG interruptions within DMPK alleles in the pathogenesis and molecular diagnosis. Clin Genet. 2017;92(4):355-64.
- 260. Gudde AEEG, González-Barriga A, van den Broek WJAA, Wieringa B, Wansink DG. A low absolute number of expanded transcripts is involved in myotonic dystrophy type 1 manifestation in muscle. Hum Mol Genet [Internet]. 2016 Apr 15 [cited 2019 Nov 20];25(8):1648-62. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/hmg/article-lookup/doi/10.1093/hmg/ddw042
- Dansithong W, Wolf CM, Sarkar P, Paul S, Chiang A, Holt I, et al. Cytoplasmic CUG RNA foci are insufficient to elicit key DM1 features. PLoS One. 2008;3(12).
- 262. Kino Y, Washizu C, Oma Y, Onishi H, Nezu Y, Sasagawa N, et al. MBNL and CELF proteins regulate alternative splicing of the skeletal muscle chloride channel CLCN1. Nucleic Acids Res. 2009;37(19):6477-90.
- 263. Klinck R, Fourrier A, Thibault P, Toutant J, Durand M, Lapointe E, et al. RBFOX1 cooperates with MBNL1 to control splicing in muscle, including events altered in myotonic dystrophy type 1. PLoS One. 2014;9(9):18-21.
- 264. Sellier C, Cerro-Herreros E, Blatter M, Freyermuth F, Gaucherot A, Ruffenach F, et al. RbFOX1/MBNL1 competition for CCUG RNA repeats binding contributes to myotonic dystrophy type 1/type 2 differences. Nat Commun [Internet]. 2018;9(1):1-15. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-04370-x
- 265. Coleman SM, Prescott AR, Sleeman JE. Transcriptionally correlated subcellular dynamics of MBNL1 during lens development and their implication for the

molecular pathology of myotonic dystrophy type 1. Biochem J. 2014;458(2):267-80.

- Some of the figures present in this PhD thesis has been made through Biorender.com.

October 2020 Barcelona

